

# **REVIEW OF INTERNATIONAL SYSTEMS** FOR LONG-TERM CARE OF OLDER PEOPLE

**RESEARCH PAPER 2** 

**JANUARY 2020** 

The Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety was established by Letters Patent on 8 October 2018. Replacement Letters Patent were issued on 6 December 2018, and amended on 13 September 2019.

The Honourable Tony Pagone QC and Ms Lynelle Briggs AO have been appointed as Royal Commissioners. They are required to provide a final report by 12 November 2020.

The Royal Commission intends to release consultation, research and background papers. This research paper has been prepared by the Rehabilitation, Aged and Extended Care Group, Flinders University and THEMA Consulting for the information of Commissioners and the public. The views expressed in this paper are not necessarily the views of the Commissioners.

This paper was published on 24 January 2020.

© Commonwealth of Australia 2020

ISBN 978-1-921730-01-6 (online)

With the exception of the Coat of Arms and where otherwise stated, all material presented in this publication is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. For the avoidance of doubt, this means this licence only applies to material as set out in this document.



The details of the relevant licence conditions are available on the Creative Commons website as is the full legal code for the CC BY 4.0 licence <www.creativecommons.org/licenses>.

The terms under which the Coat of Arms can be used are detailed on the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet website <www.dpmc.gov.au/government/commonwealth-coat-arms>.

# Review of International Systems for Long-Term Care of Older People

Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety

November 2019







This report has been prepared by the Rehabilitation, Aged and Extended Care Group, Flinders University and THEMA Consulting for the information of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety and the public. The views expressed in this paper are not necessarily the views of the Commissioners.

#### Suggested citation

Dyer SM, Valeri M, Arora N, Ross T, Winsall M, Tilden D, Crotty M (2019). *Review of International Systems for Long-Term Care of Older People*. Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia.

## Contents

List of figures
List of tables
Abbreviations
Executive summary viii
Background viii
Methods viii
Summary of international LTC systems for older peopleix
Comparison by system typesix
Comparison by quantitative measuresxi
Discussion xiii
1. Introduction1
Purpose1
Country scope1
Structure of the report1
2. Overview of LTC systems for older people
Typologies of LTC provision3
National LTC systems3
LTC providers5
Quality regulation5
Quality assurance6
LTC workforce
3. Methods9
Literature review9
Data sources and limitations9
Definition of long-term care10
Care settings
Care recipients10
Workforce11
Expenditure12
Quality of care indicators13
LTC system typology13

- Country Summaries	17
Nations with developed LTC systems for older people	17
Australia	17
Canada	
Denmark	19
England	20
Germany	21
Japan	22
Republic of Korea	23
The Netherlands	23
New Zealand	24
Poland	25
Russia	26
Singapore	26
Sweden	28
Switzerland	28
United States	29
Nations with minimally developed LTC systems for older people	
Vietnam	
Indonesia	31
Central and South America	32
Central and South America Sub-Saharan Africa	-
Sub-Saharan Africa	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights 5. Comparisons of quantitative measures	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights <b>5. Comparisons of quantitative measures.</b> Demographics of the older population	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights <b>5. Comparisons of quantitative measures.</b> Demographics of the older population Recipients of long-term care	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights <b>5. Comparisons of quantitative measures.</b> Demographics of the older population Recipients of long-term care Formal care	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights <b>5. Comparisons of quantitative measures.</b> Demographics of the older population Recipients of long-term care Formal care Informal care	
Sub-Saharan Africa Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment Human rights <b>5. Comparisons of quantitative measures</b> Demographics of the older population Recipients of long-term care Formal care Informal care Expenditure	

Interpretation of LTC workforce data	50
Quality of care indicators	51
6. Typology results	55
Financing and organisation	55
Regulation for quality assurance	62
7. Alternative approaches to financing and delivery	64
Support for informal care	64
Extended leave	65
Financial support: Cash for care and personal budgets	65
Training for informal carers	67
Respite services	69
Family-based funding	69
Foster care	69
Institutional care funding	70
Pay-for-performance	71
Workforce	72
Asset testing	72
LTC insurance	72
8. Synthesis	75
Financing and organisation of LTC for older people	75
Quality regulation	77
International examples of good LTC for older people	78
9. Opportunities for change	79
References	81
Appendix 1: Contributors to this report	96
Acknowledgements	96
Appendix 2: Detailed typology tables	97
Appendix 3: Additional tables and figures of quantitative comparisons	106
Additional expenditure data	
Additional figures on LTC workforce	
Appendix 4: Quality of care indicators	

## List of figures

igure 1. Categorisation of LTC systems of 14 countries according to financing, regulation and			
access	x		
Figure 2. Percentage of population aged 80 and over living in institutions	xii		
Figure 3. Proportion of people aged 65 years and over, and 80 years and over	38		
Figure 4. Percentage aged 80 years and over against GDP per capita (current USA\$, 2016)	39		
Figure 5. Percentage of population receiving LTC (2016)			
Figure 6. Percentage of LTC recipients in an institution (2016)	41		
Figure 7. Percentage of LTC recipients at home (2016)	41		
Figure 8. Percentage of older population receiving LTC in institutions	42		
Figure 9. Percentage of people aged 65 years and over receiving informal care (2016)	43		
Figure 10. Expenditure on LTC for older people as a percentage of GDP (2015)	44		
Figure 11. LTC government expenditure (2015, %GDP) versus age dependency ratio	45		
Figure 12. Government expenditure on LTC against LTC recipients (80 years and over)	46		
Figure 13. Number of formal LTC workers with respect to total population, institutional settings	47		
Figure 14. Number of nurses working in LTC with respect to number of recipients of LTC,			
institutional settings	48		
Figure 15. Number of formal LTC workers with respect to number of recipients of LTC, home			
care settings	49		
Figure 16. Number of nurses working in LTC with respect to number of recipients of LTC, home			
care settings	50		
Figure 17. Number of people per 1000, aged 65 years or over with at least one prescription for			
antipsychotics, 2015 (or nearest year)	52		
Figure 18. Emotional distress in those 65 years and over			
Figure 19. Countries with lowest access and highest reliance on consumer spending			
Figure 20. Countries with lowest access and mid-level reliance on consumer spending			
Figure 21. Countries with highest access, but with reliance on consumer spending			
Figure 22. Highest-performing countries			
Figure 23. Categorisation of LTC systems of 14 countries according to financing, regulation and			
access	62		
Figure 24. Percentage of population aged 80 and over living in institutions	75		
Figure 25. Proportion of people 80 years and over, 2000–2017	106		
Figure 26. GDP per capita versus age dependency ratio			
Figure 27. Government expenditure on LTC for older people against LTC recipients (all ages)	108		
Figure 28. Government expenditure on LTC for older people against LTC recipients (65 years and			
over)	109		
Figure 29. Number of full-time equivalent formal LTC workers with respect to number of			
recipients of LTC, institutional settings	110		
Figure 30. Number of full-time-equivalent formal LTC workers with respect to number of			
recipients of LTC, home care settings	111		

## List of tables

Table 1. Categorisation and coding of typology variables for international LTC systems for older	
people	16
Table 2. Typology for international LTC for older people financing and organisation; typology	
score reflects consumer friendliness: 1 = lowest, 3 = highest	57
Table 3. Regulation of quality in international aged care systems	63
Table 4. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations A to J	98
Table 5. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations K to P	101
Table 6. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations Q to U	103
Table 7. Prevalence of antipsychotic use	112
Table 8. Falls prevalence	114
Table 9. Pressure ulcer prevalence	115
Table 10. Quality of life and emotional distress	116

## Abbreviations

ACAT	Aged Care Assessment Team
ADLs	Activities of Daily Living (e.g. eating, washing, dressing)
ANCIEN	Assessing Needs of Care in European Nations
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
ATSI	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
CHSP	Commonwealth Home Support Program
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
DHB	District Health Boards
FTE	Full-Time-Equivalent
GDP	Gross domestic product
GHED	Global Health Expenditure Database
HC	Home care
НСР	Home care package
HNC	Home nursing care
IADLs	Instrumental activities of daily living (e.g. shopping, cleaning, cooking, taking medications, managing finances)
IC	Institutional care
ISCO	International Standard Classification of Occupations
LTC	
LIC	Long-term care
NGO	Non-government organisation
	-
NGO	Non-government organisation
NGO NHIC	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation
NGO NHIC NHMRC	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD OOP	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Out-of-pocket
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD OOP P4P	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Out-of-pocket Pay-for-performance
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD OOP P4P RAI	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Out-of-pocket Pay-for-performance Resident Assessment Instrument
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD OOP P4P RAI ROK	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Out-of-pocket Pay-for-performance Resident Assessment Instrument Republic of Korea
NGO NHIC NHMRC NHS OECD OOP P4P RAI ROK ROSA	Non-government organisation National Health Insurance Corporation National Health and Medical Research Council National Health Service Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Out-of-pocket Pay-for-performance Resident Assessment Instrument Republic of Korea Registry of Senior Australians

## **Executive summary**

## Background

The quality of life of older people is significantly affected by the way in which long-term care (LTC) is provided. This presents a challenge to governments to find ways to finance and regulate LTC to provide accessible and high-quality services. This review of international approaches to the provision of LTC has been conducted by Flinders University for the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. The aim of this review is to provide learnings for the aged care system in Australia and to situate the Australian aged care system within the appropriate global context.

### **Methods**

Countries representing major regions worldwide that were reviewed were: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Denmark, Germany, Indonesia, Japan, Republic of Korea, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Poland, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, UK (England), United States of America (USA) and Vietnam. Literature reviews were undertaken to identify information on aged care typologies, financing, organisation, standards, workforce, quality and regulation. Key attributes were compared using data from international databases and reports from organisations such as the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), World Bank and World Health Organization (WHO); most figures reflect 2016 data. Differences in the definitions and methodologies used in the primary data sources may affect comparability across countries and the primary sources for these data have not been verified; thus these limitations should be considered when interpreting the empirical results.

Expenditure in terms of percentage of gross domestic product (GDP) was determined from OECD data as the health component of LTC expenditure (not limited to aged care) plus old age social expenditure as benefits in kind. This approach best represents Australia's aged care expenditure; however, it does not capture expenditure as cash benefits<sup>i</sup> and thus may underestimate expenditure of some other nations (e.g. Germany).

LTC systems for older people were summarised qualitatively. In addition, a typology derived from Kraus's (2010) typology of LTC systems in Europe was used to compare their financing, regulation and access. This typology considers the following seven characteristics: meanstested access, entitlement to LTC, availability of cash benefits, choice of provider, quality assurance, quality coordination between LTC and other services, and cost sharing [1]. These characteristics were scored to reflect an assumed "consumer friendliness", with a score of 1 reflecting a system that is least preferred by consumers and a score of 3 reflecting a system that is most preferred. The scoring was based on subjective interpretations, which should be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> OECD.Stat data does not allow for separation of social expenditure as cash benefits on old age LTC separately from other allowances such as pensioner concessions.

considered when interpreting the results. Radar plots were used to summarise the typology scores and countries were grouped according to similar patterns.

The regulation of the quality of LTC in these countries was categorised using a framework proposed by Mor et al. [2]. This framework categorises regulatory approaches as predominantly inspection-based, professionalism-based or data measurement/public reporting systems. The governance of quality regulation was categorised as predominantly centralised or decentralised and whether there are single or multiple organisations responsible for the regulation of quality.

### Summary of international LTC systems for older people

#### Comparison by system types

Low-to-middle income nations examined from South-East Asia, Central America and Sub-Saharan Africa have a lower proportion of older people and a much lower GDP per capita than Australia. These countries have comparatively undeveloped LTC systems and a heavily reliance on informal care, funded primarily by families out-of-pocket. In some countries, legislation states that families are responsible for providing LTC for older people. Government-funded LTC is often only available for those who are impoverished and without family.

In contrast, in Russia the constitution guarantees social support for all citizens. The most frequently used services are home care services. Adult children have the responsibility for caring for disabled parents and are obliged to cover additional costs. Foster families can be contracted to provide social services to older people living alone needing nursing care.

The remaining nations with developed LTC systems for older people were considered to belong to one of four general groups of financing and organisation according to analysis of the typology scores (Figure 1).





Poland, Singapore and the USA had the lowest levels of access based on means testing and the highest reliance on consumer spending (cost sharing, mostly through out-of-pocket costs by care recipients) in both home and residential care. In these nations care recipients can choose providers and have an entitlement to care. Government expenditure is comparatively low at approximately 0.5% of GDP (Poland 0.4% and USA 0.6%; data not available for Singapore).

England and Canada were considered to have the lowest level of access but only a mid-level reliance on consumer spending; they limit access to publicly funded care with means testing and have limits on entitlement to care based on the available LTC budget. This group of countries spend an estimated 1.4% of their GDP on LTC for older people, although this may not capture expenditure provided as cash benefits.

Half of the countries considered, including Australia, fell into a category which had the highest scores in terms of access, and mid- to high-level reliance on consumer spending. Recipients in this group of countries have entitlement to care where access to services is not constrained by national/regional LTC budgets, is not means tested and consumers can choose the

provider. Despite the high levels of access to care, these countries still rely on consumer spending through cost sharing for services (i.e. co-payments). On average, this group of countries spend 2.5% of GDP on LTC for older people. Australia's expenditure is estimated at 1.2% of GDP.

Australia scored less well on the quality of integration of care with other services than many other countries in this group. Australia scored only two for quality of coordination of LTC with other services including health, whereas many other nations, including New Zealand, Switzerland, Sweden and Japan, scored three for coordination.

Using this approach, Germany and Denmark scored the highest. Their LTC systems for older people provide consumers with the highest levels of access, lowest cost sharing and a high level of quality regulation and integration with other services including health. On average, these two countries have the highest government expenditure of 2.8% of GDP. This is largely skewed towards Denmark's high spend of 4.3% of GDP; however, Germany's LTC spend of 1.2% is likely to be an underestimate due to their use of cash benefits which is not captured in this analysis.

The main approaches to regulating quality were:

- Inspection-based, which was seen in Australia, Denmark, the Netherlands, Singapore and England. In these countries the responsibility for regulation remained primarily with government.
- Data measurement and public reporting, which was the predominant approach in Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, the USA and the Republic of Korea.
- A professionalism-based approach, which was used in Japan, Germany and Switzerland. In these countries there is a focus on professional organisations, particularly health professions, setting quality standards and self-regulation.

There were no obvious associations between the regulatory approaches and the financing and organisation typologies.

The majority of countries analysed have a decentralised responsibility for quality regulation, with multiple players responsible for regulating quality. Australia predominantly has a single, central level of responsibility for regulating the quality of LTC for older people. This is in particular contrast to countries with professionalism-based quality regulation systems, all of which have multiple levels of responsibility and decentralised regulatory responsibilities.

#### *Comparison by quantitative measures*

Amongst nations with developed LTC systems and generally similar demographic profiles (e.g. Germany, Australia, USA, the Netherlands), there is little relationship between government expenditure on LTC and the national age dependency ratio. In general, countries with a high use of LTC also have high expenditure. Japan has a noticeably high expenditure for the size of the LTC population, and Switzerland a noticeably low expenditure for the number of LTC

recipients. Based on OECD data, Australia was found to have the highest proportion of people aged over 80 receiving residential LTC in comparison to 11 other countries (Figure 2). Australia also appears to have a higher number of informal carers than other OECD countries with similar age structures.





Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from OECD.Stat <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT</u>. Note: It is unclear whether or not care recipients in skilled nursing facilities in the USA are included in these data.

These is some uncertainty about the comparability of national workforce data as agency and other indirectly employed staff may not be captured; nevertheless, some observations can be made. When national levels of nursing staff for LTC in any setting are considered, Switzerland, Germany and the USA appear to have higher levels of relative staffing than Australia. When considering LTC provided in institutions, Australia appears to have overall total staffing levels and nurse workforce at the lower end of the range internationally. Australia may also have lower levels of total staffing and nurses than the USA, Germany and Switzerland in institutional settings. The number of nurses employed in home care settings in Australia may also be low in comparison to many other nations, including the USA. These data suggest further investigation of staffing levels in Australian LTC is warranted.

Attempts at comparing quality of care indicators between nations were hampered by the lack of comparable publicly available measures of antipsychotic use, falls, pressure ulcers and quality of care data. Nevertheless, based on available data, the proportion of Australians aged over 65 with a prescription of antipsychotics appeared in the mid-range when compared to six other countries. A Commonwealth Fund survey of older people from 11 countries indicated that the proportion of respondents aged over 65 experiencing emotional distress was highest for Australia and lowest for Sweden. Australian respondents with high needs also reported the highest rates of dissatisfaction with the quality of health care and second highest levels of economic difficulties in accessing health care, behind the USA.

#### Discussion

Based on the typology analysis of LTC and qualitative comparisons from the literature review, in the authors' view, **Denmark** and **Sweden** are likely to have high-quality LTC-systems. Both countries have tax-based universal comprehensive coverage for LTC with a high expenditure of more than 4% of GDP on LTC for older people (2% of GDP spent on long-term social care for the aged<sup>ii</sup>). Both countries fund LTC through local authorities with federal grants and local taxes, have high coverage for LTC and have a focus on providing LTC in people's homes. Sweden has a comparatively light regulatory approach but encourages professionalism and the use of clinical quality registers. These registers (e.g. dementia registers) link administrative data, allow benchmarking and facilitate transparency.

Australia's demographic profile and GDP per capita is roughly similar to that of Sweden and Denmark, with a slightly lower proportion of the population aged over 80 and slightly lower GDP per capita. Australia's expenditure on LTC is lower than that of the Scandinavian nations as well as Japan and the Netherlands and roughly similar to that of the UK and Canada. Australia appears to have moderate levels of LTC coverage and to be a high user of institutional LTC for older people in comparison to other nations.

It was difficult to make international comparisons of the quality of integration of LTC systems with the health system. However, there is a suggestion that the coordination between the health and social care systems may not be as well developed in Australia as in similar nations. For example, Australia had the highest proportion of older people with high-level needs who reported dissatisfaction with the quality of health care in the Commonwealth Fund survey mentioned above.

Opportunities for change in the Australian LTC system for older people include:

- Increasing support for home-based care and informal carers, such as through increased availability of high-level home care packages and more generous leave provisions and financial assistance for informal carers.
- Increased involvement of local or regional authorities (decentralisation) in the regulation and monitoring of LTC services.
- Increased professionalism of the workforce, for example mandatory training or registration of LTC workers.
- Increased transparency in staffing levels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ii</sup> OECD data on public social expenditure (i.e. excluding health LTC expenditure) on benefits in kind in old age programs.

- Mandatory reporting and public availability of quality of care indicators. Use of standardised assessments such as the InterRAI or Australian clinical quality registers, which are independent of the provision of LTC, could be further leveraged to provide publicly reported indicators.
- Better integration with the healthcare system to improve the management of chronic diseases including dementia. Aged Care Assessment Team (ACAT) assessments provide an opportunity for early intervention to reduce the development of additional health problems.
- A stronger focus on rehabilitation and maintaining function to delay and avoid disability.
- Incorporation of principles of human rights into the aged care standards.

## **1. Introduction**

### Purpose

As the proportion of older people in the population grows, many nations will have an increased need for long-term care (LTC) [3-5]. Projections of the likely future prevalence of dementia indicate that countries also need to be prepared to provide supportive services for a large number of people living with dementia [3-5]. It will be an increasing challenge for governments to finance and regulate LTC to provide accessible and high-quality services [4]. Meeting this challenge is important to the quality of life of older people as this is significantly affected by the way in which LTC is provided.

This review examines international approaches to the provision of LTC to provide learnings for the aged care system in Australia.

### **Country scope**

A list of countries included in the review was developed in consultation with experts and with input from representatives from the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. Countries were selected based on the availability of information, applicability to the Australian aged care system, and to ensure a diverse range of countries were represented. The following list of countries from major regions worldwide was agreed upon: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Denmark, Germany, Indonesia, Japan, Republic of Korea, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Poland, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, UK (England), United States of America (USA) and Vietnam.

#### Structure of the report

The report is structured as follows.

- Chapter 2 gives an overview of the types of aged care systems found internationally according to the academic literature.
- Chapter 3 summarises the methods used in this review to investigate the selected countries: the approach to literature searching, data sources and their limitations, and the typology used.
- Chapter 4 describes the key features of the LTC systems for older people in the selected countries, including funding, providers, access, standards for LTC workers, quality regulation and quality assurance. These features are also summarised in tabular form in Appendix 2.
- Chapter 5 examines the national LTC systems using publicly available data including demographics, recipients of LTC, LTC expenditure, the LTC workforce and quality of care indicators.

- Chapter 6 presents the results of applying the typologies to the selected countries. This distils key features, making their similarities and differences more apparent.
- Chapter 7 summarises key alternative approaches to the financing and organisation of aged care systems internationally.

Finally, the report discusses key issues raised within the review in Chapter 8 and presents opportunities for change in the Australian aged care system in Chapter 9.

## 2. Overview of LTC systems for older people

## **Typologies of LTC provision**

A review of the literature identified several approaches to organising aged care systems into similar groupings or typologies. These include typologies for the financing of aged care, the regulation of quality of aged care, and for grouping of providers of aged care in both residential and home care settings.

#### National LTC systems

Based on the Assessing Needs of Care in European Nations (ANCIEN) study in 2010 by Kraus et al., the European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes developed a typology predominantly characterising the funding of aged care, but also capturing the provision/organisation of care [1]. The ANCIEN study collected data on national LTC systems through partner institutes from European Union nations. The approach includes a quantitative scoring system to assign a "patient friendliness" score, i.e. a consumer-preferred rating of the country's LTC system. This typology assigns scores for the level of means-tested access, entitlement, availability of cash benefits, choice of providers, quality assurance, integration of care, cost sharing and public expenditure as a share of GDP.

The scoring system allowed Kraus et al. to conduct a formal cluster analysis, which demonstrated that participating countries' LTC systems fell into four clusters: (a) informal care with low private financing, (b) generous financing, high access and formal, (c) informal care and high private financing, and (d) high private financing and formal care [1]. They concluded that Western European nations tended to have a greater degree of "patient friendliness", i.e. more characteristics that would be preferred by care recipients and in general a higher GDP spend on LTC.

The cluster analysis was based on organisational depth which reflects components of the aged care system such as care accessibility and freedom of choice for consumers. Interestingly, both Western and some Eastern European nations had high organisational depth, despite a wide variation in LTC expenditure. The cluster of countries with "profound organisational depth and a high level of financial generosity" was also found to have the highest consumer-friendliness score (e.g. Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands). The authors indicated that countries with moderate organisational depth and moderate financial generosity (e.g. England, Finland) would most likely be preferred by care recipients over those with profound organisational depth but low financial generosity (e.g. Bulgaria, Czech Republic) as a lack of public funding can lead to less choice for older people with low incomes. A cluster analysis incorporating Australia into this approach identified Australia as belonging to the cluster with moderate financial generosity and organisational depth [6].

A second analysis in the same study, based on LTC use and financing, found Australia to sit in a cluster of "diverse" nations, with low spending, high informal care use and support, and low

private expenditure [6]. This cluster also included England. Other clusters included a Scandinavian-focused cluster of nations with a highly developed and generous LTC system with low private expenditure (including Sweden, the Netherlands and Denmark) [1]. The remaining clusters had no clear geographical pattern and included a cluster with medium financing and high informal care and support with low private expenditure (including Germany and the Czech Republic) and a final cluster with low public expenditure, high informal care and high private financing (including Italy).

A more recent typology of financing of LTC has been proposed in a report from the World Bank [7]. Four types of national financing systems are described: social insurance models (generally financed by compulsory contributions, i.e. payroll tax, including the Netherlands, Germany, Japan and the Republic of Korea), the universal model (tax-based universal public LTC coverage including the Scandinavian countries of Denmark, Finland and Sweden), meanstested systems (where tax-based coverage is dependent on eligibility thresholds, including the UK and USA), and hybrid systems and approaches (a mix of the features of other approaches, including France).

An earlier report in 2011 by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) described three broad country clusters based on the scope of entitlement to LTC and the system for providing LTC coverage: (a) countries with universal coverage within a single program (i.e. via social LTC insurance, through the health system or tax-based) in nations including Sweden, Denmark, Finland, Japan, Korea, Germany, the Netherlands and Australia, (b) mixed systems (Czech Republic, France, New Zealand and the UK) or (c) means-tested safety-net schemes (the USA) [8]. The authors suggested that universal coverage systems generally provide good access to LTC for both home and institutional care but cost a larger portion of GDP and that family carers often provide less intensive care in these countries.

In 2010, de Raoit and le Bihan proposed a typology based on the role of cash-for-care (providing allowances instead of services) in a country's LTC system as well as the view of informal care, based on six European countries [9]. They suggested that there are three models: a social service model (e.g. Sweden and the Netherlands), a highly regulated cash-for-care scheme (e.g. France) and a little-regulated cash-for-care system (e.g. Germany).

A recent cluster analysis by Halaskova and colleagues in the Czech Republic on 13 OECD countries concluded that Australia, along with Korea, spends a low proportion of GDP on LTC but is a high user of institutional LTC, with a high proportion of LTC funds spent on institutional care [10]. However, this analysis was based on OECD data which only captured the health component of LTC expenditure and thus did not fully capture Australia's LTC expenditure. A second cluster (including the Czech Republic and Hungary) was characterised by a low LTC expenditure as a proportion of GDP, high expenditure on institutional LTC but low coverage. The cluster comprising mainly Nordic countries (including Denmark and Finland) had the highest number of LTC recipients, high LTC expenditure and the lowest proportion of LTC expenditure allocated to institutional care [10].

#### LTC providers

Typologies also exist which categorise aged care or LTC providers. A 2018 typology for the quality orientation of residential aged care providers characterised them as either organisation-focused, consumer-directed or relationship-centred [11]. **Organisation-focused providers** are described as those that have an internal quality focus, consider care as a process and have a task-oriented approach. The resident is dependent on the care worker, there is a focus on safety and buildings are "hospital-like". **Consumer-directed providers** have a focus on consumer preferences and choice, and perceive care as a service with an individual, consumer-centred approach. There is a focus on consumer rights and choice, and buildings are generally hotel-like. In contrast, **relationship-centred providers** are described as having a focus on the quality of life of residents, families and staff, considering care as a relationship and delivering person-centred, relational care. There is a focus on "personhood" and the relationship between the resident and the care worker, and the accommodation is "home-like" [11].

In a recent study, a typology for home care providers was developed based on a literature review of home care policies and surveys of 36 home care providers [12]. A cluster analysis identified home care models based on different levels of patient-centred care delivery, the availability of specialised care professionals and the approach to monitoring of care performance. Policy-level factors did not distinguish between the home care models and thus the providers were not clustered by countries. The authors plan to conduct a further analysis considering the outcomes associated with these models, using information on the health outcomes of home care recipients using interRAI data.

#### Quality regulation

A recognised classification of quality assessment in health care is the Donabedian model [13]. In this model, approaches to assessment of quality in health care are described as structure based, process based or outcomes based. Structure-based assessment is based on resources and organisational structure, for example the facility, equipment and staffing. Process-based assessment focuses on how care is delivered and received, i.e. the staff or patient processes. Outcomes-based assessment focuses on the effects of the service on the patient's health, for example a focus on the patient's functioning. This approach has also been used in describing the regulation of quality within aged care [14, 15].

Government mechanisms to increase quality are also described as "hard" (e.g. inspection and regulations) or "soft" (i.e. relying on market forces and consumer choice and pressure) [11]. Malley and colleagues in a report from the London School of Economics and Political Science categorised regulatory interventions to promote quality in LTC services as being in the form of either (a) directions (e.g. standards, targets, codes of conduct or charters), (b) surveillance (e.g. inspection, audit or review), or (c) rules and powers for enforcement [16]. These approaches may be either implemented in a "top-down" or "bottom-up" fashion or can be implemented through self-regulation [16]. Australia undertakes an approach of "top-down"

inspection-based surveillance, focused until recently on directions regarding process-focused standards with powers to impose sanctions for enforcement. This contrasts with Finland and Japan where inspections are used mostly to investigate complaints; while data on compliance with regulations are collected from auditing or performance reviews [16].

Economic instruments for the promotion of quality in LTC have been categorised as (a) subsidies (e.g. workforce development funds in England), (b) price regulation or payment schemes (e.g. pay-for-performance schemes such as additional reimbursement in Japan for providers exceeding minimum staffing standards in residential care), or (c) public procurement (e.g. tenders for state-funded aged care packages in Australia) [16]. Information-related instruments were categorised as either (a) education and knowledge management, (b) quality management systems and improvement tools, (c) public reporting, or (d) complaints channels [16].

National approaches to the regulation of LTC quality have also been described as professionalism-based, inspection-based, data measurement/public reporting systems or developing [17]. Countries with professionalism-based quality regulation, such as Switzerland and Germany, generally have standards negotiated between multiple parties involved in LTC. There is an emphasis on the role of professional organisations, particularly health professions, in setting quality standards and self-regulation [2]. The professional or provider organisations have most of the responsibility for upholding standards and the governments less responsibility. Countries with inspection-based quality regulation, such as England and Australia, rely on inspections and audits for compliance against standards as the main basis for regulating quality, with the main responsibility residing with government. Data measurement or public reporting as a driver of market forces to maintain quality is seen as the key factor for regulating quality of LTC in other countries such as the USA and Canada. In these countries the main responsibility for regulating quality remains with government.

### **Quality assurance**

In Australia, the vast majority of residential aged care providers meet accreditation standards, with 97% granted an accreditation period of three years or more in 2017–2018 [18]. Implementation of sanctions has been rare [11]. Nevertheless, concerns about quality of care led to a Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety being established [19]. Regulation for quality assurance in LTC is also a challenge internationally [20]. Despite increased publicly available reports, the lack of indicators that report on outcomes rather than structure and process has left consumers with limited information on quality to enable them to discriminate between providers and to inform choice [21].

Increases in regulation often occur in response to scandals or concerns about the quality of aged care; however it has been suggested that the regulation may monitor what is simple to monitor at the expense of quality of care and care relationships [22, 23]. There may be an increasing emphasis on standards and paper work rather than care [24]. Others have

suggested that regulations raise quality to a basic level but not beyond [11]. Some freedom in decision making for care workers may be important in providing quality care and many newer models of care include alternative staffing approaches in an attempt to deliver more person-centred care [25]. Different providers may respond differently to regulation, dependent on their organisational culture and processes [26]. However, increasing regulation may be at the expense of innovation [23, 27-31].

Quality of LTC is often thought of in three categories: effectiveness and care safety, patient centredness/responsiveness and care coordination [32]. Approaches to quality assurance also focus on three areas:

- a) standards for provider participation
- b) monitoring and enforcing compliance
- c) market-based approaches to improving quality (predominantly public reporting but also pay-for-performance).

Different countries emphasise different approaches [2]. Australia, the USA and many OECD countries focus on setting standards for structural input and care processes. Other countries such as Japan have emphasised professionalism in the sector and have set educational and workforce standards as a key quality assurance mechanism. Many countries have created external assessment bodies to oversee quality of care and monitor compliance with minimum standards in residential settings. This contrasts with the delivery of community/home care which is generally less regulated.

While there is a move away from process measures (such as counting staff numbers) internationally towards focusing on the recipients' quality of life and the person centredness of the care approach, operationalising these concepts has been challenging [11]. Some countries such as Sweden have registers that include LTC users and run surveys covering specific topics; for example the Health Quality Council of Alberta has run surveys on elder abuse. Self-assessment reports are used in Australia and Japan. Providers can also self-evaluate using guidelines. In England, consumers are included in the survey process, providing a system of peer review. Canada, the Netherlands, Germany, the UK and the USA have policies encouraging monitoring of LTC user satisfaction and experience, but they are not consistently published. A small number of OECD countries (Germany, Korea, Sweden and the USA) publish reports on LTC which grade performance.

An increasing number of countries are adopting or trialling the use of interRAI instruments in the assessment of quality in aged care (<u>https://www.interrai.org/</u>). InterRAI includes assessments for home care and institutional care developed by researchers from more than 40 countries [33, 34]. These assessments include clinical observations and quality indicators to allow multiple, comparable assessments and adjustment for case mix. Some of these are reported publicly, e.g. in Canada and the USA.

Within Australia some advances are being made in the collection of data on outcome measures. Current research is underway on collection of indicators from Australian residential care providers to enable direct comparisons of Australian data from care facilities with others internationally (the NHMRC-funded CareTrack Aged study). Prospective data on recipients of LTC are being collected in a state-based registry on an opt-out basis in South Australia through the ROSA (Registry of Senior Australians) [35]. Nationally, a register on quality of diagnosis and care for people living with dementia, the Australian Dementia Network Registry (ADNeT), is being established [36]. Some clinical and research groups are using the interRAI assessment, which integrates standardised assessment tools and allows quality assessments and international benchmarking.

### LTC workforce

Internationally, there is debate regarding the value of mandated care recipient-to-staff ratios and of mandates on staff qualifications within these ratios. While it could be argued that staffing levels are a key factor in quality, reviews have found conflicting results, indicating both that higher total staffing levels are associated with improved quality of care [37] and that there is no clear relationship [38]. A systematic review has suggested increasing staff-toresident ratios or additional staff training may offer potential cost savings over time from a societal perspective by reducing healthcare costs [39]. Some nations have mandated recipient-to-staff ratios within institutional care (including the USA, Japan, Canada, Germany, Vietnam and the Republic of Korea) but there is large variation in legislated staffing requirements for residential aged care [40].

While there is an assumption that more staff with higher education backgrounds will ensure better quality of care and quality of life for the residents, there is currently a lack of consistent evidence to confirm or refute this [41]. In Australia, it has been suggested that a skills mix in residential care of 50% nurses (30% registered nurses and 20% enrolled nurses) and 50% personal care assistants is the minimum requirement for safe residential aged care [42]. A 2012 review concluded that nurse staffing standards improve staffing levels [40]. However, some alternative models of residential aged care operate with staff in less traditional care roles who have had high levels of training provided by the care home operator [43-45]. It has been suggested that "mandating a set staffing level may stifle innovation, and even lead to some 'high performing' aged care facilities to reduce their staffing levels" [46]. An analysis from the USA indicated that the introduction of mandated minimum nursing staffing levels in some states increased staffing in the low-staffed nursing homes, partly by the use of lower-paid nurses, but also that nursing homes that had higher staffing levels before the introduction of regulation decreased their staffing [47].

## 3. Methods

### Literature review

Literature reviews were undertaken to identify information on aged care typologies and national approaches to LTC for older persons, using EconLit, MEDLINE and Latin American and Caribbean Health Sciences (LILACS) databases. Search terms and phrases included long-term care, social care, nursing home, residential care, home nursing, day care, informal care, aged, elderly, geriatrics, quality, regulation, funding and typology. This approach was supplemented with information obtained by extensive grey literature searching including national health and social care websites, key international reports including those produced by the OECD, the European Commission's European Social Policy Network and the World Health Organization (WHO), contact with experts, pearling of reference lists of identified relevant reports and articles, and handsearching using literature databases PubMed, MEDLINE and Google Scholar.

### Data sources and limitations

The comparison of key attributes reported here uses international databases and reports from such organisations as the OECD, World Bank and WHO. These data include demographics, macro measures and expenditure, funding and structure of aged care systems internationally, primarily sourced from the World Bank database, OECD health statistics database and WHO global health database. Information is also used from the literature searches as referenced. Most figures reflect 2016 data; however, in the event of missing data, the most recent available values were used. Some post-hoc calculations were performed to convert absolute figures into a per capita rate.

The primary sources for these data have not been verified and, as such, it is possible that there are variations between countries in terms of how information has been defined, collected and analysed. The OECD.Stat database provided country-level data on demographics, recipients of LTC, workforce data and LTC expenditure. Differences in the definitions and methodologies used in the primary data sources may affect comparability across countries. Limitations of the data collection and reporting by individual countries to these agencies should be considered when interpreting the empirical results. Nonetheless, these databases provide the most reliable basis for cross-country comparisons that we are aware of.

For some variables (e.g. the extent of informal care), the data presented in this report are derived from different sources [1, 6, 48]. Where possible, we have attempted to account for and/or describe any differences in definitions and methodology. Nonetheless, there may be some discrepancies in reporting that affect the comparability of data from different countries and sources.

Key sources, definitions from the data sources and methods for synthesis for the various comparisons are outlined below.

#### Definition of long-term care

Long-term care (health and social) is defined by the OECD as consisting of "a range of medical, personal care and assistance services that are provided with the primary goal of alleviating pain and reducing or managing the deterioration in health status for people with a degree of long-term dependency, assisting them with their personal care (through help for activities of daily living (ADLs), such as eating, washing and dressing) and assisting them to live independently (through help for instrumental activities of daily living, IADL, such as cooking, shopping and managing finances)."

#### Care settings

LTC at home is defined within the OECD.Stat database as care "provided to people with functional restrictions who mainly reside at their own home. It also applies to the use of institutions on a temporary basis to support continued living at home – such as community care and day care centres and in the case of respite care. Home care also includes specially designed or adapted living arrangements (for instance, sheltered housing) for persons who require help on a regular basis that guarantee a high degree of autonomy and self-control, and supportive living arrangements."

LTC in institutions refers to nursing and residential care facilities which provide accommodation and LTC as a package. This refers to specially designed institutions or hospital-like settings (e.g. nursing homes) where the predominant service component is LTC and the services are provided for people with moderate to severe functional restrictions.

#### Care recipients

The services received by LTC recipients can be publicly or privately financed. LTC recipients exclude disabled people of working age receiving benefits without LTC services. The data for Australia, Japan and New Zealand are for care for older people.

LTC recipients in institutions include people receiving formal (paid) LTC in institutions, as defined above, other than hospitals. The Australian data are for government-funded aged care facilities. For the USA the data are for nursing home residents of all ages. The data for Japan are for Welfare Facilities for the Elderly Requiring Long-Term Care (*Kaigo Roujin Fukushi Shisetsu*), Healthcare Facilities for the Elderly Requiring Long-Term Care (*Kaigo Roujin Hoken Shisetsu*) and Sanatorium-Type Medical Care Facilities for the Elderly Requiring Long-Term Care (*Kaigo Ryouyougata Iryou Shisetsu*). For Switzerland LTC in hospitals exists to a small extent and is not captured in the data. USA nursing homes include those certified by Medicare or Medicaid, or both, or licensed by individual states, including nursing care units of hospitals. Data from the Netherlands and Japan appear to include people of all ages. Other nations are less clear.

LTC recipients at home include people who receive LTC from paid LTC providers, including non-professionals receiving cash payments under a social program and recipients of cash benefits or similar programs provided to support LTC recipients based on a needs assessment. It excludes people who only need assistance with instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs), such as shopping and cleaning. An OECD.Stat note on Australian data on LTC recipients at home (from 2016) indicates that they include older people (65 years and over) in the Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP), Western Australian Home and Community Care recipients and Home Care Package (HCP) recipients. This excludes CHSP recipients who do not receive personal or nursing care, in line with the OECD definitions. The data from Germany do not include IADL recipients. The data from Canada on home care recipients may include formal and informal care. The data on Japan may include multiple counts of the same care recipients. The data from Denmark do not include those with temporary help care. The data from Switzerland include people receiving ADL and/or IADL services. The data from the USA match the OECD data definition.

#### Workforce

LTC workers are defined within the OECD.Stat database as individuals who provide care to LTC recipients. Formal LTC workers include the following occupations and categories:

- "Nurses, as defined by the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO)-08 classification (2221 ISCO code for professional nurses and 3221 ISCO code for associate professional nurses), providing LTC at home or in LTC institutions (other than hospitals).
- 2) Personal care workers (caregivers), including formal workers providing LTC services at home or in institutions (other than hospitals) and who are not qualified or certified as nurses. As per the draft definition in the ISCO-08 classification, personal care workers are people providing routine personal care, such as bathing, dressing or grooming, to elderly, convalescent or disabled persons in their own homes or in institutions."

Data on the LTC workforce are identified in OECD.Stat as being for care for older people for Australia and New Zealand; for Switzerland LTC for disabled people is excluded. Whether LTC workforce data are specific to older people is not clearly reported for other nations.

Figure 13 to Figure 16 and Appendix 3 Figure 29 to Figure 30 plot the staffing of LTC against the number of recipients of LTC. The different figures represent different staffing mixes (all workers, nurses) and different LTC settings (total, institutional and home). The axes in each figure are standardised to 100 of the general population. That is, the y-axes represent the number of "workers" (however defined: formal LTC workers, nurses, headcount or FTE) per 100 of the population of a given country. The x-axes represent the number of "recipients" (however defined: home, institutional or either) per 100 of the population of a given country.

#### Expenditure

Estimates of government (or compulsory schemes) expenditure on LTC for older people were derived from OECD.Stat and expressed as a percentage of GDP in this report to assist with comparability across countries. However, comparisons of LTC expenditure between countries are difficult [49].

Government expenditure estimates in this report are the sum of the health component of LTC expenditure and old age social expenditure as benefits in kind. This approach gives the best representation of Australia's aged care expenditure that is possible from the data but has some key limitations which include the following. 'Benefits in kind' do not capture cash benefits such as the carer allowance in Australia, or carer allowance or social assistance in Germany – these are not identified separately in the OECD.Stat data even though cash benefits comprise a component of LTC for the aged in many countries (see Table 4 to Table 6, Appendix 2). The distinction between health and social spending is not consistent across countries. The definition of LTC is broader than aged care, and can include services for the disabled. Some countries (including the USA) only report expenditure for institutional care [50].

OECD data on LTC expenditure are from the Global Health Expenditure Database (GHED), which provides internationally comparable data on health spending for close to 190 countries from 2000 to 2016. In collaboration with member states, WHO updates the database annually using available data such as government budgets and health accounts studies.

The System of Health Accounts (SHA) 2011 provides a framework for the systematic description of the financial information related to health care used in the GHED [51]. Long-term care is separated into long-term care (health) and long-term care (social). LTC (health) includes personal "body help" type services (e.g. help with ADL) as part of health expenditure, while "assistance or home help" type services (e.g. help with IADL) is counted under LTC (social), outside the core health boundary.

The SHA 2011 uses the following definition of long-term care (health): "a range of medical and personal care services that are consumed with the primary goal of alleviating pain and suffering and reducing or managing the deterioration in health status in patients with a degree of long-term dependency"[51].

Current expenditure on health care is defined in the SHA 2011 as: "final consumption expenditure of resident units on health care goods and services. Current expenditure on health quantifies the economic resources spent on the health care functions as identified by the consumption boundaries" [51]. The health component of LTC (HC.3) covers medical or nursing care and personal care services (ADL). Assistance case services (IADL) and other social care services are excluded.

#### Quality of care indicators

Data on the use of antipsychotics, pressure ulcers, falls and quality of life for older people in aged care were obtained from a variety of published and publicly available data sources including the SHELTER study [52-54], surveys and national data registries [55, 56].

Data on the prescription of antipsychotics per 1000 population aged over 65 were sourced from OECD, *Health at a Glance 2017* [50]. OECD information on this indicator states:

Antipsychotics are defined consistently across countries using Anatomical Therapeutic Classification (ATC) codes ... Most countries are unable to identify which prescriptions relate to people with dementia, so the antipsychotics indicator covers all people aged over 65. Some caution is needed when making inferences about the dementia population, since it is not certain that a higher rate of prescribing among all over-65s translates into more prescriptions for people with dementia. Nonetheless, measuring this indicator, exploring reasons for variation and reducing inappropriate use can help to improve the quality of dementia care. [50]

Data refer to 2015 or nearest year.

Whilst many countries collect quality of care indicator data, the reporting and public availability of these data are highly variable, limiting comparisons that can be made (see Appendix 4). We have conducted some analyses on available and comparable quality of care indicators; however, any correlations between these indicators and other characteristics of aged care systems should be interpreted with caution as differences may be due to variations in case mix (i.e. population characteristics). For example, the incidence of pressure ulcers may reflect the level of disability within an LTC population rather than the quality of care provided by an institution. Nonetheless, these factors may be indicative of quality of care and are therefore considered the best available indicators at present.

### LTC system typology

A typology is used to compare the aged care systems of the selected countries. This typology is presented in Table 1.

The following seven characteristics of the financing and organisation of LTC are derived from the Kraus et al. typology of LTC systems in Europe [1]:

- means-tested access, i.e. whether the level of access to publicly funded LTC services is means tested
- entitlement to LTC, i.e. whether all people assessed as eligible have an entitlement to services, or whether services may not be provided despite eligibility, for example due to budget constraints
- availability of cash benefits, i.e. whether cash benefits are provided to care recipients or carers to purchase services

- choice of provider, i.e. whether the care recipient can choose between alternative providers
- quality assurance, i.e. whether there is mandatory quality assurance in both home care and institutional care
- quality of coordination between LTC for older people and other services
- cost sharing, i.e. whether care recipients provide substantial financial contributions for institutional and/or home care services, in additional to informal care.

Kraus et al. scored these items to reflect consumer friendliness, with a score of 1 for a system that is assumed to be least preferred by consumers and a score of 3 for a system that is most preferred by consumers [1]. The scores were based on the following assumptions of what is preferable to care recipients:

- no means testing and entitlement is preferred, i.e. a higher level of access is preferred
- cash benefits are preferable to no cash benefits
- free choice of providers is preferred
- quality assurance in both institutional and home care is preferred
- a higher level of coordination between LTC services and other services is preferred
- less cost sharing is preferred.

Previous analyses have used this numbering system to categorise the following countries: Australia, Denmark, England, Germany, Poland and Sweden [1, 6].

In this review, the typology is extended to include regulation of quality using categories based on the work of Mor et al. [2] and informed by key factors proposed to be important in the regulation of quality [11] as described below. Whilst many countries may incorporate components of more than one approach, this categorisation is intended to indicate the general emphasis of that country's quality assurance system. In some cases, the absence of information indicating public reporting is assumed to indicate that this is not performed; thus these categories should be interpreted with caution. The indicators used for regulation of quality are:

- centralised versus decentralised regulation
- single versus multiple levels of responsibility for quality regulation
- "regulatory approach", derived from a 2014 international comparison of LTC quality [17]; the categories applied to each respective country are as reported as in the original publication [2], updated where possible
- public reporting of assessments
- public consumer ratings.

Additional descriptive variables have also been included to capture information about quality assurance, training requirements, sources of funding, out-of-pocket costs and the types of providers, as reported in Chapter 3 and Appendix 2.

Mainstream database searches plus an extensive search of the grey literature and examination of reference lists of identified relevant reports and articles were conducted to provide information on each characteristic of the typology. The scores provided in the original typology analyses were reviewed to ensure any changes in the LTC system that occurred following these analyses were reflected in the typology [1, 6]. Where changes had been made to the LTC system, scores were updated to reflect this.

The possibility that some funding, quality and regulation policies for some countries is outdated remains. Also, for some variables (e.g. the extent of informal care) the data presented in this report are derived from different sources [1, 6]. Where possible, we have attempted to account for and/or describe any differences in definitions and methodology. Nonetheless, there may be some discrepancies in reporting that affect the comparability of data from different countries and sources.

The "regulatory approach" and "quality of coordination between LTC and other services" characteristics derived from Mor et al. and Kraus et al. subjectively categorise the entire LTC system into three categories [1, 57]. As such, the groups assigned to countries for these characteristics have generally not been updated unless substantial information indicating a change to the country's LTC system was identified, to ensure consistency between the original source and the values assigned in this report.

# Table 1. Categorisation and coding of typology variables for international LTC systems for older people

Variable	Consumer friendliness score					
	3	2	1			
Organisation and financing (based on Kraus et al. [1])						
Means-tested access	No means testing of access in both IC and HC	No means testing of access in IC, means testing of access in HC	Means testing of access in both IC and HC			
Entitlement to LTC	Entitlement to both IC and HC	No entitlement to IC, entitlement to HC	No entitlement to either IC or HC			
Availability of cash benefits	Cash benefits in both IC and HC	Cash benefits in either IC or HC	No cash benefits			
Choice of provider	Free provider choice in both IC and HC	No provider choice in IC, free provider choice in HC	No provider choice in IC and HC			
Quality assurance	Mandatory quality assurance in both IC and HC	Mandatory quality assurance in IC or HC	No mandatory quality assurance in both IC and HC			
Quality of coordination between LTC and other services	Rather good – there might be some organisational challenges	Rather poor – provision of care is fragmented and often can pose a challenge for care recipients	Very poor – provision of care is very fragmented and poses regular or severe challenges for care recipients			
Cost sharing	Cost sharing in IC, no cost sharing in HC, HNC	Cost sharing in IC and HC, no cost sharing in HNC	Cost sharing in IC, HC, HNC			
Regulation of quality						
Responsibility for regulation	Central vs decentralised Single vs multiple					
Publicly available quality information	Public reporting of assessments (Y/N) Public consumer ratings (Y/N)					
Regulatory approach (based on Mor et al.[2])	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Professionalism-based regulatory systems	Data measurement/public reporting regulatory systems			
Quality assurance	Descriptive					
LTC worker mandates	Descriptive					
Additional information of	on financing					
Source of funding	Descriptive					
Out-of-pocket costs	Descriptive					
Type of providers	Descriptive					

Abbreviations: IC, institutional care; HC, home-based care; HNC, home nursing care; HC, home care.

## 4. Country summaries

## Nations with developed LTC systems for older people

#### Australia

The Australian Commonwealth Government is responsible for the funding and regulation of LTC in Australia, although all three levels of government are involved. Aged care is delivered through a number of programs including the Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP), Home Care Packages (HCP) Program, residential aged care, and flexible care [27, 58]. Australia provides universal access to care based on a needs assessment [8]. The government pays for the majority of aged care; however co-payments are required for those who can afford it.

The CHSP provides support for older people with a lower level of need who are able to continue living at home, with respite services for carers. Services include social support, transport, help with domestic chores, personal care, home maintenance, home modification, nursing care, meals and allied health services. CHSP providers receive funding through grants from the Commonwealth Government and recipients may also contribute to the cost of care [59].

Older people who need more assistance living at home may receive help via the HCP Program, which offers coordinated packages of personal and clinical care from an approved home care provider. Packages are tailored to the needs of individuals based on the principles of consumer-directed care, and are categorised in to four set levels of support. Levels of subsidy range from \$8,250 for a level 1 HCP to \$52,250 for a level 4 HCP (March 2019) [60]. The level of availability of informal care is considered in the assessment. Recipients do not receive a cash benefit but a budget that they can choose how to allocate through an approved, chosen provider. Individuals approved for an HCP are placed on a national queue until a package becomes available and is assigned to them. In March 2019 there were approximately 75,000 people on a waiting list for an HCP [61]. Ninety-five per cent of these had also been approved for access to CHSP. If personal circumstances allow, people can be asked to make a financial contribution towards the cost of their care [62].

Older Australians who require more assistance than can be provided in their own homes have the option of moving into residential care on a permanent or respite (short-term) basis. Services include personal care, accommodation, laundry, meals, nursing and some allied health services. As is the case for many other aged care services, residential aged care is funded by the Commonwealth Government via subsidies to approved providers, with contributions from recipients [63]. The level of funding is based on assessment with the Aged Care Funding Instrument (ACFI). Allocation of residential aged care bed places to providers is undertaken by tendering for a set number of places determined by the federal government based on demographic estimates of requirements. Accommodation is treated as separate from care and daily living. People are expected to pay accommodation costs; a government accommodation supplement is available for those without the means to cover the cost of accommodation.

Most government funding for aged care is provided in residential facilities. As of 2018, providers of LTC facilities in Australia comprised a mix of private non-profit (60%), private for profit (approx. one third) and state or local government providers [64].

In Australia, the *Aged Care Act 1997* (Compilation no 71) suggests the numbers of care staff should be sufficient to meet the assessed care needs of the residents [65], without providing details on either numerical ratios or the optimal staffing mix. LTC workers do not have mandated training, although national training programs exist (30% of community care workers in 2008 had no relevant qualifications) [8]. There are no nationally mandated staffing ratios or qualifications for LTC workers. In 2017, a Bill was proposed for the introduction of mandated minimal skilled staffing ratios in Australia [46, 66]. In July 2019, it was announced that minimum staffing ratios will be introduced in Queensland by the state government to require at least 3.65 hours of daily contact time per resident, per day in Queensland's publicly owned aged care facilities, in addition to making staffing ratios publicly available [67]. Some publicly owned residential aged care homes in Victoria also have mandates for nursing staff [68]. These are one nurse per 7 or 8 residents during day shifts (in addition to one nurse in charge) and one for every 15 residents at night.

The Australian LTC sector is considered highly regulated [29, 69-71]. The responsibility for licensure and quality monitoring of LTC facilities is centralised within the federal government's Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission [72]. All organisations providing subsidised services are required to comply with national quality standards made up of eight individual standards: consumer dignity and choice, ongoing assessment and planning with consumers, personal care and clinical care, services and supports for daily living, organisations' service environment, feedback and complaints, human resources, and organisational governance [72]. Each organisation must undertake initial and ongoing assessment of care. The level of assessment will depend on the level of care and services the organisation provides [72]. Assessors from the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission conduct unannounced inspections of residential aged care facilities. Consumer experience reports are completed for a minimum of 10% of residents and published publicly with the audit reports. Consumer experience reports are under development for home and community care.

#### Canada

LTC services are not insured under the *Canada Health Act 1984*. Funding for LTC is governed by the provinces and territories and as such the range of services and cost of coverage varies greatly across the country [73]. Informal caregivers are estimated to provide 66% to 84% of care to the older population in Canada [74]. A combination of private for profit (44%), private not for profit (30%), and public facilities (27%) provide facility-based LTC [74].
Access to care may depend on means testing, needs assessment and availability within capped budgets in some provinces [75, 76]. In Ontario, residential care was previously provided to a mix of residents with both low and high care needs; however from 2010 residential LTC services were restricted to those with very high needs [74]. This was a result of the province's aging-in-place strategy which increased funding for home care and enforced stricter eligibility criteria for residential facilities.

In Ontario, LTC is a part of the province's healthcare system and funding is made up predominately of public funding (70%) from provincial health insurance plans. Residents' coinsurance or self-payments make up 22% of funding for LTC. The remaining 8% is made up by "other agencies", "preferential accommodation differential" and "sundry earnings" [74]. Public funding of home care is provided either through government contract or government cash benefits for individuals to purchase their own services [77]. Medical services required within LTC facilities are covered by individuals' private insurance plans or the provincial drug benefit program [78]. For home care in Ontario and Nova Scotia, out-of-pocket costs are below the affordability threshold for people with a median income with low and moderate needs [79]. But as the number of hours of formal home care available is limited, it is likely to be unaffordable for those with severe needs [79].

Minimum training requirements are enforced for registered nurses by law but for other LTC staffing the requirements differ by province [50]. There are no national educational standards for unregulated care aide LTC workers in Canada. Training requirements for care aides differ across provinces, with approximately 84% reporting to have a care aide certificate. In Ontario legislation requires that there is at least one registered nurse on duty in residential care facilities [80]. In Alberta, there must be at least two staff members on site at all times including one registered nurse [81].

Quality control of LTC facilities in Canada is the responsibility of provincial governments; however nationally interRAI assessment instruments have been mandated and results are publicly reported online by the Canadian Institute for Health Information [82, 83]. In Ontario, trained inspectors inspect residential care facilities at least once annually randomly and without prior notice. All facilities require accreditation by either of the two external agencies [84].

# Denmark

Of the countries included in this review, Denmark has one of the most universal and comprehensive LTC systems. LTC is provided by funding residence in institutional care, special housing with nurses attached, or home help [85, 86]. Approximately 8.3% of the population act as informal carers [87].

Most of the system is organised and financed at the local level, where 98 municipalities adopt and deliver the bulk of LTC services. The regional level is responsible for primary health. There are no LTC policies at the federal level; however, there is agreement on general regulation and control of the economic conditions that drive local policies. The majority of LTC providers are public with approximately 14% of facilities privately owned [87].

There is a trend towards deinstitutionalisation of care for older people, with an emphasis on rehabilitative approaches and their integration into home help [86]. The majority (80%) of LTC services are provided as home care [87]. Rehabilitative measures have become a compulsory part of home help and are offered prior to the calculation of an older person's need for personal and practical home help [86]. There are reforms in housing, with the number of traditional nursing homes reducing and being replaced by care homes where the older residents have the status of tenants and apply for housing allowances.

LTC is financed through general taxation (90%) and predominately provided free of charge. LTC services are funded by local authorities using block grants from the federal government, local taxes and transfers from other local authorities [85, 87]. Whilst Denmark spends a high proportion of its LTC budget on home-based care, the number of hours of home-based care was low for many recipients as of 2007 [88].

Training requirements are mandated for nurses in LTC. There are national minimum requirements for training and qualifications; however this differs across municipalities [50].

Licensure and quality monitoring are the responsibility of the municipalities and local councils. Municipalities are obliged to undertake audits twice a year. Quality inspections are undertaken by local authorities, and one visit per year must be unannounced. Inspection reports are made publicly available [86].

# England

LTC is the responsibility of both the local and national authorities [89]. Local authorities provide publicly funded care to those who pass a needs assessment and means test. The majority of LTC services are delivered by private providers within independent facilities; 86% are for profit and 14% are not for profit. Residential care providers have the option to accept publicly funded residents or not [11].

The level of funding provided varies across areas. The central government determines how much local authorities receive for LTC and what they are obliged to spend funding on [90]. For those who are not eligible for publicly funded care, LTC is privately funded or provided by family and friends. In general, those with low-level needs do not qualify for LTC services but can still receive a cash benefit to fund community-based care [11, 79]. Overall, 50% of those requiring LTC are privately or self-funded, 37% fully funded, 12% partially funded and 10% funded through the National Health Service (NHS) [11, 91].

Regulations around staffing are similar in England to that in Australia, not specifying ratios or staffing levels specifically [92]. Professional education and training standards exist; however the enforceability depends on the staff category. Social and care worker training is less enforced than nurses' training [50, 93].

The federal government within a national agency (the Care Quality Commission) is responsible for the licensure and quality monitoring of LTC facilities. Regular inspections collect qualitative and quantitative data on quality of care in LTC facilities, involving the use of consumers in peer review [93].

# Germany

Residents in Germany can access LTC through compulsory LTC insurance which covers both home and residential care. Enrolment follows compulsory enrolment in healthcare insurance. Insurance contributions are collected through income tax, with half paid by the employer [15]. Access to benefits requires a grouping into one of five grades based on an individual assessment of the need for care and taking account of the level of informal care available. Following reforms in the LTC sector in 2017, about 3.3 million people were re-grouped or reassessed and were receiving benefits. LTC facilities are predominately private for profit (62%) or private non-profit (37%) and a small proportion are public (2%) [15].

For care at home, the scheme offers a wide range of both cash benefits for informal care, and in-kind benefits for various nursing and personal assistance services. Recipients are largely free to choose between cash or in-kind benefits, or a combination of both. They are also free to choose how they use cash benefits (e.g. for renumeration for a family carer), and which professional service providers they wish to use if they have opted for benefits in kind. Insurance helps with the arrangement of care by providing information on services, quality and costs, help with choosing the appropriate services and providers, and by supporting case management. The system covers basic needs and not the full cost of care [15]. Benefits are not received until six months after assessment [15].

In 2016, 80% of all beneficiaries were choosing cash benefits, on which LTC insurance spends 64% of its overall expenditure. All benefits are capped, leading to out-of-pocket costs in many cases. The government pays subsidies for voluntary additional private LTC insurance. In addition, local municipalities pay for the uncovered costs, e.g. in residential aged care homes, of people with low income through the tax-funded social assistance system [94]. LTC insurance for home and residential care is funded predominately by social insurance (90%) and private insurance schemes (10%) [94]. The contribution rate is shared between employers and employees; people without children pay an additional amount. People can opt-out and take up private insurance if they wish [21, 95].

Expert nursing standards apply to all nursing staff, for all care settings, and specifically address pain, falls, continence, discharge, wound, ulcer and nutritional care, which have high relevance to aged care. Education and training standards are mandated; however the level of training varies across regions. Less than half of home care workers have a relevant qualification [96]. Staffing numbers are mandated, with a minimum of 50% of residential aged care staff being registered nurses [40]. Different nurse-to-resident ratios are apportioned depending on the level of care required by residents (e.g. one full-time-equivalent (FTE) nurse

is required for every four residents needing considerable care and nearly two FTE nurses are required for every resident needing highly intensive care) [40].

The responsibility for licensure and quality monitoring is decentralised at the state level. Contracts between providers and LTC funds are derived within each state. External medical review boards at the state level are responsible for routine, unannounced quality inspections that are publicly reported.

# Japan

Welfare policies for the elderly in Japan began in the 1960s through the *Act of Social Welfare Services for the Elderly 1963* [97]. In response to the increasing aging rate, free health care for the elderly was introduced in 1973 and in 2000 public, mandatory insurance was introduced through the *Long-Term Care Insurance Act* [98]. All people aged 65 and over are insured under the LTC insurance system, which covers both home and residential care. LTC services funded under the insurance system are provided when people aged 65 and over require care or when people aged 40–64 develop aging-related disease.

In a push towards integration of the LTC system and the health system, a care manager is assigned to each user of LTC who establishes a care plan with the user and their family to integrate required medical and welfare services [99]. Excess demand for institutional care has been met by new types of housing; as such the line between institutional and community care in Japan is now less distinct [100].

The majority of home care service providers are private. In 2014, 64% of home help providers, 40% of home nursing providers, and 58% of elderly day care service providers were for-profit, while most of the rest were non-profit. Residential services are predominately public or non-profit, as private residential services are only partly covered by LTC insurance [101].

Insurance is financed by 50% of general taxes and 50% from premiums of the insured. All users pay a co-payment of 10%, regardless of income. In 2015, a co-payment of 20% was introduced for persons above a certain income level [101]. Co-payments are capped and there are no cash benefits available. Out-of-pocket costs for someone on a median income are considered affordable [79].

In residential care in Japan, staff-to-resident ratios are mandated at 1:3 but there is no regulation around the mix of staffing qualifications [102]. LTC workers are certified in Japan and there are financial incentives for providers who offer ongoing training [103]. Mandated training, including an examination, is required for certified care workers and home helpers [103]. Community care workers do not require examined qualifications but are required to complete 130 hours of training [103].

Sub-national governments are responsible for the accreditation and licensing of LTC facilities and conduct quality assurance through inspections. Staffing and physical requirements must be met to gain accreditation. Annual reports must be submitted to the governor and results are publicly reported online. There are three complaint processes for clients and families; through a care manager, directly to the provider or through the LTC insurer [104]. There are financial incentives for providers that exceed requirements on a number of criteria including rehabilitation outcomes for care recipients, numbers of staff with particular expertise (e.g. nutritionists) and comprehensive care planning (see also "Pay-for-performance", page 71) [103]

# **Republic of Korea**

Mandatory LTC insurance was introduced in the Republic of Korea in 2008 [105]. Everyone who contributes to health insurance automatically contributes a proportion of premiums to LTC insurance [105]. All people aged 65 and over are eligible for LTC. Eligibility for those under 65 years is restricted to age-related LTC needs, unlike some European countries with LTC insurance who allow access for people under 65 years with non-age-related disabilities [106]. LTC insurance provides both home and residential care services based on a needs assessment.

The vast majority of providers of LTC are private (99.5%). LTC is funded through a mix of insurance contributions (60%–65%), tax subsidies (20%), and co-payment by service users, which is 20% for residential services and 15% for home-based services. Low-income groups receive a 50% subsidy for the co-payment and those eligible for the medical aid program do not require a co-payment. Cash benefits are available only in exceptional cases [107]. The out-of-pocket costs for someone with a median income and severe needs are considered well above the affordability threshold, as the number of formal hours of home care is limited [79].

In Korea, care homes have mandated resident-to-staff ratios for geriatric nurses (1:25), care aides (1:2.5), physical therapists (1:40) and social workers (1:40) [108]. A national curriculum of minimum requirements for LTC workers is established. Care aides are certified. The National Health Insurance Corporation (NHIC) and local government are jointly responsible for quality assurance. Local government approves initial accreditation based on minimum national standards for staffing and the physical environment, whilst the NHIC is responsible for mandatory inspection of providers, conducted every two years [108]. Pay-for-performance and public reporting are used as quality control mechanisms. High-performing facilities receive incentives. Providers who rank in the top 30% and bottom 10% are publicly reported on a government website [107, 108].

# The Netherlands

LTC in the Netherlands has undergone comprehensive reform, most recently since 2015, and is now administered under multiple Acts [109]. The first, the *Long-Term Care Act*, regulates residential care and intensive home care for people who need 24-hour-per-day supervision [110]. Home nursing care and personal care are regulated by the *Health Insurance Act* and funded via health insurers [109].

Municipalities are responsible for household services, medical aids, home modifications, services for informal caregivers, preventive mental health care, transport facilities and other

assistance. How these services, needs assessments and caregiver support is provided is largely up to individual municipalities (e.g. caregivers may be supported by respite care or a small allowance) [111]. The majority of LTC services are provided by private, non-profit organisations [111]. Needs assessments for formal care consider the amount of informal care that can be provided.

Municipalities provide funding through a block grant from the national government. The majority is financed through the social insurance scheme. In contrast to many nations, the mandatory LTC insurance is very comprehensive [112]. Out-of-pocket co-payments made up 8.7% of total spending on LTC services in 2015 [111]. Out-of-pocket costs for those with low or severe needs are considered affordable [79]. Personal budgets comprise approximately 7% of LTC expenditure and can be used to pay for informal care [113]. Beneficiaries of home care can opt for a cash benefit of approximately 75% of the value of care [113].

No mandated training is required for LTC workers and between 17% and 60% of care workers lack relevant qualifications, especially in home care settings. Family members are able to become care aides if they undergo training in formal government programs and receive certification as a care aide [50].

The central government and external agencies are responsible for LTC licensing and quality assurance. If individuals are unhappy with the quality of care, they have the option to change to another contracted provider, and to submit a complaint to the provider, administration offices and healthcare inspectorate. The healthcare administrations offices can set quality requirements when purchasing care under the *Long-Term Care Act* and are required to check that insurance companies' quality of care matches the production agreements [114].

# New Zealand

District Health Boards (DHBs) are responsible for the coverage and funding of LTC. Funded services are available for those aged over 65 and those "close in age and interest" (e.g., people with younger-onset dementia or a severe age-related physical disability). Medical care is included in the comprehensive services provided to eligible people, as well as home care for many and respite care for informal or family carers. In certain circumstances ongoing financial support can also be provided [115]. Residential facilities are mostly private, and all home care services are provided by non-government organisations (NGOs).

LTC subsidies for older people are means tested [115]. Payments are determined by the value of a person's assets in relation to a set national threshold. Those who have assets above the threshold pay the cost of their care up to a maximum amount. Individuals with assets under the threshold contribute the entirety of their income, except for a small personal allowance. The difference between these contributions and the contract price for the LTC is paid by DHBs. DHBs finance, in total, approximately 60% of LTC [116]. The cost of household management (e.g. cleaning) for people in their own homes is also means tested, and accounts for less than one third of home support funding. Personal care (e.g. showering) is provided at no cost [115].

Staff ratios, certification ratios and adequate staffing levels are required. A handbook is available to determine the number of staff required in residential care. National voluntary standards are provided for home care; however, home support workers are not regulated or certified nationally. DHBs have the responsibility of mandating standards, including for staffing levels. In 2011, half of the DHBs made the voluntary standards a requirement within provider contracts [116].

The national government and DHBs are responsible for the licensing and quality assurance of LTC services. "Spot" auditing of LTC services with no prior warning is conducted annually. InterRAI assessments are required in the audits for both residential and home care facilities and data are publicly available at the national, regional DHB and population subgroup level. Data from particular LTC centres must be requested directly from the centre itself [116].

# **Poland**

Much of the care for older dependent people in Poland is provided informally, usually by family members. It is estimated that more than 80% of LTC is provided by families [117]. Nonetheless, public care for dependent older people is available through two sectors: the healthcare sector and the social sector [118]. Use of institutional LTC in those aged over 65 years is very low (less than 1%) [117].

Home-based and residential care is provided in both the health and social sector. Entitlement to services provided in the health sector is based on the assessment of health needs and means testing [20]. Services provided in the social sector can be obtained following a decision of the social assistance centre, which is based on income and family circumstances. Social assistance centres manage home care and day nursing homes for persons living with their family, whose members are not able to provide care due to their professional activities [119].

As LTC is mainly a family responsibility, LTC services financed by the public sector are only a small part of overall expenditure. The costs of services are shared by recipients; however priority access to services is given to those living below the social assistance minimum who are unable to contribute a large amount of the costs for care. Specific data on out-of-pocket costs as a percentage of GDP are unclear for Poland. Those accessing informal or private care receive little to no financial remuneration, so out-of-pocket costs are likely to be high [119].

In both the health and social sectors there are several types of cash transfers available to different types of beneficiaries, through social insurance, health insurance and general tax revenues. For older people, the nursing supplement (*dodatek pielęgnacyjny*) grants cash allowances to all people aged 75 or more who are entitled to social insurance, regardless of their need for care. Benefits amount to 208 and 153 złoty per month for health and social services, respectively, which are low and hardly cover the costs of informal or formal care services [20].

There is some support for family carers; however only for those who resign from employment. There is a strong reliance on migrant carers (typically from Ukraine or Belarus), who are paid fully out-of-pocket and are usually not registered [20].

Quality standards established for residential care institutions cover three main domains: employment, procedures and accommodation standards, separately for the health and social sector. Currently, there are no national or regulated quality controls for those receiving informal care [20].

# **Russia**

In Russia, the constitution guarantees social support for all citizens, including older people and those living with disease or disability [120]. Although the LTC system in Russia is welldeveloped, minimal information is available in English on the details of the LTC system structure. Support for families caring for older people includes cash payments (benefits and subsidies) and indirect social transfers and is gender-oriented. The most used services are home care, including hospice, social services, "health resort at home" and various mobile social services (including "social taxi" services). A "Family Code" includes responsibilities of adult children caring for their disabled parents and in cases of increased need they are obligated to bear additional costs. Foster families can provide social services to older people living alone who need nursing care, with laws defining admission into the family, and contracts are entered into between the family and the care recipient. As of 2011 there were about four thousand institutions for older people and the disabled.

In 2011, the network of "social service institutions" was growing, mostly by construction of new residential care facilities – mainly smaller centres for 15–50 older people in rural areas. Services are also provided by non-profit organisations, volunteers and private centres in private–public partnerships. It was reported in 2010 that the satisfaction of older people with home social care was 97% nationally; 96% for home social and medical services; and 94% for permanent in-patient hospitals [120]. Inspections of the living conditions of older people with host families are undertaken in a systematic manner. No information on the approach to quality assurance of residential care was found.

# Singapore

In Singapore, there is an emphasis on the family as the primary caregiver with a "many helping hands" approach [121]. In general, the government provides the regulation, financing and settings for LTC but not the services, which are predominantly provided by informal carers or non-government voluntary welfare organisations (VWOs) [122]. VWOs provide approximately two thirds of the residential aged care places [123]. The remainder of services are provided by private for-profit providers [122]. There is also a heavy reliance on foreign workers; almost half of Singaporean families employ foreign domestic workers to help provide care for older people, supported by government discounts [121, 124]. In 2015, long-term social services and supports expenditure on people aged over 65 was split between government spending (42%),

charitable donations (9%), LTC insurance (9%) and out-of-pocket costs (40%) [123]. An estimate of Singapore's expenditure on LTC was not available from the OECD but the total expenditure on LTC has been reported as 0.1% GDP in a 2016 report by the Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy [124].

Basic financial protection to those who need LTC is provided through ElderShield, which is an opt-out severe disability insurance scheme regulated by the government and run through designated private insurers. ElderShield provides a monthly cash payment to assist with out-of-pocket expenses up to a maximum period of 72 months. Older people and their families can choose nursing facilities or home-based healthcare providers, including hospice care, in accordance with the type of care and setting suitable to their needs. It will be replaced in 2020 by the mandatory government-run CareShield program [125], which is expected to provide increased payouts with no maximum duration.

ElderShield sits among other health insurance coverage provided through MediShield (catastrophic health insurance), MediSave (opt-out medical savings program), and MediFund (an endowment fund for those with low incomes who cannot afford health care) [122].

Singapore citizens and permanent residents with MediSave accounts are automatically enrolled for ElderShield when they turn 40 years old; however, participants can opt out of the scheme if they wish. Citizens are randomly allocated to one of three private insurers contracted to the Singapore government in a public–private partnership. Thus, financing is predominantly private through contributions rather than publicly funded. The insurers are appointed on five-year contracts through a competitive bidding process [123].

ElderShield premiums are based on the person's age when they joined the scheme and are payable until the age of 65. The premium amount does not increase with age. Participants can either use their own MediSave accounts or those belonging to family members in order to pay for premiums. There is a choice of a range of different insurance plans for enrolees and ElderShield supplements can be purchased from the appointed private insurers for higher levels of coverage [123].

There are prescribed staff-to-care recipient ratios in residential care and requirements for numbers of professional staff [126]. However, half of the foreign domestic workers that are commonly employed by families to assist in home care have no relevant experience or training [121].

Whilst nursing homes and other LTC providers are regularly audited and/or inspected by the Ministry of Health, detailed objective quality ratings are not publicly available [123]. To maintain service quality, the government equips VWOs with "best practice" operational guidelines and encourages adherence through licensing requirements, training and performance-based funding. At least once a year, most VWO establishments and programs are inspected by officers of the ministry. Centre-based care is not licensed in Singapore [127].

#### Sweden

The LTC system in Sweden is universal and decentralised, with a market-based approach driven by consumer choice [22]. The responsibility for LTC in Sweden is split over three levels of government. At the national level, the federal government is responsible for policy and legislation. The councils and regions are responsible for health and medical care. The primary responsibility for residential and home care is given to the 290 municipalities. How LTC is funded and provided varies across each municipality; however nationally LTC is highly subsidised and everyone is eligible.

LTC services are delivered by a mix of public and private providers, varying among municipalities. In 2014, approximately 30% of LTC services were privately provided. Around 20% of providers of residential care homes are private [128].

Approximately 90% of LTC is funded through taxation and out-of-pocket costs make up around 5% of care. User fees are determined based upon income but not assets, up to a set maximum, for both residential and home care [22]. The remaining 5% is funded at the national government level. Cash benefits play a minimal role and are decided locally; as such not all municipalities provide cash benefits. Out-of-pocket costs for home care are capped and income related [129]. Out-of-pocket costs for someone on a median income are considered affordable [79].

National training is not mandated for LTC workers; however, a voluntary four-year education program for staff with no formal qualifications has been introduced and public funding for training is available. It is up to the municipality to establish the training program, and as such this is not consistent nationally.

Licensure and quality monitoring are the responsibility of the municipalities. A number of different external agencies have developed clinical registries that publicly report data on LTC quality. Since 2008, national-level surveys have measured user satisfaction with LTC services across municipalities.

# **Switzerland**

The responsibility for LTC in Switzerland is decentralised to the cantons, who are able to delegate this responsibility to municipalities or private organisations [130]. Users have access to a mix of private and public providers for residential care. The majority of home care services are provided by not-for-profits. There is partial coverage for LTC through the compulsory health insurance [131].

In 2014, 29% of residential care facilities were state operated and funded, 31% were privately operated with public subsidies, and 40% were exclusively private. In home care, 37% were subsidised non-profit organisations, 14% were non-subsidised for-profit companies and 50% were individual healthcare workers [132].

LTC services are billed directly to the user [130]. These services are primarily funded through private assets and retirement income from pension funds. Thus, out-of-pocket costs are high at 0.7% of GDP for LTC and private spending comprises more than 30% of LTC costs [50]. If an individual cannot fund care through those means they may be eligible for "national public oldage" and "invalidity" insurance schemes or social assistance from municipalities. Funding for residential facilities in 2014 was made up of private households (31%), old age and disability benefits (24%), mandatory health insurance or other social insurances (19%), and government subsidies (25%). Home-based care in 2014 was predominately funded by mandatory health insurance or other social insurances (35%) [132].

Most cantons have a licensing framework that covers nursing care; however, there are no national standards for staffing ratios. All nurses are required to be trained and registered with a bachelor or master's degree. Nursing aides are required to complete three years of training followed by a theoretical and practical exam. Some cantons require continuing training each year [50, 133]. In the informal care sector, LTC workers are typically migrant workers with little training and quality control [130].

Quality control of both residential and home care is defined federally through legislation; however implementation of care is the responsibility of cantons and municipalities [130]. There is no nationwide implementation of quality assurance as a number of external organisations, such as CURAVIVA (an industry association of Swiss nursing homes), are assigned the task of quality control under the provider's contract. Quality data are analysed and facilities with poor outcomes require reinspection. There is no obligation to make the results publicly available [130, 133].

# **United States**

Access to LTC in the USA is means tested, including with an assessment of assets. The majority of LTC is provided in the community by unpaid family and friends. Control of services is statebased so there are variations in provision nationally. The majority of providers are private for profit (70%), and the remaining are made up of private non-profit (23%) and public/government-owned (7%) providers [134].

Formal LTC services are predominately paid for by private individuals if they do not qualify for Medicaid or have LTC private insurance [82]. People are expected to contribute all of their income apart from a small allowance for living costs, i.e. there are significant out-of-pocket costs associated with care [79, 135]. Medicaid-funded LTC services are only available for individuals who are at poverty level and do not have personal assets and the ability to pay for care privately. Medicaid pays for approximately half of nursing home days but at a lower level of reimbursement than private insurers [136]. Private LTC insurance is not mandatory and only about 14% of citizens of 60 years of age or over in 2008 had private LTC insurance [137]; it accounts for only approximately 10% of spending. In residential care the majority of funding is from Medicaid (62%) and private sources (25%). A small proportion of residential care is financed through Medicare (13%) [138]. Affordability varies by state, but out-of-pocket costs for home care for someone on a median income may be unaffordable [79].

The federal USA government mandates one registered nurse for eight consecutive hours per day and one registered nurse and one enrolled nurse for the remaining shifts, but minimum staffing standards vary by state [139]. Nursing homes that receive Medicare and/or Medicaid funding for residents must meet the federal certification standards of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) and nurse staffing ratios [140]. Many states have staffing standards that are stricter than the federal guidelines; however, 35% of states do not require training for personal care assistants [50, 141].

State governments are responsible for the licensing and quality regulation of LTC services; however, they follow a set of uniform minimum national standards. The federal government is responsible for determining reimbursement of services and quality conditions must be met for services to receive these benefits. The Resident Assessment Instrument (RAI) Minimum Data Set (MDS) is used to monitor care plans and quality outcomes for residential facilities. Facilities are required to collect and publicly report this data [142].

# Nations with minimally developed LTC systems for older people

The developing nations named below have quite different demographics and economy to Australia (see Figure 4), with a much lower proportion of older people in the population and also a much lower GDP per capita. These countries have quite undeveloped LTC systems and a heavily reliance on informal care for older people in need of LTC, funded by families out-of-pocket [143-146]. In Brazil and Vietnam, legislation states that the main provider of LTC for older people is the family [146, 147]. Government-funded LTC is often only available for those who are impoverished and without family [146, 147]. Generally these nations have only a few private institutional or home care services available to the minority who are wealthy enough to be able to afford them [146]. Similarly, only those in formal employment and with greater means can afford contributions for private insurance schemes [148]. For some nations, little information is publicly available in English on the detailed structure of the aged care or LTC system.

# Vietnam

In Vietnam, approximately three quarters of people aged 60 and over in a rural setting live with their children [48]. The Law on the Elderly, which has been in effect since 2010, requires that families take the prime responsibility for the care of older people. Other people can also be authorised to take care of older people on behalf of the children. There are no home care or informal care supports [147]. Family caregivers are not entitled to any benefits, except in special circumstances. Older persons who are poor, are without close family and have no retirement pension can be provided with social assistance payments; however the number of beneficiaries is limited. There are 182 local social protection centres providing free support for just over 40,000 older people without dependents [149]. Due to the lack of availability of

these centres, the government provides incentive payments for volunteer primary caregivers in the community to care for older persons who are unable to live in the community and are poor with no close family. Social assistance payments are provided to both the care recipient and the voluntary caregiver [147].

The responsibility for quality assurance rests at a federal level with the Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs. Responsibilities include prescribing professional standards for and training of care workers; however training is not mandated. Staffing ratios are mandated within residential care for caregivers (1:8–10 for low-level care, 1:3–4 for high-level care) and for nutrition staff (1:20 for food purchasers and cooks) [147]. Institutions are required to submit annual reports to the federal authority. Whilst these residential care centres are highly regulated, they are not available widely; there were approximately 36% public, 36% NGOs or religious providers, and 27% private, of which 82% were licensed, in 2015–2016 [147].

# Indonesia

In Indonesia in 2015, there was no public coverage for LTC and no LTC insurance system [150, 151]. The responsibility for LTC comes under the coordination of the Ministry of Health, with delivery through the Ministry of Social Affairs and the National Board of Population and Family Planning [150]. The country spent around 0.1% of GDP on LTC prior to 2010 [151].

Indonesia has a strong emphasis on the provision of LTC at the family and community level. The government has legislated that local communities must make community health services available to older Indonesians [152]. In 2016, the country launched the National Strategic Plan for the Elderly, which made *puskesmas* (state-funded community health centres) the main provider of health care and LTC for older people [152]. Laws dictate that the widespread community health posts (*posyandu*) provide free health check-ups, organised peer groups and social activities for older people [152]. However, the minimum requirements for provision are not met at many centres. The government encourages an integrated service at the local level through these health posts, aiming to identify early malnutrition and other health problems through the involvement of volunteers in managing a monthly check-up and health education. Community leadership is needed to provide these services. Service provision is dependent upon local government, volunteers without specific qualifications and local leadership. There is often religious involvement. However, skills limitations pose a challenge for LTC at these centres [150], as does lack of volunteers and difficulties for older people in accessing transport to centres.

Some outreach nursing services for those living at home are provided, to a limited extent [153]. Private providers have begun to offer nursing and home care services to people who can afford this [153]. Residential aged care in Indonesia is highly limited and only a few private organisations provide institutional LTC [150, 153]. There is little available information on these.

Home-based LTC care is predominantly provided by informal caregivers and it is a cultural expectation that family members become informal carers of older people [153, 154]. Some home care programs have been developed at the local level where skilled caregivers provide assistance in both basic and instrumental ADLs [153]. These are well conducted if the local integration of health and social services is good. Volunteers also provide LTC for older people who live alone and do not have family [150]. In some regions, these volunteers receive a small stipend for transport from NGOs and/or from the local government [150]. Respite care is not available [153].

Training programs for informal carers are very limited. Funding is cooperative and at the local level, posing a challenge in remote areas and resistance from some caregivers without training. Strengths of the family-based LTC are the low costs and acceptance by family and community [150].

# Central and South America

Mexico relies on informal support as the mainstay of LTC, with a few available NGOs and private for-profit providers [143]. The National Population Council, CONAPO, estimated that 73% of the Mexican population over 60 years of age was living with close relatives in 2000 [155]. There is no publicly funded LTC system and no benefits available for informal carers [8, 143, 156]. There is also no publicly funded care, no registration of LTC institutions and few trained LTC workers [143]. A small proportion of the population access private LTC insurance schemes.

Brazil provides some residential care for older people without family [146]. Less than one per cent of the population in need of LTC are using institutions.

Argentina has almost ten per cent of the population of Argentina aged 60 or over dependent upon LTC services, but there was no clear government LTC system as of 2015 [146]. Only 2.9% of older people live in some type of residential care including adapted housing. There is limited access to residential or home care services for those older people in need who are impoverished to the level of having insufficient funds for survival. A few religious organisations provide services. Private schemes are estimated to cover no more than eight per cent of older people with higher incomes. There are no regulations covering LTC workers.

# Sub-Saharan Africa

In Sub-Saharan Africa, there is generally little support or training for families providing informal care [157].

Institutional care is relatively new and often not available in Ghana [157]. In 2010, Ghana introduced a National Ageing Policy; however there had been little implementation by 2017 [158]. It has been stated that cash-for-care may exacerbate existing inequalities [157].

Kenya had only approximately 16 LTC facilities in 2017 and the main providers are religious organisations [145]. These institutions are not regulated by the state [148]. Pilot cash transfer schemes were introduced in 2006 [159], with "positive outcomes" in first phase of implementation [160].

South Africa also provides little publicly funded LTC and only a small portion of those who need support receive any. There is little support for informal caregivers. Residential care is provided mainly by NGOs or religious organisations, and only 2% by government [161]. Though South Africa has standards that outline acceptable levels of service [161, 162], audits have found many facilities to be partially non-compliant. The WHO states that quality of care is uncertain and LTC workers lack training [162].

# Other considerations in quality regulation and assurance

# Donabedian model of healthcare quality assessment

Until recently, in Australia quality regulation has been focused on process, i.e. how care is delivered. In July 2019, new quality standards with more focus on the outcomes of care were introduced by the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission for all Commonwealth Government–subsidised services [163]. Data on quality indicators such as pressure injuries, use of physical restraints and unplanned weight loss are now required to be reported to the Department of Health and will be made publicly available [163].

More recently, standardised interviews with consumers have been included in accreditation audits and consumer experience reports are now publicly available [18]. Organisations can provide evidence that they are meeting the standards based on consumers' views to quality assessors from the commission, and providers must provide a statement of outcome for each care recipient [164].

Several countries have included care recipient outcomes into quality regulation. In general, this is in addition to quality assessment based on structure and/or process measures. Examples include:

a) Canada, New Zealand and the USA have included interRAI assessments (a standardised multidimensional clinical assessment) to varying degrees in the regulatory approach. The USA introduced use of mandatory reporting of outcomes data in residential care in 1987 with implementation of the Minimum Data Set (MDS) [142]. The introduction of this monitoring and reporting has been said to lead to improvements in these quality indicators over time [142]. New Zealand is the first country to mandate the use of interRAI assessments in both residential and community aged care [165]. The interRAI takes a clinical approach and includes a range of assessments such as function, mobility, communication ability, behaviour and physical restraint use. In Ontario, Canada, quality inspectors also interview

residents, staff and family members, review resident health information and directly observe the provision of care [84].

- b) In the Netherlands, quality indicators have a strong emphasis on care recipient experiences obtained from questionnaires, including items addressing quality of life such as daytime activities, reliability of caregivers and the quality of the provider including the availability of professionals [166]. There is also emphasis on indicators of quality and safety including prevalence of ulcers, antipsychotic and restraint use, and behavioural problems.
- c) In Singapore, providers are required to submit information on care recipient function (the Modified Barthel Index) in both home and residential care, plus information from client satisfaction surveys in home care [167, 168]. Function is to be measured at least every six months.
- d) In the Republic of Korea, care homes are evaluated every three years by the Korean Ministry of Health and Welfare as part of a publicly available rating of the quality of all care homes [169]. This evaluation includes a rating of quality based on six items relating to care outcomes, considering the residents' satisfaction with the home, their improvement in function and dependency levels and health [169]. The Republic of Korea specifically includes assessment of the number of residents in institutional care with an improvement of function (activities of daily living) in the first 6 months.
- e) In England, regulation had previously focused on structural and procedural aspects of care [93]. However, currently the Care Quality Commission is emphasising consumer views [170]. Ratings from inspection reports are publicly available and inspections include a focus on observing care and whether the care service is effective. Inspection teams may include "Experts by Experience" who are either care recipients or family carers.

An emerging approach is to encourage clinical quality registers which are relevant to older people living in residential aged care. Sweden has comparatively few regulations for quality assurance but nevertheless is considered to deliver a high quality of LTC services [22, 171]. Sweden has a strong emphasis on user satisfaction through publicly available surveys and ratings [22, 171]. These have been criticised due to low participation, particularly from residents in institutional care [171]. However, Sweden has a large number of registers and surveys that are not necessarily aged care specific but include LTC users. These report on items such as inappropriate drug use and polypharmacy, satisfaction with home help services and whether staff in residential care have sufficient time to provide care [171]. They include Senior Alert (giving information on falls, pressure areas, and malnutrition) a Dementia Registry and a Palliative Care Register. Data on these outcomes are publicly available to consumers through open comparisons [172]. In addition, the registers allow academic groups to examine care delivered (e.g. for dementia or drug prescription) against clinically agreed standards. Uniquely, South Australia has a register of all older people who receive an ACAT – the Register of Senior Australians (ROSA). A strength of this register is it is a clinical register

that has independent governance. However, at present it is not leveraged for quality assurance activities.

#### Human rights

Many older people in need of LTC live in residential care and this is usually their final home. Often residents and families report a lack of control, choice and voice [173]. Legislation and regulatory control do not appear to be sufficient to guarantee quality of care and this is a challenge internationally. It has been stated that securing consistent high-quality local implementation of regulations set by a distant central government can be more problematic than implementation of locally developed regulations [173]. There is no international human rights convention for the rights of older people, although a United Nations treaty has been proposed [174]. Dementia Alliance International has recently made a submission on human rights for people living with dementia to the United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities [175]. Incorporation of the principles of human rights into aged care standards is an approach to the regulation of LTC quality that some nations have taken in an attempt to improve quality of care. Key examples of such approaches are outlined below.

- In Ontario, Canada, the Long-Term Care Act 2007 includes the Residents' Bill of Rights and a guide to the Act indicates how the principles are linked to regulation [176]. The Act also includes principles on minimising physical restraints and having an interdisciplinary program of restorative care to maximise the independence of residents to the greatest extent possible. The Act refers to changed behaviour as "responsive behaviours", a recognition that changed behaviours often indicate an unmet need. The Act also emphasises a holistic approach to assessment. The regulations outline approaches to care including identification of behavioural triggers, additional training for direct care staff to manage responsive behaviours, and that guidance on responding to behaviour must be provided in orientation for volunteers.
- In Japan, there is specific human rights protection legislation for older people, including prohibition of physical restraints in residential care as a condition for a facility to be certified for the public LTC insurance [97]. A guidebook for "Zero Physical Restraint Movement" states that physical restraints are a violation of human rights and outlines physical restraints that are prohibited, including the use of mittens and overdosing on psychotropic drugs (see Box 1). However physical restraints can be used when three conditions are proven: (a) that lives are threatened, (b) that no other option is suitable, and (c) that the restraint use is temporary. LTC insurance payments can be reduced if a care home uses physical restraints without documentation. Enforcement of this is reliant on audits of documentation, not observations. Japan also has a national day to honour older people [97].

**Box 1.** Physical restraint procedures prohibited in Japanese facilities certified for LTC insurance [97].

- Tying a person to a wheelchair/bed to prevent wandering
- Tying a person to a bed for fall prevention
- Using siderails to keep a person in bed
- Tying limbs to prevent a person from pulling out IV/feeding tubes
- Applying mittens to prevent a person pulling out IV/feeding tubes or tearing skin
- Restricting a person with belts or tray tables to prevent from sliding or rising from a (wheel) chair
- Using a chair to prevent a person from being able to stand up
- Using overalls over clothing to impeded removal of clothes/diapers
- Tying a person to a bed to prevent them from causing trouble to others
- Giving an overdose of psychotropic drugs to reduce excitement
- Locking a person in a room
- England also has a human-rights-based approach to aged care regulation [11]. Many stakeholders including the Equalities and Human Rights Commission were involved in the design of the regulation standards in the *Care Act* in England [11]. Rights are incorporated into the care system through the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and the *Mental Capacity Act 2005* [11].
- In the USA, the Nursing Home Reform Law includes a set of basic rights for people in care, including the right to exercise self-determination, to participate in review of their care plan, to "voice grievances without discrimination or reprisal" and the right to freedom from physical restraints [177]. Nursing homes are also required to provide a

"home-like environment; meeting the needs and desires of residents in terms of waking up and going to sleep, dining, dressing, bathing, etc.; and promoting care for residents in a manner and in an environment that maintains or enhances each resident's dignity and respect". [177]

 In the Republic of Korea, the public evaluation of care homes by the Korean Ministry of Health and Welfare includes a rating of quality. This is based on ten items relating to human rights and accountability, including considering whether care workers respect and acknowledge residents' human rights and if the home is managed ethically [166].

In Australia, a Charter of Residents' Rights and Responsibilities has been recently replaced in July 2019 by a new Charter of Aged Care Rights, following a period of public consultation [178]. These rights are quite high-level and do not include statements as explicit as some of the examples outlined above. In Australia, the charter is not formally linked to any legislative requirements [11].

# 5. Comparisons of quantitative measures

# **Demographics of the older population**

The relative need for LTC for older people is closely linked to national demographics, i.e. the relative age profile of different countries. The incidence rate of dementia is age specific, with the incidence rate increasing with age [3]. In Australia, the incidence of dementia within the population accessing aged care may be falling [179]. However, the prevalence of people living with dementia will continue to rise due to the aging population and this is likely to drive an increasing demand for LTC [3]. Estimates of dementia prevalence by global region indicate that the age standardised prevalence of dementia for those aged 60 and over in Australasia is 6.9%, which is similar to Western Europe and North America [3]. The age-standardised prevalence of dementia in South East Asia is not dissimilar. Central and Eastern Europe and Sub-Saharan Africa have lower standardised prevalence rates but Latin America has a higher standardised prevalence [3]. Differences in the age structure of the population (Figure 3) will also drive differences in the absolute numbers of the population with dementia requiring LTC support across nations. For example, in Sub-Saharan African nations there is both a lower standardised prevalence and low proportion of the population that is older, so the absolute number of people living with dementia will be low in comparison to other nations.

Figure 3 presents the proportion of people aged 65 years and over, and 80 years and over, across a range of countries. In Australia in 2017, people aged 65 years and over made up 15.5% of the overall population, and people aged 80 years and over made up 3.9% of the overall population. This was similar to many other developed countries, including the USA, New Zealand, the Netherlands, Denmark and Canada. In all these countries the proportion of people aged 80 years and over has been rising (see Appendix 3) and is likely to continue increasing over time. Japan, Germany, Switzerland and Sweden are examples of countries where the need for aged care is already relatively high. The lowest proportions are observed in Kenya, South Africa and Indonesia.



Figure 3. Proportion of people aged 65 years and over, and 80 years and over

Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT,</u> <u>https://population.un.org/wpp/DataQuery/</u> and <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators</u>

The proportion of people aged 80 years or over is closely linked to a country's GDP per capita (Figure 4). Japan is an outlier, with a relatively low GDP per capita for the size of its older population. At the other end of the spectrum, Singapore has a relatively young population with a large GDP per capita. Australia most closely resembles Canada, Denmark and the Netherlands, but is also similar to New Zealand, the UK, the USA and Poland in terms of its age structure, with a similar GDP per capita to Canada, Germany and Sweden. Due to similarities in terms of demography and resources, these countries may provide useful comparisons to Australia. Notably, Germany has a similar GDP per capita to Australia, but its share of the population aged 80 years and over is almost 50% larger.



Figure 4. Percentage aged 80 years and over against GDP per capita (current USA\$, 2016)

from <a href="https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT">https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT</a>, <a href="development-indicators">development-indicators</a> and <a href="https://population.un.org/wpp/DataQuery/">https://population.un.org/wpp/DataQuery/</a>

6 May 2019 https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-

# **Recipients of long-term care**

# Formal care

Figure 5 shows the proportion of people who are recipients of formal LTC (of any type), by age group.

In general, Australia appears to provide a moderate level of coverage compared with other nations. Switzerland provides LTC to a relatively high proportion of people aged 65 and over (> 20%) and 80 and over (> 50%). Switzerland, Sweden, New Zealand, the Netherlands and Denmark all have more than 40% of people 80 and over receiving some form of LTC; in Australia the rate is 33.6%. Notably, Denmark and the Netherlands achieve this despite only having a slightly higher GDP per capita than Australia but also a slightly older population (see Figure 4).

Coverage of the population does not capture the comprehensiveness or adequacy of the level of care for those in the LTC system [8]. Some nations such as Sweden may provide broad coverage with limited levels of care through public funds, and those who can supplement this with additional support through private services can obtain a higher level of care [22]. Switzerland also has a reliance on private financing (see Chapter 4, page 28). This may be reflected in the number of care workers per care recipient and in the share of LTC expenditure paid out-of-pocket.





Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from <a href="https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT">https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT</a>

Figure 6 and Figure 7 show the proportion of LTC recipients who are in institutions and at home, respectively. Compared to other countries, Australia has a relatively high proportion (around 45%) of LTC recipients in residential care, and this proportion is even higher among those aged 65 and over, and aged 80 and over. The corollary of this observation is that most other countries support a greater number of their LTC recipients in non-residential programs, i.e. through home and community care. The differences in these proportions may be exacerbated by the exclusion of CHSP recipients receiving assistance only for IADLs; however Australia's high use of institutional aged care relative to other nations is also apparent in the percentages of the older population receiving LTC in institutions (Figure 8).

The lowest rate of institutional-based care is observed in Japan, where only 25% of LTC recipients are in an institution; however, this may be understated as the distinction between institutional care and community-based care in Japan may be less clear [100].





Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT



#### Figure 7. Percentage of LTC recipients at home (2016)

Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT\_



Figure 8. Percentage of older population receiving LTC in institutions

Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT

# Informal care

Information on the use of informal care for selected countries is provided in Figure 9. The rate of informal care in Australia appears higher than other OECD countries with similar age structures; Denmark and the Netherlands provide the lowest rates of informal care. In comparison, the majority of LTC in the nations with less developed LTC systems, Vietnam and Mexico, is provided by informal care.





Source: Kraus et al. [1]; Cullen [6]; Note: Mexico: estimated in 2000, 73% of population  $\geq$  60 years lived with close relatives [155]. Vietnam: approx. 75% rural people  $\geq$  60 lived with their children [48].

# Expenditure

Figure 10 presents the 2015 expenditure on the health component of LTC paid by government or compulsory insurance schemes, plus social expenditure on old age as benefits in kind as a proportion of GDP. Cash benefits provided for LTC for the aged are not captured.

The Netherlands, Japan, Denmark and Sweden spend between 3 and 5% of their GDP on LTC. The lowest expenditure is by Poland and Korea. Singapore's expenditure on LTC has also been reported to be very low (0.1% GDP in 2014 [124]); however the comparability of this figure to the OECD data reported in Figure 10 is uncertain.

Australia's overall expenditure on these components of LTC including social care for the aged is 1.2% of GDP. This appears similar to Germany's expenditure and higher than the USA. However, Germany's expenditure may be underestimated as these data may not capture the cash benefits in the German system. Only USA institutional expenditure may be captured in these OECD expenditure figures [50]. Social LTC benefits in the form of in-kind expenditure for aged care were not reported for Canada or Poland.

The data on the provision of LTC workers and infrastructure across different countries in this report also reflect national expenditure on LTC.



Figure 10. Expenditure on LTC for older people as a percentage of GDP (2015)

Source: Data extracted on 15 September 2019 from OECD.stat. Includes health components of LTC expenditure and social expenditure on old age benefits in kind<sup>iii</sup>. Social expenditure as old aged benefits in kind not reported for Canada or Poland. Germany reports zero expenditure as benefits in kind. Expenditure for the USA may only include institutional care [50].

Figure 11 shows that, amongst Western nations with generally similar demographic profiles (e.g. Germany, Australia, USA, Netherlands; see Figure 3), there is little relationship between government expenditure on LTC and the national age dependency ratio. There is also little relationship between the dependency ratio and GDP per capita for these nations (see Appendix 3, Figure 26). Japan has a high dependency ratio relative to the proportion of GDP spend on LTC. Poland and Korea have both lower dependency ratios and lower government expenditure on LTC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iii</sup> This approach excludes cash benefits for LTC for the aged, thus is likely to under-estimate expenditure for nations providing cash benefits (see Appendix 2, Table 4 to Table 6), including Germany, the USA, Canada and England.



Figure 11. LTC government expenditure (2015, %GDP) versus age dependency ratio

Figure 12 shows the relationship between government expenditure on LTC and the proportion of the older population receiving LTC. While generally, countries with a high use of LTC also have high expenditure, there is some variation around the trend line. Japan spends a relatively high proportion of GDP for its number of older LTC recipients, and Switzerland spends relatively less considering the size of its LTC population. Switzerland's lower expenditure may have been achieved by providing a high proportion of formal LTC for recipients at home (see Figure 7) and significant private financing (discussed in Chapter 4, page 28). Similar patterns are also observed when considering expenditure against LTC recipients of all ages or for the population over 65 years (see Appendix 3, Figure 27 and Figure 28), with Switzerland spending comparatively less and Japan comparably more than other nations.

Note: data are shown as the proportion of dependents per 100 working-age population, 2016. Source: GDP data extracted on 15 September 2019 from OECD.Stat (expenditure) and 6 May 2019 for ade dependency ratio from https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators. Expenditure includes health components of LTC expenditure and social expenditure on old age benefits in kind. Social expenditure as old aged benefits in kind not reported for Canada or Poland. Germany reports zero expenditure as benefits in kind.



Figure 12. Government expenditure on LTC against LTC recipients (80 years and over)

Source: Data extracted on 15 Sept 2019 from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT.</u> Expenditure includes health components of LTC expenditure and social expenditure on old age benefits in kind. Social expenditure as old aged benefits in kind not reported for Canada or Poland. Germany reports zero expenditure as benefits in kind.

# LTC workforce

As with some of the earlier data, there is some uncertainty about the degree of comparability of the LTC workforce data between countries. Australian data collection uses a different methodology to other countries and estimates and may not capture agency and other indirectly employed staff. Non-nurse care workers in many countries (including Australia) are not registered so the accounting for them is likely to be variable.

#### Institutional care

Figure 13 and Figure 14 show a fairly direct relationship between the number of LTC workers and care recipients in institutions across most countries. **Australia, along with Japan, Korea and Germany, appears to have numbers of total workers at the lower end of the range when compared with other countries**. Nations that appear to have higher levels of staffing per care recipient in institutional care include the USA, Denmark and to a lesser extent New Zealand and Switzerland. These observations on headcounts of LTC workers were generally reflected in the data available for FTE staffing in institutions (see Appendix 3, Figure 29); however it becomes more apparent that Australia may have lower levels of staffing per care recipient than other nations when FTE data are considered.

The number of nurses in institutions relative to the number of recipients in Australia also appears at the lower end of the range compared to other nations (Figure 14). The USA, Germany and Switzerland appear to employ a greater number of nurses in institutional settings (Figure 14). In Germany and Switzerland in particular, nurses are likely to make up a greater proportion of the total workforce. Canada has slightly more nurses per head of population for fewer care recipients, i.e. also a higher relative level of staffing than Australia.





Source: LTC recipient data extracted 6 May 2019 on from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH STAT. Formal LTC worker values calculated based on data https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT extracted from 6 2019 on Mav and https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators





Source: LTC recipient data extracted on 6 May 2019 from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT.</u> Nurses working in institutional care values calculated based on data extracted on 6 May 2019 from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT</u> and <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.</u>

#### Home care

As described under "Care recipients" (Chapter 3), data on home care recipients generally exclude people who only need assistance with instrumental activities of daily living such as shopping and cleaning, although adherence to this definition between nations is variable.

The number of total LTC workers in Australia providing home care appears similar to most other nations at the national level (Figure 15). These data on headcounts are generally reflected in the data available on FTE workers (Appendix 3, Figure 29 and Figure 30). Germany, Canada and Switzerland appear to provide a lower number of total workers per recipient in home care. The data for Switzerland and Canada may be understated due to the inclusion of some recipients of informal care. Switzerland also includes recipients of support for IADLs alone in addition to ADLs.

The number of nurses providing home care in Australia appears low, along with Korea, New Zealand and Canada, in comparison to many other nations (Figure 16), though Canada may be understated due to the inclusion of some recipients of informal care at home and New Zealand may be understated by the inclusion of recipients of IADL services. Germany and Switzerland appear to have high levels of nurse staffing in home care despite having low

numbers of total workers compared with other nations. Denmark also has a relatively high level of total workforce and nurses in home care settings.

The number of nurses in relation to recipients is lower in Australia than in the USA. The USA and Australia appear to have comparable data as both exclude recipients of IADL services from the home care recipient data.

Japan provides the greatest total number of care workers in home care, but a moderate number of nurses (Figure 15 and Figure 16). Care workers are registered in Japan so the count of the number of care workers may be more complete. Data from Japan may include some double counting of recipients.





2019 Source: LTC recipient data extracted on 6 May from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT. Formal\_LTC worker values calculated based on data from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT extracted 6 May 2019 and on https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.



# Figure 16. Number of nurses working in LTC with respect to number of recipients of LTC, home care settings

I TC extracted 6 2019 Source: recipient data on May from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT. Nurses working in home care values calculated based on 2019 data extracted on 6 May from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT and https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.

# Interpretation of LTC workforce data

Across the whole LTC sector, Australia employs a roughly comparable number of workers to many of the other nations examined, particularly when taking into account the proportion of GDP spent on LTC. However, when examining the data in more detail by setting and level of qualifications of staffing, other observations can be made.

Although comparability of data is uncertain, Australia appears to provide lower levels of staffing overall in residential care in comparison to the USA, Denmark, New Zealand, Switzerland and Germany. Australia also appears to provide lower levels of nurses in relation to care recipients in residential settings than the USA, Canada, Germany and Switzerland.

Thus, the USA appears to provide higher levels of total staffing and nurses in relation to the number of care recipients in institutional settings. The USA mandates nurse-to-resident ratios and requirements vary by state, with many states having higher standards. Nevertheless, it has been argued that staffing standards in the USA are still inadequate for quality care [180].

The number of nurses providing home care in Australia appears low in comparison to many other nations. Australia appears to employ a lower number of nurses for the number of care recipients than the USA in home care settings. Nations with higher levels of staffing in home care settings include Japan and Denmark. Germany and Switzerland provide a high proportion of their home care workforce as nurses.

There is some uncertainty about the comparability of national data for the LTC workforce. Australian data obtained from the OECD statistics database are derived using a different methodology to other countries and estimates and may not capture agency and other indirectly employed staff.<sup>iv</sup>

# **Quality of care indicators**

Overprescribing of antipsychotics in aged care, particularly for residents with dementia in residential aged care, has been widely reported and prescribing rates may be a useful indicator of quality of aged care [181-186]. These drugs are associated with a significant risk of harm and, when prescribed to people living with dementia, they should be confined to use for severe changed behaviours that cause significant distress [184, 187, 188].

Antipsychotic drugs are generally considered potentially inappropriate medications when prescribed to older people [188]. At a population level, antipsychotics are prescribed appropriately for some conditions in older people, including schizophrenia and bipolar disorder and severe behavioural symptoms of dementia that endanger the person with dementia or others. However in Australia the prevalence of psychotic illness in people aged over 65 is 3 per 1000 [189], whereas the rate of antipsychotic prescribing at a population level is in the order of tenfold greater (see Appendix 4, Table 7).

The proportion of the population over 65 years of age with a prescription of antipsychotics is summarised in Figure 17. Whilst these prescriptions cannot be assumed to be all related to the management of dementia, nor specifically for those receiving LTC, in general the prescription rate in older people in Australia does not appear dissimilar to levels reported in other nations.

Large variation in the reporting methods hamper attempts to undertake comparisons of antipsychotic rates between countries, including the setting of the population (e.g. LTC vs institutional), population characteristics (e.g. with or without dementia, age), time period (ranging from one to a few days to 3 months) and type of antipsychotics (i.e. any, atypical, conventional). Ideally values should also be adjusted for case mix differences across countries, as undertaken in reported rates of antipsychotic use in institutions in the SHELTER study [190]. Noting these caveats, the rates of prescribing of antipsychotics in residential care in an aged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> The national data available reflect head counts of those employed directly by service providers receiving government funding, and do not indicate either on-shift ratios or the levels of staffing operationalised by individual providers.

population appear to be approximately 20–25% across a range of countries including Australia, the USA and Sweden (see Appendix 4, Table 7).



Figure 17. Number of people per 1000, aged 65 years or over with at least one prescription for antipsychotics, 2015 (or nearest year)

Data were also collected on falls and pressure ulcers for a number of countries (see Appendix 4, Table 8 and Table 9). Again, these were reported as a range of different measures and in different populations so the usefulness of these measures to enable cross-country comparisons was limited. In general data available on falls did not always clearly differentiate whether they represented the rate of falls (number of falls per unit time in care) or risk of falling (number of people falling). In some cases, the data were simply described as number of falls but reported as a percentage, making it unclear what outcome measure was used. Standard organisational reporting systems may not always provide data linked to individuals to allow determination of the percentage of people falling.

Data available on pressure ulcers again varied in terms of data collection and reporting methodology. Some countries provided data on pressure ulcer risk (New Zealand) whereas others estimated the prevalence of pressure ulcers of different severities (i.e. Canada vs the USA). The time period over which the pressure ulcer prevalence was measured also varied from a point prevalence (Sweden) to a rolling four-quarter average (Canada). In the SHELTER study, the lowest reported prevalence at study baseline was for Finland at 4.8% and the highest for the Czech Republic at 15.8% [53]. The prevalence for England, Germany and the Netherlands were similar at approximately 10% (Appendix 4, Table 9).

Arguably the most comprehensive and relevant indicator is resident-reported quality of life, with other indicators being measures of safety. Whilst some population-level measures for quality of life (as population norms) in an older population at a national level were identified

Source: OECD, Health at a Glance 2017 [50]

for a number of countries including the UK, USA, Denmark and the Netherlands [191-194], equivalent measures were not identified for Australia so these measures are only presented in summary form in Appendix 4 (Table 10) as they do not provide an informative comparison.

Emotional distress may reflect components of quality of life. The proportion of older adults with emotional distress in the previous two years is shown in Figure 18; these data are from a Canadian Commonwealth telephone survey of 22,913 people aged 65 and over from 11 countries, including 2,500 from Australia [195]. The proportion of older Australians experiencing emotional distress was higher than that reported for other nations in the survey, including in those with high needs; however, the cause of this cannot be determined. Forty per cent of the subgroup of respondents who were classified as high need (having three or more chronic conditions and/or functional limitations) reported experiencing emotional distress, in comparison to a range of 15% from Sweden to 37% from the Netherlands. This subgroup is likely to represent the population within, or in need of, LTC support.

Within the same survey, 29% of older Australians reported needing help with ADLs due to their health (the highest percentage among the nations), with other countries ranging from the UK at 20% to Germany at 10% [196]. Australia also had the second highest percentage (39%) of respondents classified as having high needs; other countries ranged from Norway, New Zealand and Switzerland at 24% to 43% in the USA. Australian respondents also had the highest percentage of those with high needs (a population likely to be receiving or in need of LTC) reporting dissatisfaction with the quality of health care in the previous 12 months (41% in comparison to the range of 21% from Switzerland to 38% from Canada). Australia was the second highest (13%) for the percentage of older people who experienced costrelated problems of access to health care in the previous year (other countries ranged from 3% in Sweden to 23% in the USA). For those with high needs, Australia was also second behind the USA for economic difficultly accessing health care. Nineteen per cent of Australians experienced cost barriers to receiving health care (range from 2% for Sweden to 31% for the USA) and 26% of Australians experienced economic vulnerability (range from 6% in Sweden to 32% in the USA). Many of these factors may contribute to the high levels of emotional distress reported in the Australian participants. Australia was in the mid-range for the proportion of older adults who lived alone and felt socially isolated (Australia 10%, with the range being Germany at 4% to France at 15%).



Figure 18. Emotional distress in those 65 years and over

Source: Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of Seniors 2017 [195]
# 6. Typology results

This chapter presents the results of applying the typology defined in Chapter 3 to the selected countries. The purpose of the typology is to distil key features of the national LTC systems for older people, making the similarities and differences between these systems easier to understand.

# Financing and organisation

The typology scores reflect "consumer friendliness", with a score of 1 reflecting a system that is least preferred by care recipients and a score of 3 reflecting a score that is most preferable [1].

- means-tested access: whether the level of access to publicly funded LTC services is means-tested
  - o 3: no means-testing
  - 2: means tested access in home-based care only
  - 1: means-tested access to both institutional and home care
- entitlement: whether or not all people assessed as eligible have an entitlement to services, or whether services may not be provided despite eligibility, for example due to budget constraints
  - o 3: entitlement in both institutional and home care
  - 2: entitlement in either institutional or home care
  - o 1: no entitlement
- cash benefits: whether or not cash benefits to care recipients or carers are available to purchase services, reflecting freedom of choice for care recipients
  - o 3: cash benefits in both institutional and home care
  - 2: cash benefits in either institutional or home care
  - o 1: no cash benefits
- choice of provider:
  - $\circ$   $\$  3: free choice in both institutional and home care
  - $\circ$   $\,$  2: no provider choice in institutional care, free choice in home care
  - $\circ$  1: no provider choice in institutional or home care
- quality assurance: whether or not there is mandatory quality assurance in both home care and institutional care
  - $\circ$  3: mandatory quality assurance in both institutional and home care
  - o 2: mandatory quality assurance in either institutional or home care
  - 1: no mandatory quality assurance

- quality of coordination between LTC and other services (including health)
  - 3: coordination is rather good, although there may be some challenge for the individual
  - 2: rather poor coordination, which often poses challenges for care recipients
  - $\circ$   $\,$  1: very poor coordination which poses regular or severe challenges  $\,$
- cost-sharing: whether or not care recipients provide substantial financial contributions for institutional and/or home care services, in additional to informal care (e.g. an accommodation charge for institutional care recipients in Australia)
  - 3: cost sharing in institutional care only
  - 2: cost sharing in institutional and home care but not for home nursing care
  - 1: cost sharing for all of these.

The typology characteristics with scored values for organisation and financing of LTC are presented in Table 2 and as radar graphs in the figures that follow, which help to highlight the differences and similarities between countries. The upper-left of each radar contains the characteristics most relevant to system financing; the lower-left contains the characteristics about LTC quality and integration with other services; and to the right are the characteristics pertaining to LTC access.

Table 2. Typology for international LTC for older people financing and organisation; typology score reflects consumer friendliness: 1 = lowest,3 = highest

Characteristic	Australia	Canada <sup>e</sup>	Denmark	England	Germany	Japan	Kore a	Netherlands	New Zealand	Polan d	Singapor e	Sweden	Switzer- land	USA
Means-tested access	3	2	3	1	3	3	3	3	3	1	1	3	3	1
Entitlement to formal care/home care	3ª	2	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	1	3
Availability of cash benefits	1	2	1 <sup>b</sup>	2	2	1	2 <sup>c</sup>	2	1	2	3	1 <sup>d</sup>	3	2
Recipients choose provider	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Quality assurance	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	3	3	3
Quality of coordination between LTC and other services	2	2	3	2	2	3	2	2	3	2	2	3	3	2
Formal care recipients have cost sharing	2	2	3	2	3	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Total Score	17	16	19	15	19	18	17	17	17	14	15	17	17	15

<sup>a</sup> For home care packages, although all are entitled, recipients may be placed on wait lists and do not necessarily receive packages in a timely manner.

<sup>b</sup> Family members can be approved and employed by the local municipality as a home care worker.

<sup>c</sup>Cash benefits available but infrequently provided.

<sup>d</sup> Some availability of cash benefits but plays a minimal role. In some municipalities family members can be approved and employed by the local municipality as a home care worker.

<sup>e</sup> There is large variation between provinces; information predominantly based on Ontario.

The typology scores are presented graphically in Figure 19 to Figure 22, to visualise countries with similar approaches to LTC.

Figure 19 shows there is a trio of countries (Poland, Singapore and USA) with the lowest levels of access and highest reliance on consumer spending. All countries in Figure 19 require means testing to access publicly funded LTC services and require cost sharing in both home and residential care. This indicates that they have a higher level of consumer spending than the remaining countries, as a larger proportion of residents will need to rely on out-of-pocket costs to fund LTC services. In all countries, recipients are able to choose providers and have entitlement to care; however, this access to publicly funded services is limited to those who fall below a means-tested threshold, indicating that the remaining population who require LTC services rely on private funding. Poland, Singapore and USA do not lean towards a preference in quality and integration of LTC services. They have mid-level scores on both quality of coordination and quality assurance in comparison to the remaining countries. Poland received the lowest score of 13. Government expenditure on LTC in these countries is 0.5% of GDP (Poland 0.4% and USA 0.6%, data not available for Singapore but is likely to be similar or lower; see Chapter 4, page 26).



#### Figure 19. Countries with lowest access and highest reliance on consumer spending

Figure 20 presents countries with the lowest level of access but only a mid-level (as opposed to high in Figure 19) reliance on consumer spending. Similarly to the countries presented in Figure 19, Canada and England have low levels of access. Both countries limit access to publicly funded care with means testing and have limits on entitlement to care based on the available budget. Unlike the countries in Figure 19, however, recipients of care in Canada and England do not have cost sharing, meaning the reliance on consumer spending is not as high

as in those countries in Figure 19. This is also reflected in Canada's and England's government expenditure on LTC. On average they spend 1.4% of their GDP on LTC (1.3% for Canada, 1.5% for England/United Kingdom). Canada and England have mid to high levels of quality regulation and integration, both having regulation of quality in home and residential care and mid-level coordination of LTC services with the health system.



Figure 20. Countries with lowest access and mid-level reliance on consumer spending

Australia is part of a group of countries, comprising half (7 of 14) of the countries assessed, presented in Figure 21. Countries in this category have the highest scores for access, but only mid- to high-level reliance on consumer spending. Australia, Korea, the Netherlands and Japan have the highest level of access to LTC services. Recipients in all countries have entitlement to care, are not means tested for access to care and can choose the type of provider.

Despite the high levels of access to care, these countries still have a reliance on consumer spending for care. Korea, Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden and Switzerland require cost sharing from recipients in both home and residential care, meaning their reliance on consumer spending is higher than Australia and Japan. Compared to the countries in Figure 19 and Figure 20 these countries have high levels of access (as they do not apply means testing), but with a reliance on consumer spending for care. This is evident in the average government spend on LTC. On average, these countries spend 2.5% of GDP on LTC.<sup>v</sup> This is higher than the average for those countries in Figure 19 (0.5%) and Figure 20 (1.4%).

New Zealand, Sweden and Switzerland all scored the same based on their high level of quality regulation and access yet low consumer preference in terms of financing. Japan has the highest level of quality and integration, whereas Australia, Korea and the Netherlands have mid-level integration with other services including the health system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>v</sup> New Zealand government expenditure on LTC was not available and is not included in the average.





Germany and Denmark score highest in this typology (19) and are grouped together in Figure 22. Their systems provide consumers with the highest levels of access and the lowest cost sharing, and there is a high level of quality regulation and integration with other services including health. On average, these two countries have the highest government expenditure on LTC of 2.8% of GDP. This is largely skewed towards Denmark's high spend of 4.3% of GDP, with Germany's LTC spend of 1.2% considered to be a likely underestimate due to their reliance on cash benefits, as discussed in "Expenditure" in Chapter 3.<sup>vi</sup> Again, caution should be taken when comparing average expenditure on LTC as some countries in the typology were not included due to lack of data

<sup>&</sup>quot; In Germany social care for the aged includes cash benefits, which are not captured in the expenditure estimate.





Provision of cash benefits to carers in home or institutional care or both (Singapore alone) was not associated with any specific cluster.

Australia belongs in a group of countries which deliver highly regulated aged care with good access, but at the expense of flexible financing arrangements. However, it is worth noting that none of the countries examined scored consistently well on flexible financing arrangements. Australia scores less well on the quality of integration and coordination of care than many other countries who provide high levels of access to LTC services. Specifically, Australia scored only two for quality of coordination of LTC with other services including health. Many other nations, including New Zealand, Switzerland, Sweden and Japan, who were within the same cluster of nations considered to be providing high access to LTC scored three for coordination.

The countries are scored based on subjective interpretations of the literature and government resources in addition to a scoring system based upon assumptions of the preferences of consumers. The differences in information available for each country and the subjective nature of the scoring should be considered when interpreting the typology scores and radar graphs.

Figure 23 summarises the data in each of the typology categories presented in Figure 19 to Figure 22.

# Figure 23. Categorisation of LTC systems of 14 countries according to financing, regulation and access



### **Regulation for quality assurance**

Countries' regulation of quality is categorised using the approach of Mor et al. [2] (Table 3). In general, the regulatory approach to quality assurance of aged care systems in different countries may be based on inspection, data measurement and public reporting, or professionalism. We have also categorised the predominant approach to regulation for quality as centralised or decentralised, and whether there are single or multiple levels of responsibility for regulation.

The predominant country approaches to regulating quality (set out in detail in Table 3) are considered to be:

- inspection-based for Australia, Denmark, the Netherlands, Singapore and England, where the responsibility remains primarily with government
- data measurement and public reporting based for Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, the USA and the Republic of Korea
- professionalism-based for Japan, Germany and Switzerland, which have specified educational levels and training for their workforce.

There are no obvious associations between the regulatory approaches and the financing and organisation typologies presented earlier.

Australia predominantly has a single, central level of responsibility for regulating the quality of LTC for older people, which is in contrast to most nations reviewed. Inspection-based approaches like that found in Australia tend to be associated with a centralist administrative approach [17]; however countries such as the Netherlands and Denmark are examples of inspection-based approaches existing in decentralised systems. This is in particular contrast to countries (such as Germany, Japan and Switzerland) that have professionalism-based quality regulation systems, multiple levels of responsibility and are decentralised [2, 17].

Countries with data and public-reporting based regulatory systems (e.g. USA, Canada, Sweden) all operate with multiple levels of responsibility and are decentralised, with the exception of New Zealand, which has centralised regulation with implementation at the local level. Countries with professionalism-based approaches all have LTC funded through universal LTC insurance [2].

Characteristic	Regulatory approach	Predominant responsibility	Levels of responsibility		
Australia	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Centralised	Single (central)		
Canadaª	Data measurement/public reporting regulatory system	Decentralised	Multiple		
Denmark	Inspection-based regulatory system	Decentralised	Single (local)		
England	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Centralised	Multiple		
Germany	Professionalism-based regulatory systems	Decentralised	Multiple		
Japan	Professionalism-based regulatory systems	Decentralised	Multiple		
Republic of Korea	Data measurement and public reporting	Decentralised (registration), & centralised (inspection)	Multiple		
Netherlands	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Decentralised	Multiple		
New Zealand	Data measurement and public reporting based regulatory systems	Centralised	Multiple		
Poland	Unclear	Decentralised	Unclear		
Singapore	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Central	Multiple		
Sweden	Data measurement/public reporting regulatory system	Decentralised	Multiple		
Switzerland	Professionalism-based regulatory systems	Decentralised	Multiple		
USA	Data measurement and public reporting based regulatory systems	Decentralised	Multiple		

#### Table 3. Regulation of quality in international aged care systems

<sup>a</sup> predominantly Ontario

# 7. Alternative approaches to financing and delivery

A number of approaches to funding aged care that could be considered innovative in the Australian context exist in other countries. These approaches are outlined below.

## Support for informal care

Families and informal carers provide a significant proportion of LTC in many nations and this is a major contributor to LTC in Europe [197]. In the USA, it has been estimated that the cost to substitute informal with formal home care for older people would be approximately \$17,000 per year per person [198]. Family-provided care may represent 50 to 90% of the overall cost of formal LTC in European Union countries [199]. Providing care and support is physically and emotionally demanding and carers themselves are at increased risk of poor health outcomes [200, 201]. The majority of informal care is provided by women [202]. There is therefore a strong relationship between female workforce participation and informal LTC [15]. Without increasing the recognition and value of informal caregiving, these levels of unpaid care may not continue [202].

Thus, investment in informal caregivers is important to maintain a sustainable LTC system which is capable of acting as an affordable alternative and supplement to formal care [198, 201, 203]. Informal care may be able to substitute for formal care when care needs are low [204]. Some nations (including Canada and Korea) limit the number of hours of formal home care available and thus care recipients need to rely on informal carers to provide unpaid care to be able to stay at home [79]. It has been stated that in Canada, in provinces where the health systems are more integrated, home-based care can be a cost-effective alternative to residential care [205] and that increases in publicly funded home care reduce hospital service use. At a national level, there appears to be a decrease in the number of hours of informal care provided as the proportion of older people receiving formal care services increases [203].

In some countries (for example Australia and England) the amount of care provided by informal caregivers is considered in the needs assessment for LTC services. In some other nations, such as France and Japan, the needs assessment is "carer blind" so the amount of support provided by informal carers is not considered in the assessment for eligibility for services [98].

Australia has a relatively high number of informal carers in comparison to many other nations (see Figure 9). Most people with dementia live in the community, and informal carers are an important support to enable this to continue [206]. A means-tested, needs-based, cash benefit allowance for informal carers is available in Australia for those providing constant care (the Carer Payment) [207]. There is also a non-means-tested income supplement (the Carer Allowance [208]) of approximately \$3,000 per year for those eligible and up to 10 days paid leave is available annually [209]. However, many other nations provide additional support for informal carers in other ways, as outlined below.

#### Extended leave

Extended leave, whether paid or unpaid, is available for informal family carers in many nations [32, 210]. The benefits and entitlements available are generally less than provisions for caring for children, but still greater in many other countries than in Australia. Key examples internationally are provided in Box 2.

#### Box 2. International examples of provision of paid carer leave

- In Austria, up to three months annually of paid leave (at 55% of their income) can be arranged to care for people with severe care needs [210].
- In Japan, paid carers leave is allowed for up to 93 days per family member [32].
- In Italy, three days per month paid leave is available for people caring for a disabled family member [210].
- In Belgium, paid leave can be taken for anyone in need of help including a friend or neighbour and this can be for one year up to five years, through government compensation [32].
- In Poland, paid leave for up to 60 days per year is nationally approved, paid at 80% of the salary [32].
- In Germany and Ireland, up to two years paid leave is available [203]. In Germany, people may also reduce their working hours to 15 hours per week for up to two years, with employers having the option of obtaining interest-free credit to increase salaries. The carer must pay back the credit by working full-time after their return to work [210].

In Germany, caregivers can also take 6 months unpaid leave for care without endangering their job (with small employers exempt), with legislation protecting them from dismissal before and after care leave [210]. An interest-free loan is available for support during this time [211]. In Spain, long-term leave can be taken for up to three years, with differences in approval between public and private employers [203, 210]. In France, up to three months leave can be taken and renewed once to care for a family member with a disability with at least 80% pay. In the USA, private companies with more than 50 employees grant up to 12 weeks unpaid leave annually [32]. In Hungary, people are entitled to take up to two years unpaid leave [210].

#### Financial support: Cash for care and personal budgets

Financial support for caregivers is generally provided in one of three ways [79]:

- "carer-blind", which pays the same benefits to formal or informal carers (e.g. Israel, Czech Republic)
- hourly wages (e.g. Nova Scotia, Canada, the Netherlands)
- cash benefits paid to either care recipients (e.g. England) or carer providers (e.g. Nova Scotia, Canada), i.e. "cash-for-care".

There are wide variations between countries in the value of benefits available and whether or not they are means tested [212]. In most countries, the provision of benefits is based on a needs assessment [212]. In 2011, 14 of 21 European countries examined in a report by the European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes provided some type of cash benefit [212]. In general, care recipients can choose whether to receive their LTC benefit as cash or in-kind, but in France and Austria only a cash benefit is available [8]. Cash benefits allow care recipients to employ and hire staff directly, including compensating family members for care. Cash benefit schemes may be referred to by a variety of terms including direct payments or personal budgets and may be provided as vouchers [213].

#### Box 3. International examples of the provision of financial support for carers

- Germany, Italy and Austria all provide a large portion of their LTC for older people as cash rather than services [203].
- The German LTC system provides a means-tested carers allowance. Informal caregiving leads to contributions to the carers statutory pension insurance from the LTC insurance scheme [214].
- In several countries, including Denmark and Sweden, family members can be approved as home care workers and thus receive payments for providing care [22, 88, 215]. This is generally implemented at a local (decentralised) level.
- In some countries, cash benefits are specifically for family carers rather than other services; these are provided in Spain when there are no formal services close by and in Korea when the use of formal LTC is not possible [8].
- In Nova Scotia, Canada, the wages paid to family carers plus the Caregiver Benefit can be equivalent to the median wage [79].
- In the UK, a means-tested carer's allowance is available for those spending at least 35 hours per week in care roles, at a set rate, for care recipients with a high level of dependency [8].

In the Netherlands, in the context of LTC insurance, personal care budgets were introduced to encourage the use of informal care [113]. In 2005, approximately two thirds of LTC budget holders used the budget to pay for informal care. However, the provision of personal care budgets also resulted in the substitution of unpaid informal care for paid informal care and an increase in the number of brokers assisting in obtaining personal care budgets. Personal care budgets were also used by home care providers to evade budget constraints. Therefore it is uncertain whether introducing personal care budgets resulted in an overall increase in the provision of informal care [113].

In Germany, despite cash benefits being 50% lower than the value of services provided directly in-kind, it has been stated that the cash incentives seem to have created incentives to increase the number of informal caregivers per care recipient [8].

In Spain, an analysis of the introduction of a caregiving allowance and increased publicly funded home care support found a reduction in hospital admissions and utilisation for those

receiving the allowance, and the effect was reduced when the subsidy was decreased [216]. The introduction of the allowance led to a 30% increase in informal caregiving [217]. There were also increases in cash transfers to later generations (and decreases in transfers to older generations) in lower- and middle-income households.

A USA randomised trial of the option for cash and counselling in comparison to standard Medicaid services in 1998 to 2001 found that the cash and counselling group were more likely to receive the authorised amount of care [218]. Thus, Medicaid costs were higher than in the cash and counselling group, with higher personal care/waiver services costs partially offset by savings in other Medicaid services, particularly LTC services. Analysis of the data from this trial found that paid family involvement in care decreased emergency department and inpatient expenditure, decreasing Medicaid spending [219]. There were also improved care recipient outcomes such as reduced urinary tract and respiratory infections and pressure ulcers with family involvement in care.

Cash benefit schemes can have an impact on the formal labour market, depending on how the cash benefit is regulated [8]. It can lead to direct employment of formal LTC workers, increase the number of unqualified care workers in the sector, increase competition between the formal LTC workforce and the black labour market (reported in Germany) and lead to higher demand for low-wage labour. There have also been concerns raised about quality control in cash benefit systems [8, 220]. Cash benefits may limit the ability of governments to regulate quality. Employing family members may change family relationships, with the employed family member feeling obliged to work more hours leading to increased stress [8]. Cash subsidies may also increase the number of men leaving the formal workforce [217, 221].

A common argument for providing cash benefits is increasing consumer choice, thus empowering the care recipient [213]. However, the concept of care recipients as empowered consumers has been questioned [11]. The capacity of care recipients to choose may be limited by their health and cognitive status. Choices about care are often made in times of crisis, so availability may be a greater driver of service uptake than true freedom of choice. Such choices are often also made by substitute decision makers such as family members (who may themselves be frail older people), or care professionals, rather than the care recipients themselves, and the option of changing providers or services later may not be realistic. Increased choice can also be accompanied by increased legal responsibilities and administrative tasks that may be considered burdensome by some older people and their caregivers [222]. Overall, there is little evidence that choice over all components of home care improves the quality of care received, and many factors beyond the provision of direct funding influence the degree of choice that care recipients have.

#### Training for informal carers

General carer education and support programs are available in Australia for people providing informal care for members of the older population and for people living with dementia. Such

supports can be accessed via the COTA Carer Gateway, Carers Australia, the National Dementia Helpline, Dementia Australia fact sheets and resources, and Dementia Australia education groups. However, other approaches to supporting carer training exist internationally.

Some nations provide information centres that provide social support, information on services and health information [8, 113]. System navigators or support workers can also provide significant support for carers. Many approaches to providing such services are outlined in the report *Review of Innovative Models of Aged Care* [223].

In some Asian nations, including Indonesia and Korea, there is a heavy reliance on local volunteers to provide support for older people [224]. Most informal caregivers lack education and skills [225]. In Vietnam, the government is working to address this with the expansion of the Elderly Home Care Volunteers program from four to twelve provinces supported by HelpAge International and Atlantic Philanthropies, plus additional funding from the United Nations Populations Fund. In this program 3–4 volunteers work through Intergenerational Self-Help Clubs to provide several activities including home care.

Elsewhere, in Mexico City, the local government provides a program that trains health professionals to supervise and support informal caregivers of older people [143]. In Germany, LTC insurance organisations are required to offer free training courses for informal carers [95].

#### Box 4. Case study of Korean carer training program for community volunteers

HelpAge International is a global network of over 130 member organisations [226], and is responsible for developing the Republic of Korea (ROK) home care model, a volunteerbased approach which was considered successful in Korea and subsequently adapted for implementation across all ten ASEAN countries [227, 228]. Running from 2003 to 2012, the ROK-ASEAN project involved multiple stakeholders engaging with governments of ASEAN countries, and building capacity for partner NGOs to adapt home care according to the needs and context of each country [227, 228]. At the local village level, the partner NGO provided training to community volunteers in topics including general concepts of home care, common illnesses in old age, support in ADLs and IADLs, and basic health care. Some volunteers were trained in counselling, community mobilisation and networking, first aid, and household sanitation [227]. The participation of local volunteers was the key to the success of the ROK-ASEAN model, with each volunteer visiting 1–3 older people at home, anywhere from every day to once per week [228]. During the life of the project, 3,697 volunteers provided basic home care to 5,080 older people [228]. Follow-up evaluation conducted by external reviewers found that all participating ASEAN countries reported the project to be more than satisfactory, with participating older people also reporting increased self-esteem and ability to age in place [228]. Government organisations reported that the project was cost-effective, with most countries subsequently developing their own specific approaches to home care based on the ROK-ASEAN model [228].

#### **Respite services**

Respite care is available in Australia, but only approximately one third of people approved for respite care use this service within 12 months [229]. A recent analysis has shown that respite use by older Australians is associated with fewer days in residential aged care [229]. Many people use respite as a trial period for residential care immediately prior to permanent admission [230]. Novel models of respite are outlined in the accompanying *Review of Innovative Models of Aged Care* [223]. For example, in Sweden, respite is offered free by the local government. Options available include in-home respite and short stays at hotels for the carer while the care recipient is in respite [8]. In the Netherlands, the needs assessment agencies can refer caregivers to support centres that provide various kinds of respite [113].

## **Family-based funding**

In some countries, the family unit is considered in the assessment for funding for LTC. In contrast, in Australia the family beyond the spouse is not considered within financing of LTC for older people. In many nations with less developed LTC systems, LTC is only available to those who are impoverished and without family (see Nations with minimally developed LTC systems", Chapter 4, page 30).

In Germany, childless adults pay an extra 0.25% insurance contribution to reflect lower access to informal support [98]. A limitation of this approach is that this is likely to increase inequity for LGBTI populations, a population less likely to have traditional supports and more likely to rely on peers [231].

In France, in the context of mandatory LTC insurance, the families of LTC recipients are means tested and required to contribute to the costs of LTC. Means testing does not include the value of someone's home as long as a close family member is living there [98]. There are also tax incentives for families paying for the cost of care, allowing deductions of 50% of the cost of personal and domestic staff from tax contributions and up to 25% of residential care costs [98].

In Singapore, coverage is provided through MediShield health insurance, MediSave compulsory personal health savings (opt-out) and ElderShield (opt-out LTC insurance) which are shared between family members. A portion of the balances can be transferred between MediShield and ElderShield. Means testing is based on the household family income, or on potential income from renting out the residence [123]. Older people who cannot provide for themselves can legally claim for maintenance from their children [121].

### **Foster care**

In some countries, families are supported to provide care in their home for older people who need care but have no families of their own. In Russia, families receive a monthly fee and contracts are entered into between the care recipient and the foster family which outline the details of the time period, type and cost of care, and meals and services to be provided by the family [120]. Inspections of living conditions with the foster family are conducted. In Vietnam, payments are provided to both the care recipient and volunteer caregivers who provide residential care for poor older people without family who are no longer able to live alone [147].

# Institutional care funding

There are also a number of different approaches to financing institutional care internationally. In Australia, the government provides funding for care (using the Aged Care Funding Instrument), but providers bear the capital cost of establishment of the facilities, so the government has little control over the design of aged care facilities, apart from through regulation of standards. The provision of aged care places is set through the aged care provision ratio based on regional demographics.

In contrast, in the context of government-managed, opt-out private LTC insurance, in Singapore the government bears the capital cost of setting up residential care facilities, which are then leased by providers [123]. Lowering the costs to providers thereby lowers the out-of-pocket costs to the care recipients. The government also funds the VWOs who provide the majority of LTC up to 50% of operating costs.

In Germany, shared-housing arrangements developed as self-organised projects, but are now included in laws enacted by states replacing the federal nursing home Act. Special grants to support the implementation of shared housing are available [21].

In Nova Scotia, Canada, the government has legislated that government-funded residential aged care facilities must provide a "household" model of care, as part of their 2006 Continuing Care Strategy [232]. The vision of the 10-year strategy was "Every Nova Scotian living well in a place they can call home". The province has detailed legislated requirements for both design and provision of care [233, 234]. Despite this, a 2018 report indicated that "the sector is not often seen as providing attractive and supportive workplaces and homelike facilities" [235].

In Valencia, Spain, there is an approach which gives greater control to care recipients [236]. In this region approximately two thirds of residential aged care facilities are private, for-profit providers. Public funding is obtained by care recipients through a needs assessment and recipients can nominate three preferred residential care homes. If approved, the care recipient will receive an "Individual Care Program" specifying an assigned home. However, they can choose to obtain care at a different facility. The care recipient receives a cash benefit and purchases the residential care from the alternative provider. Historically, there has also been experience with monthly vouchers for residential care in the region (over the period 1997 to 2007). This is an uncommon approach where the care recipient gives the voucher to the approved private for-profit or not-for-profit provider, who presents these to the local government that provides the financing. This approach reduced waiting times for public homes and increased viability of private providers. Criticisms of the scheme include that the

voucher was subject to annual renewal, that the voucher quantities depended on the budget, uncertainty about whether this approach genuinely increased consumer choice and the administrative burden.

#### **Pay-for-performance**

Pay-for-performance (P4P) funding approaches for residential aged care facilities have been used in some states in the USA and have been incorporated into aged care systems in some Asian nations including Japan and the Republic of Korea [136]. Similar approaches are used more widely in health care, for example in hospitals [32, 136]. The aim of this approach is to financially reward high-performing LTC providers to provide an incentive to deliver higher quality care. Such approaches should include measurement of indicators that reflect the quality of care, vary between providers and can be improved [136]. The measures must allow for adjustment of these indicators for case mix and risk of the care recipients and be reported in a timely manner [136]. It is also suggested that both supply and demand must be able to respond to publicly available information on the quality of care of the providers [136]. There are a number of differences between pay-for-performance in aged care and health care including an existing high mortality rate in aged care. If such programs are effective, provision of higher quality of care could reduce the burden on the healthcare system by reducing hospital readmission rates and improving health outcomes.

In the USA in 2010, 14 states had existing or planned P4P programs for LTC through government-funded Medicaid [136]. Most states use patient satisfaction, staffing and regulatory deficiencies as measures and all use at least three other measures [136]. Other measures include Medicaid use, process measures, occupancy and efficiency. Limitations include that measures such as mean episode payments and readmission rates are sensitive to the number of observations and can vary widely [136]. The financial bonuses are relatively small, in the order of 2 to 6% of the per diem rate [237]. Also, P4P programs provide incentives for providers who are amongst the highest ranked or those close to achieving a given threshold. There may be little incentive for providers to improve or maintain their quality if they are not close to the eligibility point for additional funding [136, 237]. Whether or not these approaches have improved quality of care is uncertain [136, 237-239].

In Japan, since 2009 a bonus has been paid to residential facilities and community-based services that are successful at improving recipient functional status or returning an individual to their home. Payments are also paid for recruitment of certain types of trained staff, increased proportions of stroke patients receiving rehabilitation or for comprehensive case planning [32, 136]. A separate program rewards LTC facilities that are high performing in terms of rehabilitation or running quality prevention programs through day care services. Although the P4P schemes have resulted in greater use of assessment systems it is unclear whether there has been an impact on care quality [32].

The Republic of Korea rewards the top 20% of providers according to their rankings based on evaluations with an additional one to two per cent in payment [107, 169]. The top providers are also listed on the government website as highly qualified providers [108].

# Workforce

As described previously (see Chapter 4, page 17), Australia does not have any specific mandated requirements regarding staffing ratios, skills mix or LTC workforce qualifications. Approaches of other nations include mandates for staff-to-resident ratios (e.g. Japan), nurse-to-resident ratios (e.g. the USA), or skills mix (e.g. Japan). In most other countries, training for the LTC workforce is publicly funded [8].

In Singapore, other approaches to encouraging and retaining workers in the aged care sector include [121]:

- life experience recognised as qualification for training
- grants and subsidies for training
- career development pathways and wage increases for professions
- government-provided training and advising of staff and volunteers for VWOs [126].

# **Asset testing**

Means testing by income to determine the level of public funding for LTC services exists in many OECD countries [79]. However, in a study of 14 countries by the OECD, only a minority considered people's assets in their means testing. Considering assets was more common in determining funding for institutional care; in the USA there is no access at all to public LTC for those with high assets. In England, only a small cash benefit is available to those with high assets but the threshold for "high assets" is relatively low at £23,250 (2017) [79]. In Japan and France, asset testing only applies to costs for food and accommodation in institutional care. Most of these countries do not consider assets in means testing for both institutional and home care. A house occupied by the care recipient's spouse is often excluded from the assets test.

### LTC insurance

LTC insurance exists in many countries and thus is not innovative internationally but would be in the Australian context. Compulsory LTC insurance exists in Germany, Japan, the Republic of Korea and the Netherlands. Mandatory schemes such as these provide equitable access and consistency in benefits for LTC [240]. The approach also provides stability and certainty for providers as they receive a set fee [241] and enables government cost control. It has been reported that this approach can also allow the government to incentivise preferred types of care. A recent policy evaluation of approaches to financing LTC in China compared different approaches taken in three different regions: social health insurance in Shanghai, LTC nursing insurance in Qingdao and means-tested LTC in Nanjing [242]. The authors, from academic settings in the UK, Hong Kong and China, concluded that the social health insurance model "led to systematic bias in affordable access among participants of different insurance schemes" and was "a powerful incentive for the over-provision of unnecessary services". The means-tested model had narrow eligibility and insufficient funding [242]. They concluded that the LTC nursing insurance model was preferable, despite limited access due to narrow eligibility criteria.

Public LTC insurance systems have a number of challenges. Contributory social insurance schemes have been reported to create generational inequity and differences by gender [243]. In the Republic of Korea, where LTC insurance was introduced in 2008, it has been reported that those in better health were more likely to access LTC services, indicating some inequity in service distribution [244]. In Japan, the sustainability of the insurance scheme has become a concern with the aging of the population increasing the financial burden on future cohorts. In recent years, there have been changes to the system for cost containment and further increases in co-payments or other approaches to increase sustainability may need to be considered [49, 245]. The projected increase in the age dependency ratio in Japan is even greater than in other nations (Figure 25) [246]. It has been reported that LTC insurance also affects the trade-off between labour supply and care provision for informal caregivers [221, 247]. In Germany, the provision of LTC benefits has increased incentives for older men, but not women, to leave the labour market. Such financing approaches may also be less compatible with innovation as they are generally fairly inflexible [220].

A more innovative approach to LTC insurance is the public-private partnership for LTC insurance that exists in Singapore. In Singapore, private insurance agencies administer the LTC insurance scheme which is provided for the population on an opt-out basis and is managed by the government (see Chapter 4, page 26). Enrolment is automatic from the age of 40 years, except for those already with ADL limitations. Premiums are age and gender related. There are a number of difficulties associated with this approach. The voluntary nature of the public-private partnership model is a challenge [8]. There are perverse incentives for hospitalisation, due to higher eligibility for subsidies through acute hospitals than through the LTC insurance. There may be an over-reliance on VWOs due to the government VWO subsidies – these primarily utilise volunteers, which may not be sustainable as the demand for LTC services increases. Finally, a heavy reliance on informal caregiving primarily by women is being challenged by changing demographics, social values and lack of support for informal caregivers [122]. In Singapore it has been reported that there is a high rate of stress and depression associated with the heavy reliance on family as the primary caregiver, which is unsustainable [121]. Similar schemes were explored in the USA, through the Community Living Assistance Services and Supports Act (CLASS Act), which was repealed in 2013 [8].

There is strong emphasis on private LTC insurance in the USA, as the government-funded Medicaid is targeted at the poor [8]. Private LTC insurance also plays a role in some nations such as Japan and Germany for those who opt out of the public LTC insurance system or wish to add to the level of coverage provided by the public system [8]. However the uptake of private LTC insurance and hence its contribution to total LTC financing is generally low [8].

# 8. Synthesis

# Financing and organisation of LTC for older people

Comparisons of expenditure on LTC between countries as a proportion of GDP from OECD data are complex due to different reporting methodologies. In general, Australia's spending appears to be lower than the Scandinavian countries of Denmark, Norway and Sweden, as well as Japan and the Netherlands, and roughly similar to that of Canada and the UK. In Australia it appears that out-of-pocket costs comprise a relatively low level of financing of LTC in comparison to other nations, particularly if comparisons to lower- to middle-income countries with developing LTC systems are taken into account. Australia appears to employ a lower number of workers in the LTC sector relative to the number of care recipients than many of the countries for which data are reported to the OECD. Overall staffing levels in residential care appear to be lower in Australia than in the USA, Denmark, New Zealand, Switzerland and Germany and nursing levels lower than in the USA, Canada, Germany and Switzerland. These data have some uncertainty and warrant further investigation.

Australia appears to provide a moderate level of coverage (i.e., the proportion of the older population that accesses LTC) in comparison to other nations. The proportion of LTC provided for older people in institutions in Australia appears high (see Figure 24) and the level of provision of care at home relatively low. Some of this may be explained by counting: Australian data on home care recipients exclude CHSP home care recipients who only receive assistance for IADLs, which is in line with OECD data definitions, but the extent to which other nations have adhered to these definitions is unclear. Nevertheless, there appears to be a relatively high level of provision of aged care in institutions in Australia, i.e. provision of care to recipients with a higher level of dependency.



#### Figure 24. Percentage of population aged 80 and over living in institutions

Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from OECD.Stat <u>https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT</u>. Note: It is unclear whether or not care recipients in skilled nursing facilities in the USA are included in these data.

Whether or not the level of dependency of people living in residential aged care in Australia is comparable to that of other nations is unknown. For those with very high-level needs, providing home care can be more expensive than institutional care [79]. Limiting the hours of home care that are available through public LTC in some nations can contain the use of home-based care to those for whom home care is the cheaper option. Most countries have wait lists for home care services [202]. A recent review of aged care in Australia (the Tune Review) indicated that the greatest levels of unmet demand in the Australian aged care system were for higher-level home care packages [230]. As of March 2019, the wait times for people approved for a level 4 package at a medium priority level were more than 12 months [61]. The wait time for a first package assignment at level 2, which can be taken as an option whilst awaiting a level 4 package, was also more than 12 months. As this level of support is unlikely to meet these care recipients' level of need, these people may be required to seek residential care despite being assessed as eligible for a home care package [248, 249]. It is possible therefore that some of the older people in residential care in Australia are at a level of need that could be supported outside of residential care.

A recent bottom-up costing of residential aged care in Australia has estimated the *whole-of-system* running cost of residential aged care as approximately \$82,300 for those with dementia and \$73,200 for those without, per resident, per year, including out-of-pocket costs [250]. In March 2019, the annual subsidy for a level 4 HCP was \$52,286 [61]. If some aged care recipients in Australia are entering residential aged care prematurely (i.e. at a lower level of dependency) due to lack of access to an adequate level of home support, then increasing the availability of high-level home care packages may be a less costly means of providing care for these people. The recent Tune Review recommended increasing the provision of home care by introducing level 5 home care packages up to a level equivalent to the cost of residential aged care in addition to increasing the proportion of high care packages [230]. Most people prefer to remain living in their own homes if possible; a willingness to pay 16% of the average income to avoid institutionalisation (in respondents over 55) has been reported [251].

Australia also has a relatively high rate of informal care. Supporting informal carers is an important component of a sustainable LTC system and an important component of providing care at home. The section "Support for informal care" in Chapter 7 outlines a range of international approaches including more extensive leave provisions than currently available in Australia and also approaches to financial support. Whilst providing cash benefits to care recipients is one common approach, a number of challenges have been outlined (see "Financial support: Cash for care and personal budgets" in Chapter 7), including whether increasing choice for the consumer leads to improved satisfaction or quality of care.

The integration of Australia's LTC system for older people with the health system may not be as well developed as in similar nations. This is indicated by typology scores lower than that of many other countries in the same group providing high access to LTC, although this rating is subjective. Australia was also the nation with the highest proportion of older people with high-level needs who reported dissatisfaction with the quality of health care in a Commonwealth survey of 11 countries. Australia was the second highest behind the USA for older people with high needs who experienced economic vulnerability. Australia includes an assessment of disability at the point of entry into the aged care system as part of the ACAT assessment. This represents an opportunity for early intervention to reduce the development of additional health problems.

# **Quality regulation**

The Australian LTC sector is highly regulated [26, 69, 70]. This approach generally attempts to ensure providers meet minimum standards but does not provide incentives for organisations that are already providing higher quality services [252]. The lack of publicly available, consistently presented and comparable quality of care or quality of life measures for recipients of LTC in different nations significantly hampered efforts to benchmark Australia against other nations in this review, in terms of quality of care provided. Nevertheless, examples of different approaches to regulating quality from other nations are informative. Many nations have multiple players involved in quality assurance, including organisations independent of the government department responsible for the provision of LTC.

Australia has an approach of predominantly regulating quality through a single, central agency, using an inspection-based approach, although some inspections for building design and fire and food safety are carried out at a more local level [26]. In contrast, many other nations have multiple levels of responsibility for the regulation of quality and many have a mainly decentralised approach. Increasing local involvement in the regulation of quality (i.e. decentralising) may allow for greater flexibility to support social innovation [220]. A challenge with a decentralised system is maintaining equity [220].

An increasing number of countries are using mandatory reporting and publicly available data collection in an attempt to empower consumer choice and drive improvements in quality [2]. Many countries have a much broader range of clinically based mandatory reporting items and assessments as quality of care indicators for LTC than those recently introduced in Australia. In the USA it is argued that Nursing Home Compare (a 5- star-rating system) has led to more informed consumer decision making [253] and some improvements in quality of care indicators [142], but there are concerns about the methodology of the ranking and how to respond to poor providers [17, 254]. It remains unclear whether the ranking systems have improved quality of life outcomes or user satisfaction [254]. While some countries use care recipient satisfaction measures, it appears that no countries have been successful at introducing a recipient-reported robust quality of life measure. Nevertheless, adoption of a data-based, public reporting regulatory system may better enable benchmarking of the quality of aged care provision in Australia against other nations internationally, as well as increasing transparency and public accountability.

# International examples of good LTC for older people

Empirical comparisons of the performance of different country's LTC systems for the aged were hampered in this review by a lack of publicly available, comparable population-level data reporting outcomes for LTC recipients. Nevertheless, based on the information available, a typology analysis of financing and organisation of LTC for the aged and qualitative comparisons from the literature review, in the authors' view, **Denmark** and **Sweden** are countries that are likely to have good quality LTC systems.

Germany also performed well on the typology analysis of financing and organisation and had high levels of nursing staff. In Germany, a high proportion of providers have been reported as receiving good results as assessed against standards, making the publicly available assessments uninformative for consumers [21]. However, there is a lack of indicators that report on outcomes rather than structure and process [21]. It has been stated that there are severe flaws in the quality of German LTC [95].

Denmark was shown to be a high-performing country in an analysis of the typology of consumer-preferred financing and organisation of the LTC systems as well as having high levels of staffing. Denmark has also been reported to have high levels of satisfaction with the care and staffing in residential care and staffing in home care, although no quantitative comparisons to other countries could be conducted [86]. Denmark's LTC system also has a strong focus on prevention, rehabilitation and deinstitutionalisation [86].

Sweden performs well on the examined quality of care indicators for antipsychotic prescriptions and level of emotional distress in people 65 years or over. Sweden has also been reported to have a high-quality LTC system based on analyses from the OECD, the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions, and high rates of reported user satisfaction [171]. Sweden has fairly minimal regulation for quality assurance [22, 171].

Both Sweden and Denmark have tax-based universal comprehensive coverage for LTC with a high expenditure of approximately 2% of GDP spent on long-term social care for the aged<sup>vii</sup> (greater than 4% of GDP on LTC as per estimates in Figure 10) and some out-of-pocket costs contributing to the financing of LTC. Both countries fund LTC through local authorities with federal grants and local taxes [87, 129]. They have high coverage of the older population (Figure 5 and Figure 12), with a moderate proportion of the LTC population in residential care (Figure 8). Both countries also have a focus on providing LTC in people's homes [86, 129]. Australia's demographic profile and GDP per capita (Figure 4) is similar to that of Sweden and Denmark, with a slightly lower proportion of the population over 80 and slightly lower GDP per capita.

vii OECD data on public social expenditure on benefits in kind in old age programs.

# 9. Opportunities for change

It has been stated that policy on LTC is inadequate in most countries, less developed than policies for the support of caring for children, and that there is a need to think of the system of care from more of a social, rather than just economic, perspective [202]. This review of international LTC systems has highlighted some key areas where care for older Australians may be improved:

- Support for home-based care and informal carers. Increasing the level of support for home-based care, with the aim of decreasing residential aged care utilisation, through increased delivery of high-level home care packages and increased support for informal care. Currently the wait times for level 4 packages in Australia are extensive, which may result in premature admission to residential aged care for some. Increasing the availability of these packages is necessary and increased levels of support should also be considered. Examples of ways to provide greater support for informal carers through more generous leave provisions and financial means exist in many nations.
- Level of regulation. Australia has been reported to have a comparatively high level of regulation of care structure and processes. Some nations with fewer regulations (notably Sweden) are reported to deliver high-quality care within the context of comprehensive LTC access and a high expenditure on LTC. Higher levels of regulation may stifle innovation and there is little evidence that they improve care quality. Increased decentralisation, as in many other nations, may also support innovation in the sector; however, maintaining equity may be a challenge without maintaining some level of centralisation. Some countries have encouraged quality through alternative approaches such as clinical quality registers, e.g. Sweden's Dementia Care Quality Register. South Australia has an existing register of all older people who receive an ACAT (ROSA) and this could be further leveraged.
- **Professionalism of the workforce.** Australia does not have mandatory training or registration of LTC workers. This does exist in some other nations, notable examples being Japan and Korea. Introducing mandatory training programs and registration of LTC workers may improve care in the sector.
- **Transparency in staffing levels.** Whilst more detailed quantitative analysis of staffing levels of residential aged care facilities in Australia is required, it appears that the number of LTC workers in Australia, relative to the number of care recipients, may be low.
- **Transparency in quality of care indicators.** A greater emphasis on publicly reported indicators of quality of care would bring Australia more in line with other nations. Mandatory public reporting of regulatory inspection, quality of care and outcomes data would enable benchmarking and comparison of quality and performance to other countries, and also enable informed consumer choice. While Australia has made changes to improve reporting, including consideration of outcomes-based

assessments of quality, there are lessons from other nations' experiences, particularly on the public availability of a broader range of assessments. A regional example for Australia is New Zealand's adoption of interRAI assessments across both community and residential care settings. Alternatively, Australian clinical quality registers, which are independent of the provision of LTC, could be further leveraged to provide publicly reported indicators.

- Integration with the healthcare system. Australia's integration of the LTC system for older people with the health system may be poorer than many other similar nations. ACAT assessments provide an opportunity for early intervention to reduce the development of additional health problems.
- **Reablement.** A stronger focus on rehabilitation and maintaining function to delay and avoid disability is needed. For example, in Denmark rehabilitation is a compulsory part of home support before determining a person's need for LTC home services.
- Human rights. Some nations incorporate the principles of human rights into their aged care standards in an attempt to improve the quality of care, particularly for those without a voice. However, Australia lacks explicit incorporation of human rights principles into aged care regulation. Notable examples of other countries' approaches include prohibition of physical restraints in residential aged care according to specific guidelines as a condition for certification in Japan and a Resident's Bill of Rights, the principles of which (including reablement) are incorporated into the *Long-Term Care Act* in Ontario.

# References

- 1. Kraus M, Riedel M, Mot ES, Willeme P, Rohrling G and Czypionka T, *A Typology of Long-Term Care Systems in Europe*. ENEPRI Research Report No. 91. 2010, European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes (ENEPRI).
- 2. Mor V, Leone T and Maresso A, *Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison*. Health Economics, Policy and Management. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK.
- 3. Alzheimer's Disease International, *World Alzheimer Report 2015. The Global Impact of Dementia. An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends.* 2015, Alzheimer's Disease International: London, UK.
- 4. World Health Organisation, *World report on ageing and health.* 2015, World Health Organisation: Geneva, Swizerland.
- 5. World Health Organization and Alzheimer's Disease International, *Dementia: a public health priority.* 2012.
- 6. Cullen D, A Typology of Long Term Care: An Australian/ European Comparison (2011) [Personal communication]. Email to Dyer S. 1 July 2019.
- 7. Joshua L, Aging and Long Term Care Systems: A Review of Finance and Governance Arrangements in Europe, North America and Asia-Pacific. 2017, World Bank Group: Washington, USA.
- 8. Colombo F, llena-Nozal A, Mercier J and Tjadens F, *Help Wanted? Providing and paying for long-term care*. 2011, OECD Health Policy Studies, OECD Publishing: Paris, France.
- 9. Da Roit B and Le Bihan B, Similar and yet so different: cash-for-care in six European countries' long-term care policies. Milbank Q, 2010. **88**(3): p. 286-309.
- 10. Halaskova R, Bednar P and Halaskova M, *Forms of Providing and Financing Long-Term Care in OECD Countries.* Review of Economic Perspectives, 2017. **17**(2): p. 159-78.
- 11. Trigg L, Improving the quality of residential care for older people: a study of government approaches in England and Australia. 2018, London School of Economics and Political Science: London, UK.
- 12. Van Eenoo L, van der Roest H, Onder G, Finne-Soveri H, Garms-Homolova V, Jonsson PV, Draisma S, van Hout H and Declercq A, *Organizational home care models across Europe: A cross sectional study.* Int J Nurs Stud, 2018. **77**: p. 39-45.
- 13. Donabedian A, *The Quality of Care: How Can It Be Assessed?* JAMA, 1988. **260**(12): p. 1743-1748.
- 14. Hjelmar U, Bhatti Y, Petersen OH, Rostgaard T and Vrangbæk K, *Public/private ownership* and quality of care: Evidence from Danish nursing homes. Soc Sci Med, 2018. **216**: p. 41-49.
- 15. Incisive Health, *An international comparison of long-term care funding and outcomes: insights for the social care green paper*. 2018, Incisive Health: London, UK.
- 16. Malley J, Trukeschitz B and Trigg L, *Policy instruments to promote good quality long-term care services*, Long-term care reforms in OECD countries: successes and failures, Fernández J, Cristiano G, and Wittenberg R, Editors. 2015, Policy Press: Bristol, UK.
- Leone T, Maresso A and Mor V, *Regulating quality of long-term care what have we learned?*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Tiziana L, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 447-476.
- Australian Government, Australian Aged Care Quality Agency's annual report 2017–18.
   2018, Australian Aged Care Quality Agency, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. 2019; Available from: <u>https://agedcare.royalcommission.gov.au/Pages/default.aspx</u>.

- 20. Spasova S, Baeten R, Coster S, Ghailani D, Peña-Casas R and Vanhercke B, *Challenges in longterm care in Europe. A study of national policies*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 21. Doetter LF and Rothgang H, *Quality and cost-effectiveness in long-term care and dependency prevention: Country Report: The German LTC policy landscape*. 2017, CEQUA LTC Network: London, UK.
- 22. Peterson E, *Eldercare in Sweden: An overview*. 2017, Stockholm University: Sweden.
- 23. Carr A and Biggs S, *The Distribution of Regulation in Aged and Dementia Care: A Continuum Approach.* J Aging Soc Policy, 2018: p. 1-22.
- 24. Braithwaite J, Makkai T and Braithwaite V, *Regulating aged care ritualism and the new pyramid*. 2007, Edward Elgar: Cheltenham, UK.
- 25. Meagher G and Szebehely M, *Long-Term Care in Sweden: Trends, Actors, and Consequences,* Reforms in Long-Term Care Policies in Europe: Investigating Institutional Change and Social Impacts, Ranci C and Pavolini E, Editors. 2013, Springer: New York, USA. p. 55-78.
- 26. Biggs S and Carr A, *How provider organisations interpret regulation in the context of residential dementia aged care.* Australas J Ageing, 2019. **38**(S2): p. 83-89.
- 27. Productivity Commission, *Caring for Older Australians: Report No. 53, Final Inquiry Report, Vol 2.* 2011, Productivity Commission, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, ACT.
- 28. Miller SC, Miller EA, Jung HY, Sterns S, Clark M and Mor V, *Nursing home organizational change: the "Culture Change" movement as viewed by long-term care specialists.* Med Care Res Rev, 2010. **67**(4 Suppl): p. 65s-81s.
- 29. Productivity Commission, *Digital Disruption: What do governments need to do?* 2016, Productivity Commission, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 30. Productivity Commission. *Report on Government Services 2019: Services for People with disability*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2019/community-services/services-for-people-with-disability/rogs-2019-partf-chapter15.pdf</u>
- 31. Commonwealth of Australia, *Caring for Older Australians: Productivity Commission Inquiry Report Volume 1.* 2011, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 32. OECD, A Good Life in Old Age? Monitoring and improving quality in long-term care. 2013, OECD: Paris, France.
- 33. Morris JN, Declercq A, Hirdes JP, Finne-Soveri H, Fries BE, James ML, Geffen L, Kehyayan V, Saks K, Szczerbinska K and Topinkova E, *Hearing the Voice of the Resident in Long-Term Care Facilities-An Internationally Based Approach to Assessing Quality of Life.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2018. **19**(3): p. 207-215.
- 34. Hirdes JP, Ljunggren G, Morris JN, Frijters DH, Finne Soveri H, Gray L, Bjorkgren M and Gilgen R, *Reliability of the interRAI suite of assessment instruments: a 12-country study of an integrated health information system.* BMC Health Serv Res, 2008. **8**: p. 277.
- 35. Registry of Older South Australians. *ROSA*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://rosaresearch.org/</u>.
- 36. Dementia Australia. *Australian Dementia Network (ADNet) Registry and Clinical Trials Program*. 2018; Available from: <u>https://www.dementia.org.au/news/2018/australian-</u> <u>dementia-network-adnet-registry-and-clinical-trials-program</u>.
- 37. Bostick JE, Rantz MJ, Flesner MK and Riggs CJ, *Systematic review of studies of staffing and quality in nursing homes.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2006. **7**(6): p. 366-76.
- 38. Anderson K, Bird M, MacPherson S and Blair A, *How do staff influence the quality of longterm dementia care and the lives of residents? A systematic review of the evidence.* Int Psychogeriatr, 2016. **28**(8): p. 1263-81.
- 39. Easton T, Milte R, Crotty M and Ratcliffe J, Advancing aged care: a systematic review of economic evaluations of workforce structures and care processes in a residential care setting. Cost Eff Resour Alloc, 2016. **14**: p. 12.

- 40. Harrington C, Choiniere J, Goldmann M, Jacobsen FF, Lloyd L, McGregor M, Stamatopoulos V and Szebehely M, *Nursing home staffing standards and staffing levels in six countries.* J Nurs Scholarsh, 2012. **44**(1): p. 88-98.
- 41. Backhaus R, Verbeek H, van Rossum E, Capezuti E and Hamers JP, *Nurse staffing impact on quality of care in nursing homes: a systematic review of longitudinal studies.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2014. **15**(6): p. 383-93.
- 42. Willis E, Price K, Bonner R, Henderson J, Gibson T, Hurley J, Blackman I, Toffoli L and Currie T, *Meeting residents' care needs: A study of the requirement for nursing and personal care staff.* 2016, Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation: Melbourne, Australia.
- 43. Sharkey SS, Hudak S, Horn SD, James B and Howes J, *Frontline caregiver daily practices: a comparison study of traditional nursing homes and the Green House project sites.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2011. **59**(1): p. 126-31.
- 44. Brownie S and Nancarrow S, *Effects of person-centered care on residents and staff in aged-care facilities: a systematic review.* Clin Interv Aging, 2013. **8**: p. 1-10.
- 45. Harrison SL, Dyer SM, Milte R, Liu E, Gnanamanickam ES and Crotty M, *Alternative staffing structures in a clustered domestic model of residential aged care in Australia.* Australas J Ageing, 2019. **38 Suppl 2**: p. 68-74.
- Parliament of Australia. Advisory Report on the Aged Care Amendment (Staffing Ratio Disclosure) Bill 2018. 2018; Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary\_Business/Committees/House/Health\_Aged\_Care\_a nd\_Sport/StaffingRatioBill/Report.
- 47. Bowblis JR and Ghattas A, *The Impact of Minimum Quality Standard Regulations on Nursing Home Staffing, Quality, and Exit Decisions.* Review of Industrial Organization, 2017. **50**(1): p. 43-68.
- 48. Hoi le V, Thang P and Lindholm L, *Elderly care in daily living in rural Vietnam: need and its socioeconomic determinants.* BMC Geriatr, 2011. **11**: p. 81.
- 49. Ikegami N, *Financing Long-term Care: Lessons From Japan.* Int J Health Policy Manag, 2019.
  8(8): p. 462-466.
- 50. OECD, Health at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators. 2017, OECD Publishing: Paris, France.
- 51. OECD, Eurostat and WHO, *A System of Health Accounts*. 2011, OECD Publishing: Paris, France.
- 52. Foebel AD, Liperoti R, Onder G, Finne-Soveri H, Henrard JC, Lukas A, Denkinger MD, Gambassi G and Bernabei R, *Use of antipsychotic drugs among residents with dementia in European long-term care facilities: results from the SHELTER study.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2014. **15**(12): p. 911-7.
- 53. Onder G, Carpenter I, Finne-Soveri H, Gindin J, Frijters D, Henrard JC, Nikolaus T, Topinkova E, Tosato M, Liperoti R, Landi F and Bernabei R, *Assessment of nursing home residents in Europe: the Services and Health for Elderly in Long TERm care (SHELTER) study.* BMC Health Serv Res, 2012. **12**: p. 5.
- 54. Frijters DH, van der Roest HG, Carpenter IG, Finne-Soveri H, Henrard JC, Chetrit A, Gindin J and Bernabei R, *The calculation of quality indicators for long term care facilities in 8 countries (SHELTER project).* BMC Health Serv Res, 2013. **13**: p. 138.
- 55. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). *Quick Stats*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/quick-stats</u>.
- 56. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS.gov). *MDS 3.0 Frequency Report*. 2012; Available from: <u>https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Computer-Data-and-Systems/Minimum-Data-Set-3-0-Public-Reports/Minimum-Data-Set-3-0-Frequency-Report.html</u>.
- 57. Bunn F, Burn A-M, Goodman C, Rait G, Norton S, Robinson L, Schoeman J and Brayne C, *Comorbidity and dementia: a scoping review of the literature.* BMC Medicine, 2014. **12**.

- 58. Australian Government. *My Aged Care*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/</u>.
- 59. Commonwealth of Australia. *Commonwealth Home Support Programme*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/help-at-home/commonwealth-home-support-programme</u>.
- 60. Comans T. *Explainer: what is a home care package and who is eligible?* 2019; Available from: <u>https://theconversation.com/explainer-what-is-a-home-care-package-and-who-is-eligible-112405</u>.
- 61. Department of Health-Australian Government, *Home Care Packages Program. Data Report 3rd Quarter 2018-2019.* 2019, Australian Government: Canberra, Australia. p. 1-31.
- 62. Commonwealth of Australia. *Ageing and Aged Care: About the Home Care Packages Program*. 2017; Available from: <u>https://agedcare.health.gov.au/programs/home-care/about-the-home-care-packages-program</u>.
- 63. Grove A, *Aged Care: a quick guide*, in *Parliamentary Library: Research Paper Series, 2016-17*. 2016, Department of Parliamentary Services, Parliament of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 64. Australian Government. *Explore services and places in aged care*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.gen-agedcaredata.gov.au/Topics/Services-and-places-in-aged-care/Explore-services-and-places-in-aged-care</u>.
- 65. Australian Government. *Aged Care Act*. 1997; Available from: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2018C00141.
- 66. Parliament of Australia, *Aged Care Amendment (Ratio of Skilled Staff to Care Recipients) Bill* 2017. 2017.
- 67. Fedele R. *Qld to mandate ratios in public aged care homes*. Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal 2019; Available from: <u>https://anmj.org.au/queensland-government-to-mandate-nurse-to-resident-ratios-in-public-aged-care-homes/</u>.
- 68. AustLII. Safe patient care (nurse to patient and midwife to patient ratios) Act 2015 (No. 51 of 2015) SECT 19 Aged high care residential wards. 2015; Available from: <u>http://www8.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdoc/au/legis/vic/num\_act/spctpamtpra201551o2015643/s19.html</u>.
- 69. Phillips J, Parker D and Woods M. *We've had 20 aged care reviews in 20 years will the royal commission be any different?* 2018; Available from: <u>https://theconversation.com/weve-had-20-aged-care-reviews-in-20-years-will-the-royal-commission-be-any-different-103347.</u>
- 70. Carnell AO and Paterson R, *Review of National Aged Care Quality Regulatory Processes*. 2017, Department of Health: Canberra: ACT.
- 71. Productivity Commission, *Caring for Older Australians: Report No. 53, Final Inquiry Report, Vol 1.* 2011, Productivity Commission, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 72. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. *Guidance and resources for providers to support the aged care quality standards*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/sites/default/files/media/Aged%20Care%20Quality%2</u> <u>OStandards%20Guidance.pdf</u>.
- 73. Canadian Medical Association, *Health and health care for an aging population: Policy summary of the Canadian Medical Association*. 2013, Canadian Medical Association: Ottawa, Canada.
- 74. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). Residential long-term care financial data tables 2013. 2014; Available from: <a href="https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC2740&ga=2.75357010">https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC2740&ga=2.75357010</a>. <a href="https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC2740&ga=2.75357010">https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC2740&ga=2.75357010</a>.
- 75. Ontario. *About long term care*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/about-long-term-care</u>.
- 76. Ontario. *Long-term care accommodation costs and subsidy*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/get-help-paying-long-term-care</u>.

- 77. Allin S and Rudoler D. *The Canadian health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/canada/</u>.
- 78. Ontario Long Term Care Association. About long-term care in Ontario: Facts and figures.
   2019; Available from: <u>https://www.oltca.com/oltca/OLTCA/LongTermCare/OLTCA/Public/LongTermCare/FactsFigures.aspx?hkey=f0b46620-9012-4b9b-b033-2ba6401334b4</u>.
- 79. Muir T, *Measuring social protection for long-term care*. 2017, OECD Publishing: Paris, France.
- 80. Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario, *Transforming long-term care to keep residents healthy and safe*. 2018, Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario: Ontario, Canada.
- 81. Government of Alberta, *Nursing Homes Operation Regulation: Alberta Regulation 258/1985*. 2017, Alberta Queen's Printer, Government of Alberta: Edmonton, Alberta.
- 82. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). *Profile of clients in home care, 2017-2018*.
  2018; Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/access-data-and-reports</u>.
- 83. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). Profile of residents in residential and hospital-based continuing care, 2017-2018. 2018; Available from: https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/ccrs-quick-stats-2017-2018-en-web.xlsx
- 84. Hirdes JP and Kehyayan V, Long-term care for the elderly in Canada: progress towards an integrated system, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press. p. 324-356.
- 85. OECD, *Denmark: Long-term Care*. 2011, OECD: Paris, France.
- 86. Kvist J, *ESPN Thematic Report on Challenges in long-term care: Denmark*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 87. Vrangbæk K. *The Danish health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/denmark/</u>.
- 88. Paul DP and Schaeffer KC, *Long-term care policy: What the United States can learn from Denmark, Sweden, and the Netherlands,* in *Business and Health Administration Proceedings,* Mukherjee A, Editor. 2017. p. 223-236.
- 89. OECD, United Kingdom: Highlights from A Good Life in Old Age? Monitoring and Improving Quality in Long-Term Care. 2013, OECD: Paris, France.
- 90. Boyle S, *United Kingdom (England): Health system review*. Health Systems in Transition, 2011. **13**(1).
- 91. Laing & Buisson, *Care of Older People: UK Market Report, 27th Edition*. 2015, Laing & Buisson: London, UK.
- 92. UK Care Quality Commission, *The quality and capacity of adult social care services: An overview of the adult social care market in England 2008/09*. 2009, UK Care Quality Commission: London, UK.
- 93. Malley J, Holder J, Dodgson R and Booth S, *Regulating the quality and safety of long-term care in England*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 180-210.
- 94. European Commission (EC). *Peer review on "Germany's latest reforms of the long-term care system"* 2018; Available from:
  - https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=en&catId=89&newsId=9008&furtherNews=yes.
- 95. Gerlinger T, *ESPN Thematic Report on Challenges in Long-Term Care: Germany*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 96. Garms-Homolová V and Busse R, *Monitoring the quality of long-term care in Germany*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 67-101.
- 97. Amano T, Ikegami N and Ishibashi T, *Human rights and residential care for older people in Japan*, Towards Human Rights in Residential Care for Older Persons: International

perspectives, Meenan H, Rees N, and Doron I, Editors. 2016, Routledge: New York, NY, USA. p. 156-177.

- 98. Robertson R, Gregory S and Jabbal J, *The social care and health systems of nine countries*. 2014, Commission on the Future of Health and Social Care in England: London, UK.
- 99. Ministry of Health Labour and Welfare. *Long term care insurance system of Japan*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/policy/care-welfare/care-welfare-elderly/dl/ltcisj\_e.pdf</u>.
- 100. Sugimoto K, Ogata Y and Kashiwagi M, *Factors promoting resident deaths at aged care facilities in Japan: a review.* Health & Social Care in the Community, 2018. **26**(2): p. e207-e224.
- 101. Ryozo M. *The Japanese health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/japan/</u>.
- 102. Annear MJ, Otani J and Sun J, *Experiences of Japanese aged care: the pursuit of optimal health and cultural engagement.* Age Ageing, 2016. **45**(6): p. 753-756.
- 103. OECD, Japan: Highlights from A Good Life in Old Age? Monitoring and Improving Quality in Long-Term Care. 2013, OECD: Paris, France.
- 104. Ikegami N, Ishibashi T and Amano T, Japan's long-term care regulations focused on structure – rationale and future prospects, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 121-144.
- 105. OECD, Korea: Long-term Care. 2011, OECD: Paris, France.
- 106. ESCAP, *Long-term Care of Older Persons in the Republic of Korea*. 2015, United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP): Bangkok, Thailand.
- 107. Jeon B and Kwon S, *Health and Long-Term Care Systems for Older People in the Republic of Korea: Policy Challenges and Lessons.* Health Systems & Reform, 2017. **3**(3): p. 214-223.
- 108. Jung HY, Jang SN, Seok JE and Kwon S, *Quality monitoring of long-term care in the Republic of Korea*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 385-408.
- 109. Kroneman M, Boerma W, van Den Berg M, Groenewegen P, de Jong J and van Ginneken E, *Netherlands: Health System Review.* Health Syst Transit, 2016. **18**(2): p. 1-240.
- 110. Alders P, Comijs HC and Deeg DJH, *Changes in admission to long-term care institutions in the Netherlands: comparing two cohorts over the period 1996-1999 and 2006-2009.* Eur J Ageing, 2017. **14**(2): p. 123-131.
- 111. Wammes J, Jeurissen P, Westert G and Tanke M. *The Dutch health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/netherlands/</u>.
- 112. Bakx P, O'Donnell O and van Doorslaer E, *Spending on Health Care in the Netherlands: Not Going So Dutch.* Fiscal Studies, 2016. **37**(3-4): p. 593-625.
- 113. Schut F and van den Berg B, *Sustainability of Comprehensive Universal Long-term Care Insurance in the Netherlands.* Social Policy & Administration, 2010. **44**(4): p. 411-435.
- 114. Ministry of Public Health Welfare and Sport. *Healthcare in the Netherlands*. 2016; Available from:

https://www.eiseverywhere.com/file\_uploads/0f57b7c2d0d94ff45769269d50876905\_P4-HealthcareintheNetherlands.pdf.

- 115. Gauld R. *The New Zealand health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/new\_zealand/</u>.
- 116. Meehan B and Millar N, *Regulating the quality of long-term aged care in New Zealand*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 357-382.
- 117. Leszko M, Zając-Lamparska L and Trempala J, *Aging in Poland.* The Gerontologist, 2015. **55**(5): p. 707-715.

- 118. Golinowskia S and Sowa A, *Policies and services that foster the social participation of older people in poor health conditions: Poland Country Report Final version*. 2015, Mobilising the Potential of Active Ageing in Europe (MoPAct): Sheffield, UK.
- 119. Sowa-Kofta A, *ESPN Thematic Report on Challenges in long-term care: Poland*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 120. UNECE, Report on the Fulfillment of the Regional Implementation Strategy of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing in the Russian Federation. 2011, UNECE: Moscow, Russia. p. 1-32.
- 121. ESCAP, Long-term Care of Older Persons in Singapore: A perspective on the current delivery of health and long-term care for older persons in Singapore, SDD-SPPS Project Working Papers Series: Long-term care for older persons in Asia and The Pacific. 2015, United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific: Bangkok, Thailand.
- 122. Chin CW and Phua KH, *Long-Term Care Policy: Singapore's Experience*. J Aging Soc Policy, 2016. **28**(2): p. 113-29.
- 123. Graham WCK and Bilger M, *Financing Long-Term Services and Supports: Ideas From Singapore.* Milbank Q, 2017. **95**(2): p. 358-407.
- 124. Gove K, Ping JLL and Soontornwipart Z, *Future of Long Term Care in Singapore*, in *Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy*. 2016, National University of Singapore: Singapore.
- 125. Singapore Ministry of Health, Service Requirements for Centre-Based Care. 2018. p. 1-51.
- 126. Seth Jones D, *Welfare and Public Management in Singapore: A Study of State and Voluntary Sector Partnership.* Asian Journal of Public Administration, 2002. **24**(1): p. 57-85.
- 127. Lien Foundation, *Home & centre-based care services outstrip nursing homes as the main form of long-term care in Singapore, shows Lien Foundation-NUS study.* 2018. p. 1-9.
- 128. Glenngard A. *The Swedish health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/sweden/</u>.
- 129. OECD, OECD Reviews of Health Care Quality: Sweden 2013. 2013, OECD: Paris, France.
- 130. Trein P, *ESPN Thematic Report on Challenges in long-term care: Switzerland*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 131. Weaver F, *Long-Term Care Financing in Switzerland*, Financing Long-Term Care in Europe: Institutions, Markets and Models, Costa-Font J and Courbage C, Editors. 2012, Palgrave Macmillan UK: London, UK. p. 279-299.
- 132. Sturny I. *The Swiss Health Care System*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/switzerland/</u>.
- 133. Bartelt G, Gilgen R, Grob D and Münzer T, *Quality monitoring and long-term care in Switzerland*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 102-120.
- 134. Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). *Distribution of certified nursing facility residents by primary payer source*. 2017; Available from: <u>https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/distribution-of-certified-nursing-facilities-by-primary-payer-source/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22: %22asc%22%7D.</u>
- 135. Font JC, Frank R and Swartz K, *Access to Long-Term Care After a Wealth Shock: Evidence from the Housing Bubble and Burst,* Working Paper 23781. 2017, National Bureau of Economic Research: Cambridge, UK.
- 136. Norton EC, *Long-term care and pay-for-performance programs*. Review of Development Economics, 2018. **22**(3): p. 1005-1021.
- 137. Brown JR and Finkelstein A, *Insuring Long-Term Care in the United States.* Journal of Economic Perspectives, 2011. **25**(4): p. 119-42.
- 138. Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). Distribution of certified nursing facilities by ownership type.
   2017; Available from: <u>https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/nursing-facilities-by-ownership-</u>

type/?currentTimeframe=0&selectedRows=%7B%22states%22:%7B%22all%22:%7B%7D%7D ,%22wrapups%22:%7B%22united-

states%22:%7B%7D%7D%7D&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22: %22asc%22%7D.

- 139. U.S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, *State operations manual. Appendix PP. Guidance for surveyors for long term care facilities (revision 70).* 2011, State operations manual: Baltimore, MD.
- 140. Harris-Kojetin L, Sengupta M, Park-Lee E, Valverde R, Caffrey C, Rome V and Lendon J, *Long-Term Care Providers and services users in the United States: data from the National Study of Long-Term Care Providers, 2013-2014.* Vital Health Stat 3, 2016(38): p. x-xii; 1-105.
- 141. Rice T, Rosenau P, Unruh LY, Barnes AJ, Saltman RB and van Ginneken E, *United States of America: health system review.* Health systems in transition, 2013. **15**(3): p. 1-431.
- 142. Stevenson D and Bramson J, *Regulation of long-term care in the United States*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 289-323.
- 143. Angel JL, Vega W and Lopez-Ortega M, *Aging in Mexico: Population Trends and Emerging Issues.* Gerontologist, 2016. **pii: gnw136. [Epub ahead of print]**.
- 144. Dintrans PAV, *Towards a Long-Term Care System in Chile*, in *Faculty of The Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health*. 2018, Harvard University: Boston, Massachusetts.
- 145. Maina L. *How Kenya can ensure adequate health care for its older people*. 2017; Available from: <u>http://theconversation.com/how-kenya-can-ensure-adequate-health-care-for-its-older-people-70163</u>.
- 146. Scheil-Adlung, *Long-term care protection for older persons: A review of coverage deficits in* 46 countries, in ESS – Working Paper No. 50. 2015, International Labour Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 147. Vietnam Ministry of Health, *Joint Annual Health Review 2016: Towards healthy aging in Vietnam*. 2018, Vietnam Ministry of Health: Hanoi, Vietnam.
- 148. Ministry of Labour Social Security and Services of Republic of Kenya, *National Policy on Older Persons and Ageing*. 2014, Republic of Kenya: Nairobi, Kenya.
- 149. World Health Organization: Centre for Health Development, *CBSI Case Studies: Viet Nam: Elderly helping elderly initiatives.* 2019, WHO: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 150. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP), *Report* of the Asia-Pacific expert meeting on long-term care and China/ESCAP: "Strengthening national capacity for promoting and protecting the rights of older persons" project launching ceremony 2014, United Nations ESCAP: Bangkok, Thailand.
- 151. Scheil-Adlung X and International Labour Office, *Global estimates of deficits in long-term care protection for older persons* Extension of Social Security series. 2015, ILO: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 152. Pratono AH and Maharani A, *Long-term care in Indonesia: The role of integrated service post for elderly.* J Aging Health, 2018. **30**(10): p. 1556-1573.
- 153. Mahendradhata Y, Trisnantoro L, Listyadewi S, Soewondo P, Marthias T, Harimurti P and Prawira J, *The Republic of Indonesia Health System Review, Health Systems in Transition*. 2017, WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia: New Delhi, India.
- 154. Suwandono A, Ingerani Q and Suhardi, *Case study: Indonesia*, Long-term care in developing countries : Ten case-studies, Brodsky J, et al., Editors. 2003, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland. p. 119-70.
- 155. Lopez-Ortega M, *Estimation of the supply of informal care in Mexico: What influences the decision to care for the elderly?*, in *IZA Workshop: Long-Term Care*, Pollack R and Cardoso AR, Editors. 2007, IZA Institute of Labor Economics: Bonn, Germany.
- 156. Robledo LMG, Ortega ML and Lopera VEA, *The state of elder care in Mexico*. Current Geriatrics Reports, 2012. **1**(4): p. 183-189.

- 157. Dovie DA, *The Status of Older Adult Care in Contemporary Ghana: A Profile of Some Emerging Issues.* Front. Sociol., 2019. **4**(25).
- 158. Nortey ST, Aryeetey GC, Aikins M, Amendah D and Nonvignon J, *Economic burden of family caregiving for elderly population in southern Ghana: the case of a peri-urban district*. Int J Equity Health, 2017. **16**(1): p. 16.
- 159. Aboderin I, Mbaka C, Egesa C and Owii HA, *Human rights and residential care for older adults in sub-Saharan Africa: case study of Kenya*, Towards Human Rights in Residential Care for Older Persons: International perspectives, Meenan H, Rees N, and Doron I, Editors. 2016, Routledge: New York, NY, USA. p. 23-32.
- Mathiu P and Mathiu EK. Social Protection for the Elderly as a Development Strategy: a case study of Kenya's old persons cash transfer programme. in III International Conference of IESE on 'Mozambique: Accumulation and Transformation in a Context of International Crisis'.
   2012. IESE: Maputo, Mozambique. p. 4-5.
- 161. Lloyd-Sherlock P, *Long-term Care for Older People in South Africa: The Enduring Legacies of Apartheid and HIV/AIDS.* Jnl Soc. Pol., 2019. **48**(1): p. 147-167.
- 162. WHO, *Towards long-term care systems in sub-Saharan Africa*, in *WHO series on long-term care*. 2017, WHO: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 163. Australian Government. *Quality indicators in residential aged care*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://agedcare.health.gov.au/ensuring-quality/quality-indicators-for-aged-care</u>.
- 164. Australian Government. *Quality Standards*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/providers/standards</u>.
- 165. InterRAI New Zealand. InterRAI. 2019; Available from: https://www.interrai.co.nz/.
- 166. Schols JMGA, Frijters DHM, Kempen RGIJM and Hamers JPH, Quality monitoring of long-term care in the Netherlands, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK. p. 211-239.
- 167. Ministry of Health, *Service Requirements for Home Care Services*. 2018, Ministry of Health: Singapore.
- 168. Ministry of Health (MOH). *Residential care questions and answers*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/life-stages/health-older-people/long-term-</u> <u>residential-care/residential-care-questions-and-answers</u>.
- 169. Lee HY and Shin JH, *Public Reporting on the Quality Ratings of Nursing Homes in the Republic of Korea.* J Korean Acad Nurs, 2019. **49**(2): p. 161-170.
- 170. Care Quality Commission. *The independent regulator of health and social care in England*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/</u>.
- 171. Schon P and Heap J, *ESPN Thematic Report on Challanges in long-term care: Sweden*. 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 172. National Board of Health and Welfare. *Statistics and data: Open comparisons*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/statistik-och-data/oppna-jamforelser/</u>.
- 173. Meenan H, Rees N, Doron I and Aboderin I, *Towards human rights in residential care for older persons : international perspectives*. 2016, Routledge: New York, NY, USA.
- 174. Kountouros H and Rees N, *Dignity as a theoretical and legal construct in the context of care for older persons and the developing human rights agenda for older persons*, Towards Human Rights in Residential Care for Older Persons: International perspectives, Meenan H, Rees N, and Doron I, Editors. 2016, Routledge: New York, NY, USA.
- 175. United Nations, Human Rights and Commissioner OotH. *Committee on the Rights of Persons* with Disabilities: Call for submissions: Day of General Discussion (DGD) on the right of persons with disabilities to live independently and be included in the community, to be held on 19 April 2016, (Conference room XIX, Palais des Nations), Geneva. 2016; Available from: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CRPD/Pages/CallDGDtoliveindependently.aspx.

- 176. Ontario, *A Guide to the Long-Term Care Homes Act, 2007 and Regulation 79/10.* 2007, Ontario, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.
- 177. Mollot RJ, *Residential care in the United States: A persistent struggle for quality, dignity and independence,* Towards Human Rights in Residential Care for Older Persons: International perspectives, Meenan H, Rees N, and Doron I, Editors. 2016, Routledge: New York, NY, USA. p. 167-184.
- 178. Australian Government. *Charter of Aged Care Rights*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://agedcare.health.gov.au/quality/single-charter-of-aged-care-rights</u>.
- 179. Harrison SL, Lang C, Whitehead C, Crotty M, Ratcliffe J, Wesselingh S and Inacio MC, *Trends in Prevalence of Dementia for People Accessing Aged Care Services in Australia*. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2019.
- Harrington C, Schnelle JF, McGregor M and Simmons SF, Article Commentary: The Need for Higher Minimum Staffing Standards in U.S. Nursing Homes. Health Services Insights, 2016. 9(9).
- 181. Liu E, Dyer SM, O'Donnell LK, Milte R, Bradley C, Harrison SL, Gnanamanickam E, Whitehead C and Crotty M, Association of cardiovascular system medications with cognitive function and dementia in older adults living in nursing homes in Australia. J Geriatr Cardiol, 2017.
   14(6): p. 407-415.
- 182. Westbury JL, Gee P, Ling T, Brown DT, Franks KH, Bindoff I, Bindoff A and Peterson GM, *RedUSe: reducing antipsychotic and benzodiazepine prescribing in residential aged care facilities.* Med J Aust, 2018. **208**(9): p. 398-403.
- 183. Harrison SL, Kouladjian O'Donnell L, Milte R, Dyer SM, Gnanamanickam ES, Bradley C, Liu E, Hilmer SN and Crotty M, *Costs of potentially inappropriate medication use in residential aged care facilities.* BMC Geriatr, 2018. **18**(1): p. 9.
- 184. Brodaty H, Aerts L, Harrison F, Jessop T, Cations M, Chenoweth L, Shell A, Popovic GC, Heffernan M, Hilmer S, Sachdev PS and Draper B, *Antipsychotic Deprescription for Older Adults in Long-term Care: The HALT Study.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2018. **19**(7): p. 592-600.e7.
- 185. Smeets CHW, Gerritsen DL, Zuidema SU, Teerenstra S, van der Spek K, Smalbrugge M and Koopmans R, *Psychotropic drug prescription for nursing home residents with dementia: prevalence and associations with non-resident-related factors.* Aging Ment Health, 2018. 22(9): p. 1239-1246.
- 186. van der Spek K, Gerritsen DL, Smalbrugge M, Nelissen-Vrancken MH, Wetzels RB, Smeets CH, Zuidema SU and Koopmans RT, *Only 10% of the psychotropic drug use for neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with dementia is fully appropriate. The PROPER I-study.* Int Psychogeriatr, 2016. **28**(10): p. 1589-95.
- 187. Dyer SM, Laver K, Pond CD, Cumming RG, Whitehead C and Crotty M, *Clinical practice guidelines and principles of care for people with dementia in Australia*. Aust Fam Physician, 2016. **45**(12): p. 884-889.
- 188. American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria(R) Update Expert Panel, American Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria(R) for Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2019. **67**(4): p. 674-694.
- 189. Morgan WA, Waterreus A, Jablensky A, Mackinnon A, McGrath JJ, Carr V, Bush R, Castle D, Cohen M, Harvey C, Galletly C, Stain HJ, Neil A, McGorry P, Hocking B, Shah S and Saw S, *People living with psychotic illness 2010: Report on the second Australian national survey.* 2011, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, ACT, Australia.
- 190. Frijters DH, van der Roest HG, Carpenter IG, Finne-Soveri H, Henrard J-C, Chetrit A, Gindin J and Bernabei R, *The calculation of quality indicators for long term care facilities in 8 countries (SHELTER project).* BMC health services research, 2013. **13**(1): p. 138.
- 191. Maximova TM, Belov VB, Lushkina NP and Karpova VM, *Study on global AGEing and adult health (SAGE) Wave 1: Russian Federation National Report*. 2014, National Research Institute of Public Health, Russian Academy of Medical Sciences (RAMS): Moscow, Russia.
- 192. Phaswana-Mafuya N, Pelzter K, Schneider M, Makiwane M, Zuma K, Ramlagan S, Tabane C, Davides A, Mbelle N, Matseke G and Phaweni K, *Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health (SAGE), South Africa 2007–2008*. 2012, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 193. Szende A, Jansses B and Cabases J, *Self-Reported Population health: An International Perspective based on EQ-5D*. 2014, EuroQol Group: Rotterdam, Netherlands.
- 194. WHO, *Study on global AGEing and adult health (SAGE) Wave 1: Mexico National Report.* 2014, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 195. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). *The Commonwealth Fund 2017 International Health Policy Survey of Seniors* 2017; Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/cmwf-2017-data-tables-en-web.xlsx.</u>
- 196. Osborn R, Doty M, Moulds D, Sarnak D and Shah A. 2017 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of Older Adults. in 2017 Commonwealth Fund International Symposium.
   2017. The Commonwealth Fund: Washington, DC, USA.
- 197. Ciccarelli N and Van Soest A, *Informal Caregiving, Employment Status and Work Hours of the* 50+ Population in Europe. Economist (Leiden), 2018. **166**(3): p. 363-396.
- 198. Cecchini M, *The Hidden Economics of Informal Elder-Care in the United States.* Journal of the Economics of Ageing, 2018. **12**: p. 218-24.
- 199. Bouget D, Spasova S and Vanhercke B, *Work-life balance Measures for persons of Working Age with Dependent Relatives in Europe, A Study of National Policies 2016.* 2016, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 200. Guideline Adaptation Committee, *Clinical Practice Guidelines and Principles of Care for People with Dementia*. 2016, NHMRC Partnership Centre for Dealing with Cognitive and Related Functional Decline in Older People: Sydney, Australia.
- 201. Adelman R, Tmanova L, Delgado D, Dion S and Lachs M, *Caregiver burden: A clinical review*. JAMA, 2014. **311**(10): p. 1052-1059.
- 202. Daly M, *Rethinking the Approach to Long-Term Care.* Wirtschaftspolitische Blatter, 2018. **65**(1): p. 77-83.
- 203. Rodrigues R, Schulmann K, Schmidt A, Kalavrezou N and Matsaganis M, *The indirect costs of long-term care*, Social Situation Monitor Research Note 8/2013. 2013, European Commission: Brussel, Belgium.
- 204. Bonsang E, *Does informal care from children to their elderly parents substitute for formal care in Europe*? J Health Econ, 2009. **28**(1): p. 143-54.
- 205. Marchildon G, *Canada: Health system review*. Health Systems in Transition, 2013. **15**(1).
- 206. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, *Dementia in Australia*. 2012, AIHW: Canberra, Australia.
- 207. Australian Government: National Commission of Audit. *9.10 Carer payments*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.ncoa.gov.au/report/appendix-volume-1/9-10-carer-payments</u>.
- 208. Australian Government. *Carer Allowance*. 2018; Available from: <u>https://www.dss.gov.au/disability-and-carers/benefits-payments/carer-allowance</u>.
- 209. Australian Government. *Payment for sick & carer's leave*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.fairwork.gov.au/leave/sick-and-carers-leave/paid-sick-and-carers-leave/payment-for-sick-and-carers-leave</u>.
- 210. Schulmann K and Leichsenring K, *Social support and long-term care in EU care regimes: framework conditions and initiatives of social innovation in an active ageing perspective*, WP8 Overview Report. 2014, MoPAct: Sheffield, UK.
- 211. DG Employment SAaIEC, *Peer Review on "Germany's latest reforms of the long-term care system". Host Country Discussion Paper Germany: Long-term care in Germany.* 2018, European Commission: Brussels, Belgium.
- 212. Riedel M and Kraus M, *Informal Care Provision in Europe: Regulation and Profile of Providers*, ENEPRI Research Report No. 96. 2011, European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes (ENEPRI).

- 213. Da Roit B, Le Bihan B and Osterle A, *Cash-for-care benefits*, Long-tern care reforms in OECD countries, Gori C, Fernandez J-L, and Wittenburg R, Editors. 2016, Bristol University Press: Bristol, UK. p. 143-166.
- Czaplicki C, Pflege zahlt sich aus--Der Beitrag nichterwerbsmassiger Pflege zur Alterssicherung. (Care Pays Off--the Contribution Economically Excessive Care for Retirement. With English summary.). Sozialer Fortschritt/German Review of Social Policy, 2016. 65(5): p. 105-12.
- 215. Schulz E, *The Long-Term Care System in Denmark*. DIW Berlin, SSRN Electronic Journal, 2010: p. 1-25.
- 216. Costa-Font J, Jimenez-Martin S and Vilaplana C, *Does long-term care subsidization reduce hospital admissions and utilization?* J Health Econ, 2018. **58**: p. 43-66.
- 217. Costa-Font J, Jimenez-Martin S and Vilaplana-Prieto C, *Thinking of incentivizing care? The effect of demand subsidies on informal caregiving and intergenerational transfers,* Working Paper 929. 2016, Barcelona Graduate School of Economics: Barcelona, Spain.
- 218. Dale SB and Brown RS, *How does Cash and Counseling affect costs?* Health services research, 2007. **42**(1 Pt 2): p. 488-509.
- 219. Coe NB, Guo J, Konetzka RT and Van Houtven CH, *What is the Marginal Benefit of Payment-Induced Family Care?* Health Economics, 2019. **28**(5): p. 678-92.
- 220. Fernandez J-L, Trigg L, Reinhard H-J and Micharikopoulos D, *European long-term care models compatibility with social investment approaches*. 2018, Social Protection Innovative Investment in Long-Term Care (SPRINT).
- 221. Geyer J and Korfhage T, *Labor Supply Effects of Long-Term Care Reform in Germany*. Health Economics, 2018. **27**(9): p. 1328-39.
- 222. FitzGerald Murphy M and Kelly C, *Questioning "choice": A multinational metasynthesis of research on directly funded home-care programs for older people.* Health & social care in the community, 2019. **27**(3): p. e37-e56.
- 223. Dyer SM, van den Berg M, Winsall M, Ross T, Laver K, Saggese A, Shulver W, Rahja M, de la Perrelle L, Crotty M, Maeder A, Moores C, Meyer C, Johnstone G, Ogrin R, Edwards J, Lowthian J, Parella A, D'Angelo S, Brown A and Barnett A, *Review of Innovative Models of Aged Care: Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety.* 2019, Flinders University: Bedford Park, SA, Australia.
- 224. United Nations: Department of Economic and Social Affairs, *Briefing Paper: Growing Need for Long-Term Care: Assumptions and Realities.* 2016, United Nations: New York, USA.
- 225. United Nations ESCAP, *Long-term Care of Older Persons in China*. 2015, UNESCAP: Bangkok, Thailand. p. 1-28.
- 226. HelpAge International. *About us: Our history*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/who-we-are/our-history/</u>.
- 227. HelpAge Korea, *Community-based home care for older people in South East Asia*. 2009, HelpAge Korea: Seoul, Korea.
- 228. HelpAge Korea, *Home care for older people: the experience of ASEAN countries*. 2014, HelpAge Korea: Seoul, Korea.
- 229. Harrison SL, Lang C, Whitehead C, Crotty M, Corlis M, Wesselingh S and Inacio M, *Residential respite care use is associated with fewer overall days in residential aged care.* JAMDA, In press.
- 230. Tune D, *Legislated Review of Aged Care 2017*. 2017, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, ACT, Australia.
- 231. Shiu C, Muraco A and Fredriksen-Goldsen K, *Invisible Care: Friend and Partner Care Among Older Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT) Adults.* Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research, 2016. **7**(3): p. 527-546.

- 232. Keefe J, Ogilvie R and Fancey P, *Examining a "Household" Model of Residential Long-term Care in Nova Scotia*. Health Reform Observer Observatoire des Réformes de Santé, 2017.
   5(1): p. Article 3.
- 233. Nova Scotia Department of Health, *Continuing Care Strategy: Long Term Care Facility Requirements (Space and Design) RFP 60131638 Appendix B*. 2007, Nova Scotia Department of Health: Halifax, NS.
- 234. Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness, *Long Term Care Program Requirements: Nursing Homes & Residential Care Facilities*. 2016, Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness: Halifax, NS.
- 235. Government of Nova Scotia, *Minister's Expert Advisory Panel on Long Term Care: Recommendations December 21, 2018.* 2018, Government of Nova Scotia: Halifax, NS.
- 236. Fuenmayor A, Granell R and Tortosa MA, *Quasi-markets Targets and the Evaluation of Nursing-Home Funding in the Valencian Region.* Hacienda Publica Espanola/Revista de Economia Publica, 2016(216): p. 13-38.
- 237. Werner RM, Skira M and Konetzka RT, *An Evaluation of Performance Thresholds in Nursing Home Pay-for-Performance*. Health Serv Res, 2016. **51**(6): p. 2282-2304.
- 238. Werner RM, Konetzka RT and Polsky D, *The effect of pay-for-performance in nursing homes:* evidence from state Medicaid programs. Health Serv Res, 2013. **48**(4): p. 1393-414.
- 239. Grabowski DC, Stevenson DG, Caudry DJ, O'Malley AJ, Green LH, Doherty JA and Frank RG, *The Impact of Nursing Home Pay-for-Performance on Quality and Medicare Spending: Results from the Nursing Home Value-Based Purchasing Demonstration.* Health services research, 2017. **52**(4): p. 1387-1408.
- 240. Duell D, Koolman X and Portrait F, *Practice Variation in the Dutch Long-Term Care and the Role of Supply-Sensitive Care: Is Access to the Dutch Long-Term Care Equitable?* Health Economics, 2017. **26**(12): p. 1728-42.
- 241. Curry N, What can England learn from the long-term care systems in Japan and Germany? (Summit 2019 slides). 2019, Nuffield Trust: London, UK.
- 242. Yang W, He AJ, Fang L and Mossialos E, *Financing Institutional Long-Term Care for the Elderly in China: A Policy Evaluation of New Models.* Health Policy and Planning, 2016. **31**(10): p. 1391-1401.
- 243. UNFPA, *The ageing population in Vietnam: Current status, prognosis and possible policy responses.* 2011, United Nationals Population Fund: New York, USA.
- 244. Park JM, *Equity of access under Korean national long-term care insurance: implications for long-term care reform.* International journal for equity in health, 2015. **14**(1): p. 82.
- 245. Kato RR, *The future prospect of the long-term care insurance in Japan*. Japan and the World Economy, 2018. **47**: p. 1-17.
- 246. OECD, *Old-age dependency ratio*, Pensions at a Glance 2017: OECD and G20 Indicators. 2017, OECD Publishing: Paris, France.
- 247. Geyer J, Haan P and Korfhage T, *Indirect Fiscal Effects of Long-Term Care Insurance*. Fiscal Studies, 2017. **38**(3): p. 393-415.
- 248. Royal Commission into Aged Care Transcript and witness statement from Ian Yates, CE of COTA Australia, in the Matter of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. 2019.
- 249. Yates I, Kaplan M, Irlam C and Gregurke J, *Keep fixing Australia's aged care system ... taking the next steps in tandem with the Royal Commission*. 2018, COTA Australia. p. 1-39.
- 250. Gnanamanickam ES, Dyer SM, Milte R, Harrison SL, Liu E, Easton T, Bradley C, Bilton R, Shulver W, Ratcliffe J, Whitehead C and Crotty M, *Direct health and residential care costs of people living with dementia in Australian residential aged care.* Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2018.
- 251. Costa-i-Font J, "Institutionalization Aversion" and the Willingness to Pay for Home Health Care. Journal of Housing Economics, 2017. **38**: p. 62-9.

- 252. Gray LC, Cullen DJ and Lomas HB, *Regulating long-term care quality in Australia*, Regulating Long-Term Care Quality: An International Comparison, Mor V, Leone T, and Maresso A, Editors. 2014, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge: UK. p. 149-179.
- 253. Werner RM, Konetzka RT and Polsky D, *Changes in Consumer Demand Following Public Reporting of Summary Quality Ratings: An Evaluation in Nursing Homes.* Health Serv Res, 2016. **51 Suppl 2**: p. 1291-309.
- 254. Han X, Yaraghi N and Gopal R, *Winning at All Costs: Analysis of Inflation in Nursing Homes' Rating System.* Production and Operations Management, 2018. **27**(2): p. 215-33.
- 255. My aged care. *Find a provider*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/find-a-provider</u>.
- 256. My aged care. *Home care packages*. 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/help-at-home/home-care-packages</u>.
- 257. My aged care. *Aged care homes*. 2019; Available from: https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/aged-care-homes.
- 258. Productivity Commission. *Report on Government Services 2018: chapter 14 aged care services*. 2018; Available from: <u>https://www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2018/community-services/aged-care-services</u>.
- 259. Boscart VM, Sidani S, Poss J, Davey M, d'Avernas J, Brown P, Heckman G, Ploeg J and Costa AP, *The associations between staffing hours and quality of care indicators in long-term care*. BMC Health Serv Res, 2018. **18**(1): p. 750.
- 260. Estabrooks CA, Squires JE, Carleton HL, Cummings GG and Norton PG, Who is looking after Mom and Dad? Unregulated workers in Canadian long-term care homes. Can J Aging, 2015.
   34(1): p. 47-59.
- 261. WHO, *World Report on Ageing and Health*. 2015, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 262. National Health Insurance Service (NHIS). *Long-term care insurance: National health insurance service*. Available from: <u>https://www.nhis.or.kr/static/html/wbd/g/a/wbdga0503.html</u>.
- 263. Maarse JAMH and Jeurissen PPP, *The policy and politics of the 2015 long-term care reform in the Netherlands.* Health Policy, 2016. **120**(3): p. 241-245.
- 264. Golinowska S and Sowa A, *Quality and cost-effectiveness in long-term care and dependency prevention: the Polish policy landscape.* CASE Research Paper, 2017(489).
- 265. Golinowska S, Kocot E and Sowa A, *Employment in Long-term Care. Report on Poland.* CASE Network Studies and Analyses, 2014(473): p. 1-52.
- 266. Ho ELE and Huang S, *Care where you are: enabling Singaporeans to age well in the community.* 2018, Lien Foundation: Singapore.
- 267. Thorlby R and Arora S. *The English health care system*. 2016; Available from: <u>https://international.commonwealthfund.org/countries/england/</u>.
- 268. Kuroda N, Hamada S, Sakata N, Jeon B, Iijima K, Yoshie S, Ishizaki T, Jin X, Watanabe T and Tamiya N, *Antipsychotic use and related factors among people with dementia aged 75 years or older in J apan: A comprehensive population-based estimation using medical and long-term care data.* International journal of geriatric psychiatry, 2019. **34**(3): p. 472-479.
- 269. Stevenson DG, Decker SL, Dwyer LL, Huskamp HA, Grabowski DC, Metzger ED and Mitchell SL, *Antipsychotic and benzodiazepine use among nursing home residents: findings from the 2004 National Nursing Home Survey.* Am J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2010. **18**(12): p. 1078-92.
- 270. Inacio MC, Harrison SL, Lang C, Sluggett JK and Wesselingh S, Personal Communication to S. Dyer. Antipsychotic medicines dispensed before and after entering residential aged care: Preliminary report and findings from the National Historical Cohort of the Registry of Older South Australians. Registry of Older South Australians. p. 1-11.
- 271. Johnell K and Fastbom J, *Comparison of prescription drug use between community-dwelling and institutionalized elderly in Sweden.* Drugs & aging, 2012. **29**(9): p. 751-758.

- 272. Szczepura A, Wild D, Khan AJ, Owen DW, Palmer T, Muhammad T, Clark MD and Bowman C, Antipsychotic prescribing in care homes before and after launch of a national dementia strategy: an observational study in English institutions over a 4-year period. BMJ open, 2016.
   6(9): p. e009882.
- 273. Vasudev A, Shariff SZ, Liu K, Burhan AM, Herrmann N, Leonard S and Mamdani M, *Trends in Psychotropic Dispensing Among Older Adults with Dementia Living in Long-Term Care Facilities: 2004-2013.* Am J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2015. **23**(12): p. 1259-1269.
- 274. Foebel AD, Liperoti R, Onder G, Finne-Soveri H, Henrard JC, Lukas A, Denkinger MD, Gambassi G, Bernabei R and Investigators SS, *Use of antipsychotic drugs among residents with dementia in European long-term care facilities: results from the SHELTER study.* Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 2014. **15**(12): p. 911-917.
- 275. Do M, Chang V, Kuran N and Thompson W, *Fall-related injuries among Canadian seniors,* 2005–2013: an analysis of the Canadian Community Health Survey. Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada: research, policy and practice, 2015. **35**(7): p. 99.
- 276. interRAI New Zealand, *National interRAI Data Analysis Annual Report 2015/16*. 2016, Central Region's Technical Advisory Services Limited (TAS): Wellington, NZ.
- 277. Gunningberg L, Hommel A, Bååth C and Idvall E, *The first national pressure ulcer prevalence survey in county council and municipality settings in Sweden.* Journal of evaluation in clinical practice, 2013. **19**(5): p. 862-867.
- 278. Raggi A, Corso B, Minicuci N, Quintas R, Sattin D, De Torres L, Chatterji S, Frisoni GB, Haro JM, Koskinen S, Martinuzzi A, Miret M, Tobiasz-Adamczyk B and Leonardi M, *Determinants of Quality of Life in Ageing Populations: Results from a Cross-Sectional Study in Finland, Poland and Spain.* PLoS ONE, 2016. **11**(7): p. e0159293.

# **Appendix 1: Contributors to this report**

Flinders University, Rehabilitation, Aged and	Suzanne M Dyer
Extended Care	Megan Winsall
	Tyler Ross
NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre	Wendy Shulver
	Miia Rahja
	Maria Crotty
THEMA Consulting	Dominic Tilden
	Madeleine Valeri
	Nimita Arora
Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and	Lok Chiu
Safety	Grant Whitesman
	David Cullen

# Acknowledgements

A/Prof Maria Inacio from the Registry of Senior Australians (ROSA) and A/Prof Craig Whitehead from Flinders University are acknowledged for their helpful advice.

# **Appendix 2: Detailed typology tables**

A typology is used to compare the financing, regulation and access in aged care systems internationally. In general, the typology scores reflect consumer friendliness, with a score of 1 reflecting a system that is least preferred by consumers and a score of 3 reflecting a score that is most preferable to consumers [1]. The typology characteristics with scored values for organisation and financing of LTC are presented in Table 4 to Table 6. In addition to the typology scores, elements characterising key components of the regulatory system and descriptive variables that capture information about quality assurance and regulation, training requirements, sources of funding and the types of providers are summarised. The sum of the typology scores provides an indication of which countries have aged care systems that are likely to be preferable to the consumer.

## Table 4. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations A to J

Characteristic	Australia [1, 11, 50, 64, 72, 252, 255-258]	Canada <sup>d</sup> (predominantly Ontario) [50, 74-77, 79, 82-84, 259, 260]	Denmark [14, 50, 86, 87]	Germany [1, 8, 15, 94-96]	Japan [50, 79, 99, 101, 104, 261]
Typology scores for organisation and financing of L	TC (based on Kraus et al. [	1]). Consumer friendliness:	1 = lowest, 3 = highest		
Means-tested access	3	2	3	3	3
Entitlement to formal care/home care	3ª	2	3	3	3
Availability of cash benefits	1	2	1 <sup>b</sup>	2	1
Recipients choose provider	3	3	3	3	3
Quality assurance	3	3	3	3	3
Quality of coordination between LTC and other services	2	2	3	2	3
Formal care recipients have cost sharing	2	2	3	3	2
Quality and regulation of the aged care system	1	L	L	L	
Central vs decentralised regulation	Centralised	Decentralised	Decentralised	Decentralised	Decentralised
Single vs multiple levels of responsibility	Single (central)	Multiple	Single (local)	Multiple	Multiple
Public reporting of assessments	Yes (residential) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Public consumer ratings	Yes (residential)	No	Yes	Unclear	No
Regulatory approach (based on Mor et al. [2])	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Data measurement/ public reporting regulatory system	Inspection-based regulatory system	Professionalism- based regulatory systems	Professionalism- based regulatory systems
Quality assurance	Responsibility of the federal government. All organisations are required to comply with national quality standards.	Responsibility of the provincial governments. All facilities require accreditation by either of the two external agencies.	Responsibility of the municipalities. Obligatory quality inspections are followed up twice a year by local authorities.	Responsibility of the state. External, routine unannounced quality inspections are publicly reported.	Responsibility of sub- national governments. Annual reports must be submitted to the governor and results are publicly reported online.

Characteristic	Australia [1, 11, 50, 64, 72, 252, 255-258]	Canada <sup>d</sup> (predominantly Ontario) [50, 74-77, 79, 82-84, 259, 260]	Denmark [14, 50, 86, 87]	Germany [1, 8, 15, 94-96]	Japan [50, 79, 99, 101, 104, 261]
		Annual, random inspections. Results of mandated interRAI assessments are publicly reported online.	Inspection reports are made publicly available.		There are three complaint processes for clients and families.
LTC worker mandates	LTC workers do not require mandated training although national training programs exist.	Registered nurses: minimum requirement by law. Other LTC staff: differ by provinces; no national standards	Training mandated for nurses in LTC; national minimum requirements but differs across municipalities.	Education and training standards are mandated; however the level of training varies across regions. Staffing numbers are mandated.	Mandated training is required for certified care workers, home helpers and community care workers. Staff:resident ratios mandated at 1:3.
Additional information on financing of LTC for older	people				
Source of funding	LTC is predominately funded by the federal government through taxes (95%).	Predominately public funding (70%) from provincial health insurance plan. Residents' co- insurance or self-pay make up 22% of funding for LTC. The remaining 8% is made up by "other agencies", "preferential accommodation differential" and "sundry earnings".	Predominately financed through public finances (90%).	Social insurance (90%), private insurance (10%)	An equal split of social insurance premiums and general taxes fund LTC services, with 10% to 20% of financing coming from OOP co-payments for bed and board in IC.
Out-of-pocket costs	Estimated 5% of LTC costs. Residential care:	0.3% of GDP	0.2% of GDP 8% of LTC expenditure	0.4% of GDP 30.77% of LTC expenditure	0.1% of GDP 5% of LTC expenditure
	means tested OOP contributions,				

Characteristic	Australia [1, 11, 50, 64, 72, 252, 255-258]	Canada <sup>d</sup> (predominantly Ontario) [50, 74-77, 79, 82-84, 259, 260]	Denmark [14, 50, 86, 87]	Germany [1, 8, 15, 94-96]	Japan [50, 79, 99, 101, 104, 261]
	minimum 85% of age pension		OOP costs make up 10% of LTC expenditure		10–20% of financing is OOP co-payments for bed and board in IC. For home care, OOP costs are below the affordability threshold for people with all levels of needs (low, moderate, high)
Type of providers	Residential: 60% private non-profit & approx. 1/3 private for profit and state or local government providers [132].	Informal caregivers (66–84%) Residential: private for- profit (44%), private not-for-profit (30%), and public facilities (27%)	Majority public Private (14%) Informal carers (8.3%) Majority HC (80%)	Private for profit (62%), private non- profit (37%), public (2%).	Home care: majority private. Residential: predominately public or non-profit.

<sup>a</sup> For home care packages, although all are entitled, recipients may be placed on wait lists and do not necessarily receive packages in a timely manner. <sup>b</sup> Family members can be approved and employed by the local municipality as home care workers [88, 215]. <sup>c</sup> Audit reports publicly available for residential, serious risk decisions and direction issued for residential and home care. <sup>d</sup> Policies vary considerably between provinces.

Abbreviations: HC, home care; IC, institutional care; OOP, out-of-pocket.

Characteristic	Republic of Korea [106-108, 169, 262]	Netherlands [1, 50, 79, 111, 114, 166, 263]	New Zealand [115, 116, 168]	Poland [20, 117, 118, 264, 265]
Typology scores for organisation and	financing of LTC (based on Kraus et a	al. [1]). Consumer friendliness: 1 = low	vest, 3 = highest	
Means-tested access	3	3	3	1
Entitlement to formal care/home care	3	3	3	3
Availability of cash benefits	2ª	2	1	2
Recipients choose provider	3	3	3	3
Quality assurance	3	3	3	2
Quality of coordination between LTC and other services	2	2	3	2
Formal care recipients have cost sharing	1	1	1	1
Quality regulation of the aged care sy	vstem			
Central vs decentralised	Decentralised (registration), & centralised (inspection)	Decentralised	Centralised	Decentralised
Single vs multiple levels of responsibility	Multiple	Multiple	Multiple	NA <sup>b</sup>
Public reporting of assessments	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA <sup>b</sup>
Public consumer ratings	No	Yes	Yes	NA <sup>b</sup>
Regulatory approach (Mor et al.[2])	Developing regulatory systems	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Data measurement and public reporting based regulatory systems	Developing regulatory systems
Quality assurance	The National Health Insurance Corporation (NHIC) and local government are jointly responsible for quality assurance.	Responsibility of the central government and external agencies.	Responsibility of national government and District Health Boards (DHBs) Results of annual, random, "spot" auditing, using interRAI, in	Quality standards established for residential care institutions. No monitoring of informal care.

## Table 5. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations K to P

Characteristic	Republic of Korea [106-108, 169, 262]	Netherlands [1, 50, 79, 111, 114, 166, 263]	New Zealand [115, 116, 168]	Poland [20, 117, 118, 264, 265]
	Pay-for-performance and public reporting are used as quality control mechanisms.		IC and HC facilities are publicly available.	
LTC workers mandated training	National curriculum of minimum requirements for LTC workers is established. Care aides are certified.	No mandated training is required for LTC workers. Family members are able to become care aides if they undergo training.	Staff ratios, certification ratios and adequate staffing levels are required in IC. National voluntary standards are provided for HC; however home support workers are not regulated or certified nationally.	Major differences between health and social systems. Health sector: regulated employment and higher wages. Many LTC workers are unmonitored and unregistered, paid privately.
Additional information on financing o	f LTC for older people			
Source of funding	LTC funding is made up of mandatory premium contributions (60–65%) and government subsidies (20%)	Majority of LTC services financed through the social insurance scheme.	DHBs finance approximately 60% of LTC provided.	LTC services financed by the public sector are only a small part of overall expenditure. Majority of care provided informally and privately financed.
Out-of-pocket costs	15–20% LTC funding OOP co- payments	0.2% of GDP 5.41% of LTC expenditure OOP co-payments 8.7% of total LTC services spend in 2015. OOP costs are below the affordability threshold for home care regardless of level of need	0.1% of GDP	OOP costs high, data not available.
Type of providers	Predominately private providers (99.5%)	Majority of LTC services are provided by private, non-profit organisations.	Home care: all NGOs Residential: majority private	Residential: < 1% Informal > 80%

<sup>a</sup>Cash benefits available but infrequently provided [107]. <sup>b</sup>As quality assurance is minimal in Poland these items are considered not applicable.

Abbreviations: HC, home care; IC, institutional care, OOP, out-of-pocket.

Characteristic	Singapore [122-124, 126, 127, 266]	Sweden [1, 32, 50, 79, 128, 171]	Switzerland [50, 79, 130, 132, 133]	England [1, 11, 50, 79, 91, 93, 267]	USA [16, 79, 134, 138, 142]
Typology scores for organisati	on and financing of LTC (based	on Kraus et al. [1]). Consumer f	friendliness: 1 = lowest, 3 = high	est	
Means-tested access	1 <sup>a</sup>	3	3	1	1
Entitlement to formal care/home care	3	3	3	2	3
Availability of cash benefits	3 <sup>b</sup>	1 <sup>c</sup>	1	2	2
Recipients choose provider	3 <sup>b</sup>	3	3	3	3
Quality assurance	2	3	3	3	3
Quality of coordination between LTC and other services	2	3	3	2	2
Formal care recipients have cost sharing	1	1	1	2	1
Quality and regulation of the a	ged care system				
Central vs decentralised	Central	Decentralised	Decentralised	Centralised	Decentralised
Single vs multiple levels of responsibility	Multiple	Multiple	Multiple	Multiple	Multiple
Public reporting of assessments	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Public consumer ratings	Unclear	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Regulatory approach (Mor et al. [2])	Inspection-based regulatory systems	Data measurement/public reporting regulatory system	Professionalism-based regulatory systems	Inspection-based regulatory systems (England)	Data measurement and public reporting based regulatory systems

## Table 6. Typology for international LTC for older people systems, nations Q to U

Characteristic	Singapore [122-124, 126, 127, 266]	Sweden [1, 32, 50, 79, 128, 171]	Switzerland [50, 79, 130, 132, 133]	England [1, 11, 50, 79, 91, 93, 267]	USA [16, 79, 134, 138, 142]
Quality assurance	Responsibility of Ministry of Health At least once a year, most VWO establishments and programs are inspected. Centre-based care not licensed in Singapore.	Responsibility of the municipalities. Some external agencies publicly report results of quality inspections online.	Responsibility of the cantons within federal law requirements. Quality data are analysed and facilities with poor outcomes require reinspection. No obligation to make the results publicly available.	Responsibility of the federal government. Regular inspections collect qualitative and quantitative data on quality of care.	Responsibility of state governments. States follow a uniform minimum national set of standards. IC facilities are required to collect and publicly report RAI Minimum Data Set monitors.
LTC worker mandates	Training is mandated for LTC workers. There are prescribed staff:care recipient ratios and requirements for numbers of professional staff.	National training is not mandated for LTC workers and differs across municipalities.	Mandated training qualifications for nurses. No mandated training or qualification requirements for LTC workers. No national standards for staffing ratios.	Professional education and training standards exist; however the enforceability depends on the staff group. Social and care worker training is less enforced (England).	Nursing homes funded by Medicare and Medicaid must meet minimum nurse staffing ratios; however further staffing requirements differ across states.
Additional information on finan	ncing of LTC for older people				
Source of funding	Long-term social services and supports expenditure on people aged > 65 in 2015: government spending (42%), charitable donations (9%), and LTC insurance (9%).	Subsidised through local taxes (90%), OOP costs (5%) and national grants (5%).	Funding is made up of mandatory insurance (19% in IC, 35% in HC), private households, old age and disability benefits and government subsidies.	Of people requiring LTC, 50% are privately or self- funded, 37% fully funded, 12% partially funded and 10% funded through NHS (England).	In IC majority of funding is from Medicaid (62%) and private sources (25%). A small proportion of IC is financed through Medicare (13%).
Out-of-pocket expenditure	Expenditure on people ≥ 65 included 40% OOP spending in 2015	<ul> <li>0.2% of GDP</li> <li>6.25% of LTC expenditure</li> <li>User fees 3–4% of LTC funding</li> <li>For home care, OOP costs are below the affordability threshold for people with low, moderate and severe needs.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>0.7% of GDP</li> <li>41.18% of LTC expenditure</li> <li>18% funding OOP, old age and disability benefits by voluntary health insurance or other private funds</li> </ul>	0.5% of GDP For home care (England), it is expected that people contribute all of their income, except for an allowance for living costs.	0.2% of GDP For home care, it is expected that people contribute all of their income, except for an allowance for living costs.

Characteristic	Singapore [122-124, 126, 127, 266]	Sweden [1, 32, 50, 79, 128, 171]	Switzerland [50, 79, 130, 132, 133]	England [1, 11, 50, 79, 91, 93, 267]	USA [16, 79, 134, 138, 142]
Type of providers	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	LTC services are delivered by a mix of public and private providers.	private with public	providers, not for profit (England).	Mix of private for-profit providers.

<sup>a</sup> Whilst the majority of citizens have access to LTC at at least a basic level through LTC insurance, this is an opt-out private LTC insurance scheme rather than publicly financed. <sup>b</sup> Through ElderShield, government-run private LTC insurance.

° Some availability of cash benefits but plays a minimal role [171]. In some municipalities family members can be approved and employed by the local municipality as home care workers [22].

Abbreviations: HC, home care; IC, institutional care; NHS, National Health Service; OOP, out-of-pocket; RAI, Resident Assessment Instrument; VWO voluntary welfare organisation.

# Appendix 3: Additional tables and figures of quantitative comparisons



Figure 25. Proportion of people 80 years and over, 2000–2017

Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT

# Additional expenditure data

Figure 26 shows that, amongst Western nations with generally similar demographic profiles (e.g. Australia, UK, USA, New Zealand, the Netherlands), there is little relationship between government expenditure on LTC and the national age dependency ratio. Japan again has a high age dependency ratio relative to GDP per capita.





Source: Data extracted on 6 May 2019 from <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.</u> Note: data are shown as the proportion of dependents per 100 working-age population, 2016.

Figure 27 and Figure 28 show the relationship between government expenditure on LTC and the proportion of the population receiving LTC: Figure 28 shows the LTC recipient population aged 65 and over.



Figure 27. Government expenditure on LTC for older people against LTC recipients (all ages)

Source: LTC recipient data and government expenditure data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT.



Figure 28. Government expenditure on LTC for older people against LTC recipients (65 years and over)

Source: LTC recipient data and government expenditure data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT.

# Additional figures on LTC workforce

Additional figures displaying LTC workforce data as FTE rather than headcounts are provided in Figure 29 and Figure 30.



Figure 29. Number of full-time equivalent formal LTC workers with respect to number of recipients of LTC, institutional settings

Source: LTC recipient data extracted 6 May 2019 on from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT. Formal LTC worker values calculated based on data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT and https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.





Source: LTC recipient 6 2019 data extracted on May from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT. Formal LTC worker values calculated based on data extracted on 6 May 2019 from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=HEALTH\_STAT and https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators.

# **Appendix 4: Quality of care indicators**

Data identified on quality of care indicators for nominated countries are summarised below.

Year	Source	Population	Outcome	Measure	Country	Value
Popula	ation-based e	stimates				
2015	OECD (2017) [50]	People aged >65	No. people with a prescription of	Annual prescription rates	Australia	33.7 per 1000
			antipsychotics (per 1000 people)		Canada	56.5 per 1000
					Denmark	34.6 per 1000
					Netherlands	30.5 per 1000
					New Zealand	47.6 per 1000
					Sweden	29.7 per 1000
					UK	55.7 per 1000
LTC re	cipients					
2012 - 2013	Kuroda et al.'s population -based estimation [268]	LTC beneficiaries aged > 75	Antipsychotic use	1-year prevalence	Japan	3.8%
	tional care	1		1	1	1
2018 (3 <sup>rd</sup> quart er)	CMS.gov MDS report [56]	Residents in LTC (age unclear)	Antipsychotics taken, (excludes taken for schizophrenia, Tourette's or Huntington's)	7-day prevalence	USA	20.06%
2004 - 2005	National Nursing Home Survey [269]	Residents in LTC aged > 60	Antipsychotics taken	1-day + regular medications prevalence	USA	26%
2013 - 2015	ROSA [270]	Residents in LTC (9–12 months after entry into care) aged > 65 or > 50 if ATSI	Antipsychotics dispensed	3-month prevalence	Australia	20.30%
2017 - 2018	CIHI national report <u>[83]</u>	Residents in LTC (age unclear)	Antipsychotics received	7-day prevalence	Canada	26.10%
2008	Swedish Prescribed Drug Register [271]	Residents in LTC aged > 65	Antipsychotics dispensed	3-month prevalence (≥ 1 prescription filled Jul–Sept 2008)	Sweden	20%

 Table 7. Prevalence of antipsychotic use

2009 - 2012	Szczepura et al. (2016) Electronic Medicines Managem ent System [272]	Residents in LTC aged > 65 N = 31,619	Antipsychotics prescribed	Unclear	UK	19%
2013	SHELTER study [190]	Residents in LTC	Antipsychotic use	6-month adjusted prevalence	Netherlands Germany England Czech	0.13 0.36 0.45 0.30
					Republic Finland France Israel Italy	0.21 0.38 0.22 0.34
People	with dement	ia in institution				
2013	Vasudev et al. [273]	Residents in LTC with dementia aged > 65 N = 59,785	Atypical antipsychotics dispensed	3-month prevalence	Canada (Ontario)	34%
2018	PROPER study [185]	Residents in LTC with dementia aged > 62	Antipsychotics prescribed	point prevalence	Netherlands	25%
2009– 2011	SHELTE R study [274]	Residents in LTC with dementia (sample	Atypical and conventional antipsychotic use	3-day prevalence rate	Netherlands	27% (atyp 14%, conv 23%)
		from the SHELTER study)			England	Conv 2%
		<b>,</b> ,			Czech Republic	60% (atyp 35%)
					Israel	18%

Abbreviations: ATSI, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander; atyp, atypical; CIHI, Canadian Institute for Health Information; CMS, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; conv, conventional; PROPER, Prescription Optimization of Psychotropic drugs in Elderly nuRsing home patients with dementia; ROSA, Registry of Senior Australians; SHELTER, Services and Health for Elderly in Long TERm care.

## Table 8. Falls prevalence

Year	Source	Population	Outcome	Measure	Country	Value
Commu	nitv-dwelling	g population				
2013	Canadian Communi ty Health Survey [275]	Community- dwelling seniors aged > 65 (N = 17,290)	Rate of fall-related injuries in the previous year <sup>a</sup>	Rate per 1000 population	Canada	58.8 per 1000
Institutio	onal care			I		
2009– 2011	SHELTE R study	Institutional residents	Unadjusted falls at baseline	Unclear (residents at	England	14.2%
2011	[53]	(England: N = 507, mean		study entry)	Germany	23.2%
		age = 84.5; Germany N =			Netherlands	22.8%
		496, mean age = 84.6;			Czech Republic	26.2%
		Netherlands: N = 548,			Finland	20.9%
		mean age = 81.0)			France	19.3%
		,			Israel	10.3%
					Italy	13.7%
2010– 2011	OECD [32]	Institutional residents (approx. 300 LTC homes)	Number of falls in the last 30 days <sup>a</sup>	30-day falls rate	Canada, Ontario	14%
2017– 2018	CIHI national report [ <u>83]</u>	Residents in LTC (age unclear)	Unadjusted rate of residents in continuing care facilities who have fallen <sup>a</sup>	Quarterly falls rate	Canada	14.5
2018 (3 <sup>rd</sup> quarter )	CMS.gov MDS report [56] ed in data sou	Nursing home residents	Residents with falls during episode of care	Episode of care	USA	17.0%

<sup>a</sup>as described in data source

Abbreviations: OECD, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

#### Table 9. Pressure ulcer prevalence

Year	Source	Population	Outcome	Measure	Country	Value
Home c	are					
2015/ 2016	InterRAI annual report [276]	Aged > 65 years	Pressure ulcer risk scale scores (range 0– 8)	% scoring high to very high (4–8)	New Zealand	6%
Instituti	onal care					
2009-	SHELTE	Older adults	Prevalence of pressure ulcers at study baseline	Unclear	England	10.7%
2011	R study [53]	residing in institutions			Germany	9.7%
					Netherlands	10.8%
					Czech Republic	15.8%
					Finland	4.8%
					France	11.8%
					Israel	6.6%
					Italy	13.3%
2015/ 2016	InterRAI annual report [276]	LTCF residents aged > 65 (N = 33,027)	Pressure ulcer risk scale scores (range 0– 8)	% scoring high to very high (4–8)	New Zealand	10%
2017– 2018	CIHI national report [83]	Residents of residential aged care facilities	Unadjusted rate of new or worsened stage 2 to 4 pressure ulcers <sup>a</sup>	Rolling 4-quarter average	Canada	2.9
2018 (3 <sup>rd</sup> qua rter)	CMS.gov MDS report [56]	Residents of nursing homes (age unclear)	People with ≥ 1 ulcer Stage 1 or higher	Episode of care	USA	6.9%
2011	National prevalen ce survey [277]	National nursing home residents aged > 17 (N = 18,592)	People with pressure ulcer	Point prevalence	Sweden	14.5%

<sup>a</sup>as described in data source

Abbreviations: CIHI, Canadian Institute for Health Information; CMS, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; SHELTER, Services and Health for Elderly in Long TERm care.

Year	Source	Population	Outcome	Measure	Country	Value/s
Populati	on-based	I		I	I	<u> </u>
2007– 2010	SAGE cohort study, Wave 1 [191, 192, 194]	People aged > 50 Mexico N = 2313, Russia N = N/A, South Africa N = 3836	Quality of life	Mean WHOQoL scores	Mexico	51.1
					Russia	49.3
					South Africa	50.5
2011– 2012	COURA GE project [278]	Poland (mean age 44.6 y, N = 2863) Spain (mean age 46.1 y, N = 2256)	Quality of life	Mean WHOQoL- AGE score	Poland	69.9
					Spain	74.4
1993 to 2008	EuroQol Group Szende et al. [193]	Aged > 75 N range 1,307 (Korea) to 41,392 (Argentina)	Health-related Quality of life	EQ-5D-3L index population norms (based on country-specific TTO value sets)	Argentina	0.756
					Denmark	0.794
					France	0.735
					Germany	0.839
					Italy	0.839
					Korea	0.888 (65–74 years)
					Netherlands	0.830
					Spain	0.781
					UK	0.726
					UK-England	0.703
					USA	0.755
2017	Common wealth Survey [ <u>1</u> <u>95]</u>	Aged > 65 N range 500 (NZ) to 7000 (Sweden)	Emotional distress	In the past 2 years, have you experienced emotional distress, such as anxiety or great sadness, which you found difficult to cope with by yourself? (% YES)	Australia	26.6%
					Canada	19%
					Germany	19.5%
					Netherlands	20.3%
					New Zealand	15.6%
					Sweden	10.5%
					Switzerland	15.7%
					UK	19%
					USA	19%

## Table 10. Quality of life and emotional distress

Abbreviations: COURAGE, Collaborative Research on Ageing in Europe; TTO, time trade-off SAGE, Study on global AGEing and adult health; y, years.